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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG
KONG LIMITED (THE “STOCK EXCHANGE”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate
small and mid-sized companies to which a higher investment risk
may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock Exchange.
Prospective investors should be aware of the potential risks of investing
in such companies and should make the decision to invest only after
due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and mid-
sized companies, there is a risk that securities traded on GEM may be
more susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on the
Main Board and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid market
in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange take no
responsibility for the contents of this report, make no representation as to its
accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for
any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the
contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (‘Directors” and each a “Director’) of
CircuTech International Holdings Limited (the “Company’) collectively and
individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance
with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock
Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules’) for the purpose of giving information
with regard to the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group’). The
Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that to the best of their
knowledge and belief the information contained in this report is accurate and
complete in all material respects and not misleading or deceptive, and there are
no other matters the omission of which would make any statement herein or
this report misleading.
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Dear Shareholders,

We are pleased to report that CircuTech International Holdings Limited (the
“Company” and together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”) continued to
generate positive operational and financial results for shareholders of the
Company (the “Shareholders”) for the year ended 31 December 2020 with net
profit of HK$9.0 million, representing a HK$6.5 million increase over last year.
The revenue for the year increased by 12.0% to HK$373.0 million.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Our positive results were attributed to a combination of solid business strategy
and acumen, enhanced operational and execution efficiency, and increase
in product offering and customer base. The Group’s revenue amounted
to approximately HK$373.0 million, representing an approximately 12.0%
increase as compared to that of the year ended 31 December 2019. The
Group recorded an increase in gross profit margin from 7.1% for the year
ended 31 December 2019 to 8.3% for the year ended 31 December 2020
which was mainly due to the increase in demand for smart devices created by
COVID-19 and the Group’s continued efforts in fine-tuning its strategies and re-
evaluating its business model, client and product mix so as to achieve a higher
profit margin in the long run. Profit for the year increased by approximately
HK$6,508,000 to HK$8,997,000.

OUTLOOK

We expect the Group will face keen competition in the IT product distribution
business and the management will closely monitor the IT product distribution
business and may adjust the Group’s business portfolio in a bid to gain better
recurring returns to the Shareholders. This might entail providing repair services
of electronic products for renowned IT brands and their service centres.

As previously reported, we are continuously strengthening our management
team, expanding our international footprint and broadening our customer base
and we anticipate additional fundraising may from time to time be required to
support the working capital expenditure for such business growth. This entails
investment in expanding and revamping overseas organisation structure, and
potential capital expenditures if it is deemed to strategically enhance our
capabilities.
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BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group operates in two business segments, namely, the sales and
distribution of IT products and the provision of repairs and other service
support of IT products.

Sales and distribution of IT products

The core business segment of the Group is sales and distribution of IT
products. It includes distribution of renowned third-party IT products and video
surveillance systems carrying our own brand name.

The third-party IT products are mainly refurbished and end-of-life units that are
distributed through our well-established wholesale network covering the North
America, Asia and Europe. As the global epidemic situation remains severe,
governments and corporates continue to take measures to significantly reduce
the flow of people and social contact in order to stop COVID-19 from further
spreading in the community. Employees are arranged to work from home which
creates a strong demand on smart devices including laptops and tablets.
Hence, the Group recorded a growth in both revenue and gross margin for the
year ended 31 December 2020. The Group also developed its online trade-in
platform and cooperated with a renowned IT brand as its trade-in partner for
certain smart devices. The Group’s advantages to compete against other global
distributors are management’s expertise and proven track record, together with
being a member of the Foxconn Technology Group that has strong business
bond with this renowned IT brand. The Group will continue to manage its tied
up working capital by improving the inventory turnover days and mitigating the
inventory risk, with an aim to shorten the cash conversion cycle.

The sales and distribution of video surveillance systems is highly competitive, in
particular, the Group directly and indirectly competes with large global vendors
in form of pricing, range of services provided and information technology.

During the year, the Group continued to review and re-evaluate its business
model, with an aim to improve efficiency, and achieve a higher profit margin in
the long run. The Group will continue to closely monitor the market situations
and make necessary adjustments to its strategies and operations.

During the year, the Group entered into a framework agreement (which
constitutes a continuing connected transaction) with the Company’s controlling
shareholders for sales of IT products, including but not limited to raw materials
and electronic parts. The Group has completed a pilot run in December 2020
and considered that these sales transactions can broaden the Group’s product
offering and increase its revenue sources.

Annual Report 2020 fF#§ 7
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Provision of repairs and other service support of IT products

The Group provides full range of after sales maintenance for video surveillance
products carrying our own brand name. Smart device applications were also
developed by the Group to provide remote control and monitoring of the video
surveillance products. The Group is currently approaching a number of target
customers and their service centres with an aim to expand its service support
segment through the provision of service support of electronic products in
addition to video surveillance products carrying our own brand name.

During the year, the Group entered into a framework agreement (which
constitutes a continuing connected transaction) with a subsidiary of the
Company’s controlling shareholders for provision of certain repair services for
the fulfillment of customers need. Due to COVID-19, there was delay in the
business plan for the expansion of the repairs and service support segment,
including the set up of new repair centres. The Group will closely monitor the
market situation, assess and react actively to its impacts on planned expansion
of service support business.

Segment information by business line

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the revenue from sales and
distribution of IT products continued to be the largest source of income which
accounted for approximately 99.9% of the revenue. For the year ended 31
December 2020, the Group continued to achieve growth in the segment of
sales and distribution of IT products and the revenue generated from this
segment increased by approximately 12.0% as compared to that of the year
ended 31 December 2019. The revenue from sales and distribution of IT
products consisted of third-party IT products and video surveillance products
carrying our own brand name. The growth in this segment was attributable
to the increase in volume of goods sold driven by expanded range of third-
party branded product offerings and the demand for smart devices created by
COVID-19.
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The repairs and service support revenue was generated from the supporting
services for video surveillance products carrying our own brand name and
sourcing of spare parts of electronic products for target customers, which
included renowned IT brands and their service centres.

8 MESEBERAERALE  CircuTech International Holdings Limited
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Segment information by geographical location
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During the year ended 31 December 2020, Hong Kong, the United States and
Netherlands continued to be the top three markets of the Group in terms of
their respective contribution to the revenue of the Group. Hong Kong market
overtook the United States market and contributed approximately 39.2%
(2019: 22.3%) of the Group’s revenue. The United States market contributed
approximately 30.5% (2019: 41.0%) and the Netherlands market contributed
approximately 25.2% (2019: 27.2%) of the Group’s revenue for the year ended
31 December 2020. The change in the composition of the revenue was due to
the change of product mix driven by the demand and supply of the IT products
in each of the geographical location.

PRODUCT DEVELOPMENT

Building upon the foundation and experience of the management team in
international distribution, the Group has further expanded its consumer
electronics product offering in multi-jurisdictions that are complementary to
its current business offering. The third-party IT products include computers,
communications and consumer electronics (the “3C Products”) which are
refurbished and end-of-life units. Through the Group’s international distribution
channels, the Group extends the 3C Products useful life in the post-sales
circular economy.

The Group also launched several new products, including MS1500L -
Automatic License Plate Recognition IP-based Cameras, Face recognition
terminal with fever and face mask detection IP-based Camera, MS1000 series
— Face recognition camera and certain new cameras to strengthen the Group’s
product portfolio and enhance the Group’s competitiveness in the market. A
unique hacker resistant technology is incorporated into a range of product
which is designed to prevent hackers from extracting confidential video data
from security camera, giving users a peace of mind.

Annual Report 2020 fF#§ 9
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BUSINESS RISK RELATING TO THE GROUP

The Group may not be able to keep up with technological changes in
the video surveillance industry in order to remain competitive

The Group has continuously invested in research and development to develop
updates and new products in order to maintain the Group’s competitive edge
in the market. The performance of the Group depends on the Group’s ability to
develop updates to its existing products and to develop new products, which
in turn is determined by the Group’s research efforts to develop technologies
which keep up with the latest technological trends in the industry and the
Group’s timely recruitment of personnel with the relevant skills. The effect of
emerging and future technological changes in relation to product specifications
to the Group’s research and development plans or the level of technologies is
unpredictable.

In addition, our competitors may develop technologies and products that are
superior to ours in terms of quality and/or price. Failure to respond to the
technological developments and maintain or enhance our competitiveness
within the industry or maintain our customer base may result in decrease in
profit margins and loss of market share, and our financial performance and
profitability may be adversely affected.

The Group’s insurance may be insufficient to cover all losses
associated with its business operations

The Group maintains insurance policies against loss or damage to its office
and business interruption, public liability and employees’ compensation. The
insurance coverage may be insufficient to cover all the risks associated with
the Group’s business and operations in the future. In the case of an uninsured
loss or a loss in excess of insured limit, including those caused by natural
disasters and other events beyond the Group’s control, the Group may be
required to pay for losses, damages and liabilities out of its own funds, which
could materially and adversely affect its business, financial conditions and
results of operations. Even if the insurance coverage is adequate to cover its
direct losses, the Group may need to be responsible for the indirect losses.
Furthermore, claim records of the Group may affect the premiums which
insurance companies charge in the future.

Despite of the above, the Group considers that the current insurance coverage
is sufficient for its existing operation scale and the Group will review its
insurance policies from time to time.

10 MESEBERAERALE  CircuTech International Holdings Limited
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BUSINESS OUTLOOK

Building upon the foundation and experience gained in 2020, the Group
expects to face keen competition in the IT product distribution business and
the management will closely monitor the IT product distribution business and
may adjust the Group’s business portfolio in a bid to increase customer base
and generate better and more stable returns to the Shareholders.

In order to diversify the business portfolio of the Group and to avoid
overconcentration on a single business segment, given the current contribution
of the repairs and service support segment to the overall revenue of the
Group, the Group believes that there is plenty of room for growth of the repairs
and service support segment. Due to the outbreak of COVID-19, there is
certain delay in the business plan for the expansion of the repairs and service
support segment, including the set up of new repair centres. The Group is in
the process of applying certain business licenses and ISO for our new repair
centres. The management will closely monitor the development of COVID-19,
assess and react actively to its impacts on the financial position and operating
results of the Group.

The Group will continuously strengthen the management team, expand the
international footprint and broaden its customer base. The management
anticipates additional fundraising may from time to time be required to
support the working capital expenditure for such business growth. This entails
investment in expanding and revamping overseas organisation structure, and
potential capital expenditures if it is deemed to strategically enhance our
capabilities.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

The Group mainly engages in two business segments, namely, i) sales and
distribution of IT products; and ii) repairs and service support. The Group’s
total revenue amounted to approximately HK$372,959,000 for the year ended
31 December 2020, representing an increase of approximately 12.0% as
compared to that of approximately HK$332,884,000 for the year ended 31
December 2019. The business volume growth was attributable to the increase
in volume of goods sold driven by expanded range of third-party branded
product offerings and the demand for smart devices created by COVID-19.

Cost of sales

A major component of the cost of sales was the cost of inventories. In line
with the increase in business volume, the cost of sales for the year ended 31
December 2020 increased to approximately HK$342,055,000, representing
an increase of approximately 10.6%, as compared to that of approximately
HK$309,201,000 for the year ended 31 December 2019. There was a
net provision of inventories (included in the cost of sales) amounted to
approximately HK$1,478,000 as compared to a reversal of net provision of
approximately HK$51,000 for the year ended 31 December 2019 to account for
the increase in slow-moving inventories.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Gross profit and gross profit margin

Gross profit increased by approximately HK$7,221,000 to approximately
HK$30,904,000 for the year ended 31 December 2020 (2019:
HK$23,683,000), which was in line with the business volume growth. Moreover,
the overall gross profit margin increased from 7.1% for the year ended 31
December 2019 to 8.3% for the year ended 31 December 2020 which was
mainly due to the increase in demand for smart devices created by COVID-19
and the Group’s continued efforts in fine-tuning its strategies and re-evaluating
its business model, client and product mix so as to achieve a higher profit
margin in the long run.

Selling and distribution expenses

Selling and distribution expenses slightly increased to approximately
HK$6,397,000 for the year ended 31 December 2020 (2019: HK$6,079,000).
A major component of the selling and distribution expenses was staff costs,
commissions and warehousing charges.

Administrative expenses

During the year ended 31 December 2020, administrative expenses slightly
increased by approximately HK$565,000 to approximately HK$17,612,000
(2019: HK$17,047,000). It was mainly due to the professional fee incurred
in relation to continuing connected transaction with a subsidiary of the
Company’s controlling shareholders for provision of certain repair services and
the loss on deregistration of a subsidiary.

Net profit for the year

Net profit attributable to the Shareholders increased by approximately
HK$6,508,000 to HK$8,997,000 (2019: HK$2,489,000). Net profit margin for
the year increased to 2.4% (2019: 0.7%) as a result of the increase in revenue,
which had a higher profit margin, and improved operation efficiency. The
Group considers that the increase in profitability is generally in line with and
comparable with the financial figures of the Group for the nine months ended
30 September 2020 as disclosed in the third quarterly report of the Company.

Basic earnings per share increased by over 3 times to HK38.39 cents in 2020,
compared with HK10.62 cents in 2019.

Inventories and trade receivables

As at 31 December 2020, the inventory level slightly increased to approximately
HK$32,256,000 (31 December 2019: HK$30,849,000). The Group will continue
to monitor the inventory level and reduce the inventory risk, with an aim to
shorten the cash conversion cycle.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Inventories and trade receivables (continued)

Trade receivables reduced to approximately HK$824,000 as at 31 December
2020 (31 December 2019: HK$992,000). The Group maintains strict control
on credit line granted to customers. During the year, customers of the Group
maintain good credit history and no material impairment of trade receivables is
recognised.

Key financial performance

The above financial data were chosen to be presented in this annual report
as they represent a material financial impact on the consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the current financial year and/or the previous
financial year, that a change of which could affect the revenue and profit
conspicuously. It is believed that the Group can effectively explain the financial
performance of the Group for the year by presenting the changes of these
financial data.

DIVIDENDS

The Board does not recommend the payment of a dividend for the year ended
31 December 2020 (2019: Nil).

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company does not have a fixed dividend policy. It shall consider, the
following factors before declaring or recommending dividends:

- the general financial condition of the Group;

- the Group’s actual and future operations and liquidity position;

- the Group’s expected working capital requirements and future expansion
plans;

- the Group’s debt to equity ratios and the debt level;

- the restrictions on payment of dividends that may be imposed by the
Group’s lenders (if any);

- the retained earnings and distributable reserves of the Company and
each of the members of the Group;

- the general market conditions; and

- any other factors that the Board deems appropriate.

Declaration of dividend by the Company is also subject to any restrictions

under the Laws of Cayman Islands, the memorandum and articles of
association of the Company and any applicable laws, rules and regulations.
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EMPLOYEE AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As of 31 December 2020, the Group employed 21 (31 December 2019: 24)
full-time employees in Hong Kong and 10 (31 December 2019: 11) full-time
employees in the People’s Republic of China and overseas offices. The staff
costs of the Group, including directors’ emoluments, employees’ salaries
and commissions, retirement benefit scheme contributions and other benefits
amounted to approximately HK$13,719,000 for the year ended 31 December
2020 (2019: HK$13,384,000).

Employees are remunerated in accordance with individual’s responsibility and
performance, also taking into account the prevailing market rates to ensure
competitiveness. Other fringe benefits such as medical insurance, retirement
benefits and discretionary bonus are offered to all employees.

A share option scheme was approved and adopted at the annual general
meeting of the Company on 11 November 2016.

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND
GEARING RATIO

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group financed its daily
operations with internally generated resources and net proceeds from the rights
issue completed on 20 October 2017 (the “Rights Issue”). As at 31 December
2020, the Group had net current assets of approximately HK$122,177,000 (31
December 2019: HK$110,334,000) and cash and cash equivalents amounted
to approximately HK$104,695,000 (31 December 2019: HK$63,021,000). The
Group had no borrowings outstanding as at 31 December 2020.

As at 31 December 2020, the gearing ratio, which is calculating on the basis of
total debts over total equity of the Group, was 33.7% (2019: 13.0%).

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at 31 December 2020, the Company had an authorised share capital of
HK$80,000,000 divided into 400,000,000 shares of a par value of HK$0.20
each, of which 23,433,783 shares were in issue. No convertible securities
options, warrants or similar rights by the Company or its subsidiaries were
outstanding during the year.

The Group did not have any borrowings during the year ended 31 December
2020.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT

The Group did not hold any significant investments during the year ended 31
December 2020.
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MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES AND AFFILIATED COMPANIES

The Group did not make any material acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries
and affiliated companies for the year ended 31 December 2020.

CHARGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 December 2020, a bank deposit of US$4,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$31,220,000) was pledged to a bank for the bank facility
amounting to US$8,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$62,440,000)
granted to the Group (31 December 2019: US$4,000,000 equivalent to
approximately HK$31,220,000). Such bank facility was drawn by the Group to
issue a standby letter of credit to the key supplier of the Group in the financial
year ended 31 December 2020.

FUTURE PLAN FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS OR
CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Use of Proceeds from Rights Issue”
of this report, to continue executing its investment plan of augmenting its
international distribution and fulfiiment capabilities, the Group may, depending
on circumstances and market conditions, consider the need for fundraising
and/or financing from time to time in order to strengthen its human resources,
plant and equipment and working capital. This will enable the Group to not
only serve the distribution and fulfilment requirements of its own products, but
also acquire the capabilities to support strategic third-party business partners
with innovative revenue models with a view to delivering enhanced value to
Shareholders.

In addition, to accelerate the Group’s capabilities to offer innovative revenue
models in relation to IT hardware distribution and fulfilment support, the Board
may contemplate selective strategic investments by means of stock and/or
cash when suitable opportunities arise.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

The Group mainly operates in Hong Kong, Taiwan, US and Europe with most
of the transactions settled in HK$, United States dollars (‘USD”) and Euro. The
Group is exposed to foreign exchange risk from various currencies, primarily
with respect to USD and Euro. The Management has a policy to manage the
foreign exchange risk against the functional currencies of the Group. It mainly
includes managing the foreign exchange risk by performing regular reviews
of the Group’s net foreign exchange exposures and would consider the use
of foreign exchange contracts to manage our foreign exchange risks, where
appropriate. The Group did not enter into any derivative financial instruments
for the year ended 31 December 2020. The Group did not use any financial
instruments for hedging purposes during the year ended 31 December 2020
(2019: Nil).
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CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As of 31 December 2020, the Group did not have any material contingent
liabilities (31 December 2019: Nil).

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM RIGHTS ISSUE

The Group completed the Rights Issue on 20 October 2017 resulting in net
proceeds of approximately HK$98,428,000. With reference to the circular
dated 26 September 2017 and the announcement dated 28 March 2018, the
details of the proposed use of proceeds and the actual use of proceeds are as
follows:—
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service support business in 2021
—E-—F
FFE
BRTEMRZER Development of IT products 73,000 73,000 - N/A
trading business rER
MBIREEIEH DB RIIZE  Strategic investment in the business 17,800 17,800 - N/A
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98,400 93,330 5,070
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As previously disclosed in the announcement dated 28 March 2018, HK$50
million of the proceeds from the Rights issue originally intended for “the
expansion of the repairs and service support business” (Service Support
Business) was reallocated to the “development of IT products trading
business”.

Up to 31 December 2020, an accumulated amount of approximately
HK$2,530,000 has been applied to expand the repairs and service support
business of the Group. Certain oversea entities and offices have been
incorporated and set up. The Group is also strengthening its IT system in
meeting the rapid development of the repairs and service support business of
the Group.

Up to 31 December 2020, the proceeds of HK$73,000,000 for the
development of the Group’s existing IT products trading business were fully
utilised.
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USE OF PROCEEDS FROM RIGHTS ISSUE (continueq)

Up to 31 December 2020, the proceeds of HK$17,800,000 for the strategic
investment in the business segment of “circular economy” were fully utilised.
The Group completed an acquisition of 21% of the issued share capital
of 4Square Return GmbH. 4Square Return GmbH engaged in compliance
consulting, the provision of take back services and value recycling economy
for the electronics industry. The Group considers that such investment would
enable the Group to enhance its exposure in green technology and enhance the
Group’s business profile.

The Directors considered that the net proceeds were applied in accordance
with the intended uses as previously disclosed.

Annual Report 2020 fF#§ 17



ESATHERSRERASHT
PROFILE OF DIRECTORS, COMPANY SECRETARY AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

BITES

HMREE (THEE)) 65 R _F—HERA
—t+—HEBEARTES LEZTAESEE
[BeoREARBRBRETIERMAERAR (MBE)) 1E
TEBEEHEAEKGRARNEEE(PCEBG)Z I
ME TABEZHNBARREREE LE (R A
BATBZEE - HEEBR—NEtNWEE_ST=F
RS AEJER) & £ (Philips group) S AR FEEE > &
ELRATURAETEe 2T 2MB LTt
T AEEREAEBNBUARERKREERELTZ
{iL

et (MFetx)) 58 R _E—RENAT+
HEZFANTES TR _ST_ZTERB+HH
EZEAERRBDITHBAEREARBDERFE KA
BEERESREZRBRERBAFEBEIE B2
R _EE=ZFF T Tt F7E£Foxconn Assembly
LLC.ERKE  a5RNHRFEEHRREBASR
BZHEEERB - BRZIN—ANEtEE_ZZT—F
TEIntoka Software, IncEHEGHEE T EEEH
BHRHGEREEAR BRI ZAR—NAARERE
—AARNEAMMABRERAMRE R —HNt
FEE-NANZFAAEPRRRBEEMEE ML T
R—ANTERBEIEERBEARERTER Lo

BEERLE (BE%E)) TR RE—HLERA
T+ HEZEANTESAREREVMBE - BARS
ETEBERMEABKESA RS X£B(PCEBG)Z B
BRIB-BEER _SERFEZZNEFER—HE
BMREt AR ZIZEHNPETEEBRBE MGk
fEEver-Island Groupz &2 R F&EE LA
ERPEFMNEER A ERET T -BAERA

EENBARBEH 2L E2MURBTEIXARE
SR ITIRELEE .

BRYPKE (T8EE)) IR RIZE—LEFRA
=+ HEZEANTEZ -REN_Z2—_-F5_
E-N\FRIEDERERARDZEEEREEES
EOERBERATDA—BRABNESERZAEHZ
ERPEMABY A LA BEERZZETNE
BT —FARTAES —RBRAEZERESA
B 2EEEEBRATEES R—NAAt&EEZ
TE ) N\FRAEIHEREBEERBITREERIT IS
HeEREEE - R—AN\NEE—NAALtFHE
BEERERZHEELZEHRIEBBTRE WEEER
81 75 B8 RS &2 Household Finance Corporation o 2244
FEmMMNASCR2TREERT BN REEFE
ABEBORIEEEBELT 2

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Hong Sung-Tai GE#23%) (‘Mr. Hong"), age 65 was re-designated as an
executive Director and appointed as the chairman of the Board on 31 May
2019. Mr. Hong is the chief financial officer of New PCEBG, a business group
of Hon Hai Precision Industry Co., Ltd. (“Hon Hai”),, and the supervisor of
HONGFUJIN Precision Industry (Wuhan) Co. Ltd., a subsidiary of Hon Hai.
Mr. Hong was previously a senior financial director in Philips group between
1979 and 2003, where he was responsible for finance and accounting for the
administration division of the aforesaid company in Chungli, Taiwan. Mr. Hong
holds a master’s degree in the Department of EMBA in the National Chengchi
University of Taiwan.

Ms. Chen Ching-Hsuan (Bf#%:8) (“Ms. Chen”), aged 58, was appointed
as an executive Director on 10 June 2016 and the chief executive officer of
the Company, the compliance officer of the Company on 15 May 2020. She
is a senior director of Hon Hai and the Head of its Global Service Solutions
Division. She was previously a manager in Foxconn Assembly LLC. during
2003 and 2007, where she was responsible for cost management for the
Global Service Solutions Division in Houston Site. Ms. Chen worked in Intoka
Software, Inc. as a software developer from 1997 to 2001 where she was
primarily responsible for developing software resources management systems.
Ms. Chen was previously a researcher in the Department of Meteorology in the
University of Utah between 1995 to 1996 and an associate researcher at the
Central Weather Bureau in Taiwan from 1987 to 1992. Ms. Chen obtained a
postgraduate degree in Atmospheric Sciences from National Taiwan University
in 1987.

Mr. Han Chun-Wei (& &) (“Mr. Han”), aged 37, was appointed as an
executive Director and chief financial officer on 31 May 2019. He is the finance
manager of New PCEBG, a business group of Hon Hai. Mr. Han worked in
a managerial grade position in the assurance department of an international
accounting firm from 2006 to 2008. He was previously the finance manager of
Ever-Island Group, where he was responsible for finance and accounting work
of the abovementioned company in Suzhou and Dongguan, China. Mr. Han
holds a bachelor’s degree in accounting from National Chengchi University
in Taiwan and a master’s degree in financial engineering from the Chinese
University of Hong Kong.

Mr. Tsai Biing-Hann (238) (‘Mr. Tsai’), aged 59, was appointed as an
executive Director on 31 May 2019. He was the group chief operating officer
of Noah Holdings Limited, a leading Chinese private wealth management firm
listed on the New York Stock Exchange, from 2012 to 2018. Prior to that, Mr.
Tsai was the chief operating officer and executive vice president of Yuanta
Securities, a top securities firm in Taiwan, from 2008 to 2011 and the North
Asia chief operating officer of RBS&ABN AMRO from 1997 to 2008. Between
1989 and 1997, Mr. Tsai worked for leading financial institutions such as
American Express Financial Advisors and Household Finance Corporation in
the United States. Mr. Tsai holds a master's degree in chemical engineering
from University of Southern California and a master’s degree in business
administration from University of lllinois at Urbana-Champaign in the United
States.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Kao Chao Yang (F&¥) (‘Mr. Kao”), age 52, was appointed as an non-
executive Director on 31 May 2019. He has over 22 years of experience in
the electronic, manufacturing and information technology industry. Mr. Kao
is currently an executive director of Maxnerva Technology Services Limited
(Stock code: 1037), the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange. He has been the vice-president of Foxconn Technology Group
since 2015. Mr. Kao currently oversees the Foxconn Global Operations of New
PCEBG, which is both a key business and strategic division responsible for
driving initiatives across several significant areas of manufacturing and supply
chain management (fulfillment and reverse logistic services). Prior to that, Mr.
Kao held various duties within Foxconn Group including start-up manufacturing
sites, directing supply chain operations, business account management with
global customer presence and administering information technology initiatives
across China, US, Czech Republic and Mexico. Mr. Kao obtained a Master of
Science in industrial & operations engineering from the University of Michigan
in the United States of America and a Bachelor of Science in industrial design
from Cheng-Kung University in Taiwan.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Yeung Wai Hung Peter (15f£2%f) (‘Mr. Yeung”), aged 63, was appointed
as an independent non-executive Director on 10 June 2016. He was
independent non-executive director of The Hong Kong Building and Loan
Agency Limited (stock code: 0145), a company listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange, from February 2011 to June 2018. Mr. Yeung holds a
bachelor of laws degree from the University of London and a postgraduate
certificate in laws from the University of Hong Kong. He is a solicitor of the High
Court of Hong Kong. Mr. Yeung has been a practicing solicitor for over 30 years
and a partner of Messrs Hau, Lau, Li & Yeung, Solicitors & Notaries. Mr. Yeung
is currently also an independent non-executive director of Chinese Food and
Beverage Group Limited (stock code: 8272), a company listed on GEM.

Mr. Li, Robin Kit Ling ¥ 2) (‘Mr. Li"), aged 62, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 1 December 2017. Mr. Li holds a
degree of Bachelor of Commerce from the University of British Columbia,
Canada and a degree of Master of Business Administration from the University
of Strathclyde, Scotland. Mr. Li is a member of the Chartered Professional
Accountants of British Columbia. Mr. Li has extensive experience in accounting
He had held senior positions in accounting and
finance in large corporations and multinationals, including Towona Media
Holding Company Limited, News Corporation Limited, Pepsi-Cola International,
and Apple Computer International Limited. Mr. Li also worked as a lecturer in
several accounting programmes of HKU School of Professional and Continuing
Education, and a part-time lecturer at FTMS Training Systems (HK) Ltd for the
preparatory ACCA examination courses.

and financial management.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

(continued)

Mr. Miao Benny Hua-ben (E ZE &) (‘Mr. Miao”), aged 46, was appointed as
an independent non-executive Director on 27 June 2016. He is currently the
managing director and Head of Corporate Finance at the Hong Kong Branch of
Cathay United Bank and is responsible for its international investment banking
business. Mr. Miao was formerly a Senior Portfolio Manager with the Dutch
pension asset manager APG Asset Management Asia and was responsible
for originating, structuring and executing direct and fund investments in Asia-
Pacific. Prior to that, Mr. Miao was an investment director with the China-
ASEAN Fund where he was involved in originating, structuring and executing
direct private equity investments in the ASEAN region. He also worked
previously as a Vice President at Citigroup within its Investment Banking and
Fixed Income divisions in New York, Australia and Hong Kong. Mr. Miao has
a Bachelor of Science degree in Finance from California State Polytechnic
University — Pomona, and an MBA from Pennsylvania State University. He is
also a Chartered Financial Analyst.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Tam Hoi Kwong (GBElY¢) (‘Mr. Tam”), aged 33, is the financial controller
of the Group since May 2017. He is primarily responsible for financial reporting,
financial control matters, and corporate secretarial matters of the Group.
Mr. Tam has more than 10 years of experience in accounting and auditing fields
in Hong Kong since 2010. Prior to joining the Group, he worked in a managerial
grade position in the assurance department of an international accounting firm.
Mr. Tam obtained a Bachelor's Degree in Commerce from University of New
South Wales, Australia, in August 2010. He is a member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants since April 2014.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Ho Ka Ho (fIR %) (‘Mr. Ho"), aged 49, is the chief executive officer of
the video surveillance business line. Mr. Ho has over 26 years of experience
in computer architecture, software engineering and digital signal processing.
Mr. Ho obtained his bachelor of engineering degree in computer engineering
with first class honours and master of science degree in electronic engineering
from the City University of Hong Kong.
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The Directors submit their report together with the audited consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2020.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND GEOGRAPHICAL
ANALYSIS OF OPERATIONS

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The activities of the
subsidiaries are set out in Note 11 to the consolidated financial statements.

An analysis of the Group’s performance for the year ended 31 December
2020 by operating segments is set out in Note 5 to the consolidated financial
statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2020 are set out in
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income on page 60.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend for the year ended
31 December 2020.

DONATIONS

Charitable and other donations made by the Group during the year ended 31
December 2020 amounted to HK$59,500 (2019: HK$73,000).

SHARES ISSUED IN THE YEAR

No shares were issued in the year ended 31 December 2020. Reference is
made to Note 22 to the consolidated financial statements.

EQUITY LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Share Option Scheme”, no equity-
linked agreements were entered into by the Company at any time during the
year ended 31 December 2020 or subsisted at the end of the year.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Distributable reserves of the Company at 31 December 2020 comprise of share
premium, and accumulated loss in aggregate amounted to HK$111,263,000
(2019: HK$114,435,000) provided that, after distribution, the Company will be
able to pay its debts as they fall due in its ordinary course of business.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s articles
of association, or the laws of the Cayman Islands, which would oblige the
Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing Shareholders.
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the
last five financial years is set out on page 156 of the annual report.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
SECURITIES

The Company has not redeemed any of its shares during the year. Neither
the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased or sold any of the
Company’s shares during the year.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted a share option scheme in the annual general meeting
held on 11 November 2016. The purpose of the share option scheme is to
attract and retain the best available personnel, to provide additional incentive
to employees (full-time and part-time), directors, consultants, advisers,
distributors, contractors, suppliers, agents, customers, business partners and
service providers of the Group and to promote the success of the business of
the Group.

The Board may, at its absolute discretion and on such terms as it may think
fit, grant any employee (full-time or part-time), director, consultant or adviser
of the Group, or any substantial shareholder of the Group, or any distributor,
contractor, supplier, agent, customer, business partner or service provider of
the Group, options to subscribe for such number of shares as it may determine
in accordance with the terms of the share option scheme.

The subscription price of a share in respect of any particular option granted
under the share option scheme shall be a price solely determined by the Board
and notified to a participant and shall be at least the higher of: (i) the closing
price of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on
the date of grant of the option, which must be a business day; (i) the average
closing prices of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations
sheets for the five business days immediately preceding the date of grant of the
option; or (iii) the nominal value of a Share on the date of grant of the option.

The total number of shares issued and to be issued upon the exercise of
options granted to any participant (including both exercised and outstanding
options) under the share option scheme, in any 12-month period up to the date
of grant shall not exceed 1% of the shares in issue. Any further grant of options
in excess of such limit must be separately approved by Shareholders in general
meeting with such grantee and his close associates (or his associates if such
grantee is a connected person) abstaining from voting.

An offer for the grant if options must be accepted within seven days, inclusive
of the day on which such offer was made. The amount payable by the grantee
of an option to the Company on acceptance of an offer for the grant of
option(s) is HK$1.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

The share option scheme does not specify a minimum period for which an
option must be held. An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms
of the share option scheme at any time during a period as the Board may
determine which shall not exceed ten years from the date of grant subject to
the provisions of early termination thereof. The share option scheme will remain
in force for a period of ten years commencing on the date of its adoption on 11
November 2016 and will expire at the close of business on 10 November 2026.
Under the said scheme and following the share consolidation, the maximum
number of shares of the Company that may be issued upon the exercise of
options that may be granted is 1,673,841 shares, representing approximately
7.1% of the issued share capital of the Company as at the date of this report.
Details of the share option scheme of the Company are set out in Note 25 to
the consolidated financial statements. No share options were granted under the
share option scheme since its adoption.

DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the year ended 31 December 2020 and
up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Hong Sung-Tai (Chairman)

Ms. Chen Ching-Hsuan (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Han Chun-Wei (Chief Financial Officer)

Mr. Tsai Biing-Hann

Non-executive Director
Mr. Kao Chao Yang
Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Yeung Wai Hung Peter
Mr. Li Robin Kit Ling
Mr. Miao Benny Hua-ben

Mr. Tsai Biing-Hann (“Mr. Tsai”) resigned as the chief executive officer of
the Company (the “Chief Executive Officer”), the compliance officer of the
Company (the “Compliance Officer”), a member of each of the remuneration
committee of the Company (the “Remuneration Committee”) and the
nomination committee of the Company (the “Nomination Committee”) and
an authorised representative of the Company under the GEM Listing Rules
(the “Authorised Representative”) with effect from 15 May 2020. After
his resignation from the abovementioned positions, Mr. Tsai remains as an
executive Director.

Ms. Chen Ching-Hsuan, an executive Director, has been appointed as the
Chief Executive Officer, the Compliance Officer, a member of each of the
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee and the Authorised
Representative.
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DIRECTORS (continued)

In accordance with Article 87(1) of the articles of association of the Company,
Mr. Hong Sung-Tai, Mr. Yeung Wai Hung Peter and Mr. Miao Benny Hua-ben
will retire from office by rotation. They, being eligible, offer themselves for re-
election pursuant to Article 87(2) of the articles of association of the Company.

DIRECTORS’ LETTERS OF APPOINTMENT

All the Directors have entered into letters of appointment with the Company
for an initial term of one year and should continue thereafter unless and until
terminated by either party by giving to the other not less than three months’
notice in writing.

DIRECTOR’S SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors being proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting has a service contract with the Company which
is not determinable by the Company within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ MATERIAL INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS AND
CONTRACTS THAT ARE SIGNIFICANT IN
RELATION TO THE COMPANY’S BUSINESS

Other than the related party transaction disclosed in Note 33(b) to the
consolidated financial statements, no transactions, arrangements and contracts
of significance in relation to the Group’s business to which the Group was a
party and in which a Director of the Company or an entity connected with a
Director of the Company had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the year or at anytime during the year.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time for the year ended 31 December 2020 was the Company, its holding
company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable
the Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or
debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate and none of the
Directors, their spouses or children under the age of eighteen, had any rights
to subscribe for securities of the Company, or had exercised any such rights
during the year.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Brief biographical details of Directors and senior management are set out on
page 18 to 20 of this report.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS IN SHARES

As of 31 December 2020, none of the Directors, and chief executives of the
Company is interested in or has short positions in any shares, underlying
shares or debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter
571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (“SFO”)) which were required under Divisions
7 and 8 of the SFO (including interests and short positions which they were
taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO) to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange, or which were recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under section 352 of the SFO, or which
were required under Rule 5.46 of the GEM Listing Rules to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS
AND/OR SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

Long position in Shares as at 31 December 2020

AT

e HE#E BEITRAE

KRRETE 5% ZRHEE B (8 4)

Percentage

of the issued

share capital

Number of of the

shares held/ Company

Name of Shareholders Capacity interested (approximate)

Foxconn (Far East) Limited Beneficial owner 11,853,524 50.58%
BmEAA

Hon Hai Precision Industry Co., Ltd. Interest in a controlled corporation 11,853,524 50.58%

EEEBILERHBRAR RGN EE D
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Foxconn (Far East) Limited is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Hon Hai Precision Industry Co.,
Ltd. (the “Hon Hai”), a company incorporated in Taiwan and listed on the Taiwan Stock
Exchange (stock code: 2317.TW). Hon Hai is deemed to be interested in the shares of the
Company held by Foxconn (Far East) Limited under the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2020, the Company had not been
notified by any other persons (other than a Director or chief executive of the
Company) who had interests or short positions in the shares and the underlying
shares of the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV
of the SFO, or which were recorded in the register required to be kept under
section 336 of the SFO.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole
or any substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into or
existed during the year.

MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

The percentages of purchases and sales for the year attributable to the Group’s
major suppliers and customers are as follows:

Purchases
— the largest supplier 40.9%
— five largest suppliers in aggregate 99.1%
Sales
- the largest customer 20.4%
— five largest customers in aggregate 71.4%

None of the Directors, their close associates or any Shareholder (which to the
knowledge of the Directors, who owns more than 5% of the Company’s share
capital) had an interest in these major suppliers or customers.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Service Framework Agreement

On 14 January 2020, the Company entered into a service framework
agreement (the “Service Framework Agreement”) with Fuhongjie Technology
Service Limited Company (the “Fuhongjie”, an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Hon Hai). As at this report date, Hon Hai is a controlling
shareholder of the Company indirectly holding 50.58% of the issued shares of
the Company.

Pursuant to the Service Framework Agreement, Fuhongjie agreed to provide
maintenance and value-added services for mobile phone, mobile phone display,
and Bluetooth earpieces, including checking, maintenance, assembly, testing
and packaging to the Group (the “Services Transactions”) for a term of three
financial years ending 31 December 2020, 2021 and 2022. The annual caps of
the Services Framework Agreement (the “Service Caps”) for the financial years
from 31 December 2020, 2021 and 2022 are HK$55,000,000, HK$61,000,000
and HK$67,000,000, respectively.

Based on the applicable size tests performed with respect to the Service Caps
under the Service Framework Agreement, as all of the applicable percentage
ratios in respect of the Services Caps are higher than 5% and more than
HK$10,000,000 on an annual basis, the Service Transactions are subject to
the reporting, annual review, announcement and Independent Shareholders’
approval requirements under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules. As a result,
an extraordinary general meeting was convened on 3 March 2020 where the
independent Shareholders approved the Service Framework Agreement.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

(continued)
Sale Framework Agreement

On 3 July 2020, the Company entered into a sale framework agreement (the
“Sale Framework Agreement”) with Hon Hai.

Pursuant to the Sale Framework Agreement, the Group may sell IT products,
including but not limited to raw materials and electronic parts, to Hon Hai and
its subsidiaries and associates (the “Hon Hai Group”), and Hon Hai Group
may purchase the IT products from the Group (the “Sale Transactions”) for
a term of three financial years ending 31 December 2020, 2021 and 2022.
The annual caps of the Sale Framework Agreement (the “Sale Caps”) for the
financial years from 31 December 2020, 2021 and 2022 are HK$8,900,000,
HK$9,400,000 and HK$9,800,000, respectively.

Based on the applicable size tests performed with respect to the Sale Caps
under the Sale Framework Agreement, as the highest applicable percentage
ratio in respect of the Sale Caps are more than 5% but less than 25% and
the Sale Caps are less than HK$10,000,000 on an annual basis, the Sale
Transaction is only subject to the reporting, annual review and announcement
requirements but is exempt from the independent Shareholders’ approval
requirement under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

The Continuing Connected Transactions for the reporting year

The annual caps and actual transaction amount for the Group’s continuing
connected transactions with Fuhongjie and Hon Hai Group during the reporting
year are set out in the table below. All the actual transaction amount of the
Group’s continuing connected transaction did not exceed the respective annual
caps.

—EIERF —ETHE
FE LR ERRZEHE
Actual

Transaction

Annual Caps Amount for

for 2020 2020
FET FAET
HK$'000 HK$'000
BB B 5 With Fuhongjie

—HERTS — Repair services 55,000 -
(Note 1)
(Ht&E1)

BRI EE With Hon Hai Group
—HE - Sales 8,900 21
(Note 2)
(Htat2)
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

The Continuing Connected Transactions for the reporting year
(continued)

Note 1:

Due to COVID-19, there was delay in the business plan for the expansion of the above repair
and spare parts fulfilment business. The Group will closely monitor the market situation,
assess and react actively to its impacts on planned expansion of service support business.

Note 2:

The Group has completed a pilot run in December 2020 and considered that these sales
transactions can broaden the Group’s product offering and increase its revenue sources.

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed and confirmed that all
the continuing connected transactions taken place during the reporting year
were (i) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the group; (ii) on normal
commercial terms or better; and (iii) in according with the relevant agreements
governing the same on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests
of the company’s shareholders as a whole. Moreover, the Company’s auditor
has provided an unqualified letter to the Board containing their findings and
conclusions in respect of the continuing connected transactions taken place
during the reporting year in accordance with Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing
Rules. A copy of the auditor’s letter has been provided by the Company to the
Stock Exchange.

Save as disclosed above, none of the related party transactions as disclosed
in Note 33 to the consolidated financial statements constituted connected
transaction or continuing connected transaction under the Listing Rules.
The Directors confirm that the Company has complied with the disclosure
requirements in accordance with Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

SIGNIFICANT CONTRACTS

There was no contract of significance between the Company or one of
its subsidiaries on one hand, and a controlling shareholder or any of its
subsidiaries on the other, subsisting during or for the year ended 31 December
2020. There was also no other contract of significance for the provision of
services to the Company or any of its subsidiaries by a controlling shareholder
or any of its subsidiaries during or at the end of the same period.
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CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive
Directors an annual confirmation of his/her independence pursuant to Rule 5.09
of the GEM Listing Rules, with reference to confirmation which, the Company
considers all the independent non-executive Directors to be independent.

EMOLUMENT POLICY FOR DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The emoluments of the Directors and senior management of the Company are
reviewed by the Remuneration Committee, having regard to the Company’s
operating results, individual performance and comparable market statistics.

COMPETING BUSINESS

For the year ended 31 December 2020, none of the Directors, controlling
shareholder or their respective close associates (as defined in the GEM Listing
Rules) has any interests in a business that competes or may compete either
directly or indirectly with the business of the Group.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the Directors, it is confirmed that there is sufficient public
float of at least 25% of the Company’s issued shares at the date of this annual
report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Principal corporate governance practices as adopted by the Company are set
out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 32 to 44.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

A permitted indemnity provision (as defined in section 469 of the Companies
Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong)) for the benefit of the
existing directors of the Company is currently in force and was in force
throughout this year.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group is committed to the long term sustainability of the environment and
communities in which it operates. Green initiatives and measures including
recycling of resources, energy saving and eco-friendly management practice,
have been adopted in the daily operation of the Group. As a responsible
corporation, to the best knowledge of the Directors, the Group has complied
with all relevant laws and regulations regarding environmental protection for the
year ended 31 December 2020.
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COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

The Group recognises the importance of compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements and the risk of non-compliance with such requirements.
The Group conducts on-going reviews of newly enacted/revised laws and
regulations affecting its operations. The Company is not aware of any non-
compliance in any material respect with the relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the business and operation of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2020.

RELATIONSHIP WITH EMPLOYEES, SUPPLIERS,
CUSTOMERS AND OTHER STAKEHOLDERS

The Group understands that the success of the Group’s business depends
on the support from its key stakeholders, including employees, customers,
suppliers, banks, regulators and shareholders. The Group will continue to
ensure effective communication and maintain good relationship with each of its
key stakeholders.

EVENT OCCURRING AFTER THE REPORTING
PERIOD

Change of address of principal share registrar and transfer office in
the Cayman Islands

With effect from 1 March 2021, the address of Suntera (Cayman) Limited, the
Cayman lIslands principal share registrar and transfer office of the Company
has been changed to Suite 3204, Unit 2A, Block 3, Building D, P.O. Box 1586,
Gardenia Court, Camana Bay, Grand Cayman, KY1-1100, Cayman Islands.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2020 is set
out in the Chairman’s Statement and Management Discussion and Analysis
on page 5 and page 7 respectively of this annual report. A description of the
principal risks and uncertainties facing by the Group can be found in Note
3 to the consolidated financial statements. An analysis using financial key
performance indicators can be found in the Management Discussion and
Analysis on pages 7 to 17 of this annual report.
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AUDITORS

PricewaterhouseCoopers (“PwC”) resigned as the auditor of the Company
with effect from 5 July 2019. BDO Limited (‘BDO”) was appointed as the
auditor of the Company with effect from 5 July 2019 to fill the casual vacancy
following the resignation of PwC. The appointment of BDO was approved by
the Shareholders in the annual general meeting on 8 May 2020.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2020 have been audited by BDO who will retire and, being eligible, will offer
themselves for re-appointment in the forthcoming annual general meeting.

On behalf of the Board

Mr. Hong Sung-Tai
Chairman

Hong Kong, 25 March 2021
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The Board of Directors is pleased to present this Corporate Governance Report
for the year ended 31 December 2020.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is responsible for the overall leadership of the Group, overseeing the
Group‘s strategic decisions and monitoring the business and performance of
the Group. The Board has delegated the authority and responsibility for day-to-
day management and operation of the Group to the chief executive officer and
senior management of the Group.

As of the date of this report, the Board comprises of 8 Directors, consisting
of 4 executive Directors, 1 non-executive Director and 3 independent non-
executive Directors, whose names, roles and functions are listed below:

Executive Directors

Mr. Hong Sung-Tai
(chairman of the Board and member of Remuneration Committee)
Ms. Chen Ching-Hsuan
(Chief Executive Officer, member of Remuneration Committee and
Nomination Committee)
Mr. Han Chun-Wei (Chief Financial Officer)
Mr. Tsai Biing-Hann

Non-executive Director
Mr. Kao Chao Yang
Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Yeung Wai Hung Peter
(chairman of Remuneration Committee, member of Audit Committee and
Nomination Committee)

Mr. Li Robin Kit Ling
(chairman of Audit Committee, member of Nomination Committee and
Remuneration Committee)

Mr. Miao Benny Hua-ben
(chairman of Nomination Committee, member of Audit Committee and
Remuneration Committee)

In compliance with code provision A.2.1, the roles of chairman and chief
executive officer are separate and performed by different persons to ensure
balance of power and authority. An updated list of Directors is published on the
websites of the Company and GEM. The independent non-executive Directors
are expressly identified in all corporate communication pursuant to Code
Provision A.3.1. of Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules.

In compliance with Rule 5.05(1) and (2) of the GEM Listing Rules, the Company
has appointed three independent non-executive Directors and at least one
of them possesses the appropriate professional qualifications or accounting
or related financial management expertise. The independent non-executive
Directors are invited to serve on various committees of the Company as
detailed above.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Nomination and Board Diversity

The Nomination Committee is primarily responsible for identifying and
nominating, for approval by the Board, suitably qualified candidates to become
members of the Board as additional directors or to fill casual vacancies.

The Nomination Committee identifies candidates for directorship from
various channels, including but not limited to internal promotion, referral by
management and external recruitment agents. The Nomination Committee
may also receive nomination of candidates for election as Director(s) from
shareholder(s).

After the candidates are identified, the Nomination Committee will consider the
biographical information of the candidates and evaluate the candidates based
on certain criteria and make recommendation to the Board accordingly.

A range of factors are taken into consideration to identify a suitably qualified
candidate. These include:-

- character and integrity of the candidate;

- educational background, qualifications (including professional
qualifications), knowledge and experience of the candidate which are
relevant to the business and operation of the Group;

- time commitment of the candidate to the Group, taking into consideration
the other duties of the candidates; and

- the board diversity policy of the Company.

The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of having a diverse Board
to the quality of its performance. The board diversity policy is put into place
aiming to set out some guidelines for the composition of the Board in order
to achieve diversity in the Board. The Company aims to have a diverse Board
composition measurable by objective criteria, including gender, age, length of
service in the Group, educational background and professional qualifications.
Given the nature of the business of the Group, the Company considers that
it is beneficial for the Board to have some members with experience and
qualification in the information technology industry, in addition to members with
financial and legal qualification.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

As at the date of this report, the Board’s composition under major diversified
perspectives was summarised as follows:

EEEHNES I
Board Diversity

BIUFFPITES

Independent Non-Executive Director

IFRTES
NED

1451

Gender

FierHR|

Age Group 31-40

41-50

it

Female

ARFSEBR (£F)
Length of Service (Year)

HEAR

Educational background

Postgraduate Undergraduate

, 7%
Professional Industry

FRABREBBELNEF A EBHARBEHE
REBENERGEZEEFENESZTIL-ZEES
EHERERGEAZERRAETHEESFHZ
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BECERBELALSERNEERREFAE LR
BERE-REFEERLBEERBEAQTEBZEZM
BIE87 (2R BEEL

RIRB LA EREFERESTURBGEBILEER
HEALREZBIME RLEEGTEQNEFER
ELMEETEERBESRE-

TRl

Financial

ITEEf

IT Hardware

The Company will continue to use its best efforts to maintain a diverse Board
measurable by objectives which are appropriate to the needs of the Company’s
business. Appointment to the Board will be based on merit and contribution
a candidate may bring to the Board, having due regards for the benefits of
diversity on the Board.

The current Directors (including independent non-executive Directors) are
appointed for an initial of one year. Please refer to the paragraph headed
“Directors’ Letters of Appointment” of the Directors’ Report for more details
on the service contracts/letters of appointment of Directors who served the
Company during the year ended 31 December 2020.

In accordance with Article 87(1) of the articles of association of the Company,
Mr. Hong Sung-Tai, Mr. Yeung Wai Hung Peter and Mr. Miao Benny Hua-ben
will retire from office by rotation at the forthcoming annual general meeting.
They, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election pursuant to Article
87(2) of the articles of association of the Company.

The Nomination Committee has also recommended to the Board that the
above-mentioned Directors are eligible for re-election, upon evaluating the
respective Director against the selection criteria mentioned above and the
independence of Mr. Yeung Wai Hung Peter and Mr. Miao Benny Hua-ben.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Board Meetings, Committee Meetings and General Meetings

The Board has held regular meetings at approximately bimonthly intervals with
participation by a majority of Directors.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, 5 Board meetings, 4 Audit
Committee meetings, 2 Remuneration Committee meetings and 2 Nomination
Committee meetings were held. The attendance record of each Director at
meetings of the Board and various committees and at general meetings during

E E D
S G the period are set out below:
HEER, FARE
Attendance/Number of meeting
RRBE 5%g BKEEE HWNZEge R4ZEE
- g= & g3 g5
Annual Audit Remuneration  Nomination
general Board Committee = Committee = Committee
meeting meeting meeting meeting meeting
HiTES Executive Directors
HRTRE (FE) Mr. Hong Sung-Tai (Chairman) 11 5/5 N/A 2/2 N/A
B A
MEFRR T (TTHAEHR) Ms. Chen Ching-Hsuan 11 5/5 N/A 2/2 2/2
(Chief Executive Officer) EA
BERLE BEYFE) Mr. Han Chun-Wei 11 5/5 N/A N/A N/A
(Chief Financial Officer) TER TEH AiE A
ZRHRE Mr. Tsai Biing-Hann 1/1 5/5 N/A N/A N/A
AR TEA A
FRTES Non-executive Director
BRERE Mr. Kao Chao Yang 0/1 0/5 N/A N/A N/A
AEH E A i A
BiUFRITES Independent Non-executive Directors
BRIELE GHNESEEE) Mr. Yeung Wai Hung Peter 11 5/5 4/4 2/2 2/2
(Chairman of Remuneration Committee)
FRELE BREZEEEE) Mr. Li Robin Kit Ling 11 5/5 4/4 2/2 2/2
(Chairman of Audit Committee)
HELLE BEZE52FE) Mr. Miao Benny Hua-ben 0 5/5 4/4 2/2 2/2

(Chairman of Nomination Committee)

@‘.‘ﬂf‘%%ﬁf? %%E ED%DE&\«% ?-Zﬁnﬂﬁ’jfﬁﬁ
EREHSEENEREANSEREER-

FABZEBERMAHEREMRE 2REENH
EERMEFARFEAMHBAREEERANEZRH
RRERZL A AGREEAR -

Minutes of Board meetings are kept by the company secretary and opened for
inspection at any reasonable time on reasonable notice by the Directors.

The Company'’s articles of association contain provisions requiring Directors to
abstain from voting and not to be counted towards the quorum at meetings for
the purposes of approving transactions in which such Directors or any of their
associates have a material interest.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Directors’ induction, continuous training and professional
development

The Company has organised an induction for newly appointed Directors in
order to ensure that they have a proper understanding of the Company’s
operations and business and basic knowledge on insider dealings and
responsibilities of directors pursuant to the GEM Listing Rules and other
applicable laws in Hong Kong.

Our Directors have participated in continuous professional development
by attending training courses or reading relevant materials on the topics
related to corporate governance and regulations, roles, functions, duties and
responsibilities of directors as well as the latest amendments to the GEM
Listing Rules.

FEFEERIEY

Type of continuous professional

- Directors development programmes
HIA RS Mr. Hong Sung-Tai B
EREEE Mr. Tsai Biing-Hann B
[EF- ke Ms. Chen Ching-Hsuan B
BERKLE Mr. Han Chun-Wei B
= RFESLE Mr. Kao Chao Yang B
EEBRE Mr. Li Robin Kit Ling B
YRS g Mr. Yeung Wai Hung Peter A B
mERSLE Mr. Miao Benny Hua-ben B
Byt Notes:
A HEMREBEREERENMTT MBI EH A attending seminars/forums/workshops/conferences relevant to the business or
& directors’ duties
B HEHREFENRTER B: reading regulatory updates
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To assist the Board in discharging its duties, the Board is supported by three
Board committees, namely the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee
and the Nomination Committee. The terms of reference for the abovementioned
committees are published on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

The Board and senior management of the Company commit to achieve a high
standard of corporate governance, to formulate good corporate governance
practice for improvement of accountability and transparency in operations and
to strengthen the internal control and risk management systems from time to
time so as to protect the rights of the shareholders and enhance shareholder
value. During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Company has complied
with the required code provisions set out in the Corporate Governance Code
contained in Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee has adopted written terms of reference in compliance
with Code Provision C.3.3. of the Corporate Governance Code as set out in
Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, members of the Audit Committee
were Mr. Li Robin Kit Ling (chairman), Mr. Yeung Wai Hung Peter and Mr.
Miao Benny Hua-ben, all of them are independent non-executive Directors.
At the discretion of the Audit Committee, executive Directors and/or senior
management personnel overseeing the Group’s finance may be invited to
attend meetings. The Audit Committee normally meets four times a year and
also meets the external auditors twice without the presence of the executive
Directors.

The duties of the Audit Committee include, among other things, reviewing and
monitoring the financial and internal control aspects, risk management system,
audit plan and relationship with external auditors, arrangements to enable
employees of the Company to raise, in confidence, concerns about possible
improprieties in financial reporting, and internal control or other matters of
the Company. The Audit Committee reviews the truth and fairness of the
Company’s financial statements, annual report, interim report and quarterly
reports, discusses with the external auditors the nature and scope of audit
before the audit commences as well as the findings and recommendations
raised by the auditors during and after completion of the audit. The Audit
Committee conducts an assessment, at least annually, of the effectiveness of
the Group’s internal controls and financial controls system, risk management
system, scope of work and appointment of external auditors and arrangements
for employees to raise concerns about possible improprieties. This allows
the Board to monitor the Group’s overall financial position and to protect its
assets. The chairman of the Audit Committee summarises activities of the Audit
Committee, highlights issues arising therefrom, and provides recommendations
for reporting to the Board after each meeting.

The external auditors performs independent statutory audit on the Group’s
financial statements and as part of the audit engagement, reports to the Audit
Committee any significant deficiencies (if any) in the Group’s internal control
system which might come to their attention during the course of audit.

The quarterly, interim and annual results of the financial year of 2020, including
the consolidated statement of financial position, consolidated statement of
comprehensive income and consolidated statement of changes in equity
and related notes thereto for the year ended 31 December 2020 have been
reviewed by the Audit Committee.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee has adopted written terms of reference in
compliance with Code Provision B.1.2 of the Corporate Governance Code as
set out in Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, members of the Remuneration
Committee were Mr. Yeung Wai Hung Peter (chairman), Mr. Li Robin Kit Ling,
Mr. Miao Benny Hua-ben (each an independent non-executive Director), Mr.
Hong Sung-Tai, Ms. Chen Ching-Hsuan (each an executive Director) and
Mr. Tsai Biing-Hann (an executive Director and resigned as a member of
Remuneration Committee on 15 May 2020). The Remuneration Committee held
two meetings during the reporting period and was responsible for formulating
and making recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy and
structure for the remuneration of the Directors and senior management,
assessing performance of the executive Directors, approving the terms of letter
of appointment of executive Directors, and on the establishment of a formal
and transparent procedure for developing policy on such remuneration.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee has adopted written terms of reference in
compliance with Code Provision A.5.2. of the Corporate Governance Code as
set out in Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules. The primary duties of the
Nomination Committee are to implement the Group’s board diversity policy
by reviewing the composition of the Board, identifying suitable candidates for
the appointment and re-election of Directors, assessing the independence of
independent non-executive Directors and monitoring the succession planning
of Directors.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, members of the Nomination
Committee were Mr. Miao Benny Hua-ben (chairman), Mr. Yeung Wai Hung
Peter, Mr. Li Robin Kit Ling (each an independent non-executive Director),
Ms. Chen Ching-Hsuan (an executive Director) and Mr. Tsai Biing-Hann (an
executive director and resigned as a member of Nomination Committee on 15
May 2020). The Nomination Committee held two meetings during the reporting
period and was responsible for evaluating and making recommendations for the
re-election of directors at the annual general meeting held on 8 May 2020 and
identifying suitably qualified candidates to become members of the Board.
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DEALINGS IN SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding securities transactions
by Directors on terms no less exacting than the required standard of dealings
set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules. Upon the Company’s
specific enquiry, each of the Directors (including former Directors who acted as
Director during the reporting period) has confirmed that during his/her tenure as
Director for the year ended 31 December 2020, he/she had fully complied with
the required standard of dealings and there was no event of non-compliance.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out in Code Provision
D.3.1. of the Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix 15 to the
GEM Listing Rules.

The Board reviewed the Company’s corporate governance policies and
practices, continuous professional development of Directors, the Company’s
policies and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements,
the compliance of the GEM Listing Rules, and the Company’s compliance with
the Corporate Governance Code of the GEM Listing Rules and disclosure in the
Corporate Governance Report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has overall responsibility for the design, implementation, monitor
and review of the Group’s internal control system including the internal control
and risk management for the Company to ensure their effectiveness and
efficiency. The objective of internal control is to safeguard the Company’s
assets and ensure its accounting records are properly maintained, so that
all the financial information is accurate and reliable. The Group has adopted
a series of internal control policies and procedures designed to provide
reasonable assurance for achieving the objectives including effective and
efficient operations, reliable financial reporting and compliance with applicable
laws and regulations. All employees are committed to continually enhancing
the risk management measures to ensure that these measures work in line
with the growth of the Group’s business strategies and integrated into day-to-
day operation of the business. The Board shall at least annually review its risk
management and internal control system.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

(continued)

The objective of the risk management and internal control of the Group include:

establishing and constantly improving the risk management and internal
control system;

o ensuring the Group’s risk management and internal control in compliance
with the GEM Listing Rules requirements;

o implementing the top-down approach and bottom-up approach that
covers every aspect of the business; and

o managing rather than eliminating the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance
against material misstatement or loss.

In order to continually improve the Group’s internal control and risk
management system, the Group has established an ongoing process for
identifying, evaluating and managing the significant risks faced by the Group.
The key procedures that the Group has established and implemented are
summarised as follows:

o segregating duties and functions of the respective operational
departments of the Group;

o reviewing systems and procedures to identify, measure, manage and
control risks; and

o updating the staff handbook, internal control manual and compliance
manual where there are changes to business environment or regulatory
guidelines.

The Board, by the top-down approach, has a particular focus on determining
the nature and extent of significant risks it is willing to take in achieving the
business strategies of the Group.

Each department of the Group is responsible for identifying its own risks
and designing, implementing and monitoring the relevant risk management
and internal control systems. The process involves the maintenance of staff
handbook, internal control manual and compliance manual setting out the
particulars of material risks together with the control measures as reported by
significant departments of the Group. This bottom-up approach is integrated
into day-to-day operation and complements the top-down strategic view by
identifying the principal risks and ensuring the significant risks to be considered
by the Board in determining the risk appetite and the adequacy of resources,
staff qualifications and experience, training programmes and budget of the
Company’s accounting and financial reporting function.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

(continued)

The diagram below summarises the complementary top-down and bottom-
up aspects of the integrated approach of the Group to risk management and
internal control.
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The Board has conducted a review of the effectiveness of the internal control
system during the year under review, based on the advice received from a firm
of Certified Public Accountants and the Audit Committee. The review covered
the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal control system
including financial, operational and compliance controls for the financial year.

The Board has conducted a review of the effectiveness of the risk management
and internal control system of the Group through discussion with the Audit
Committee on major findings and control issues. The Board considers that
the Group has implemented appropriate procedures safeguarding the Group’s
assets and ensure its accounting records are properly maintained and in
compliance of the relevant laws and regulations. In addition, the Board also
considered the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and experience,
training programmes and budget of the Group’s accounting and financial
reporting function.
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HANDLING AND DISSEMINATION OF INSIDE
INFORMATION

The Company has established and maintained the procedures and internal
controls for the handling and dissemination inside information. The Company
has adopted a code of conduct for dealing in securities of the Company by
the Directors in accordance with Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules.
Other employees of the Group who are likely to be in possession of inside
information of the Company are also subject to dealing restrictions. The Group
has strictly prohibited unauthorised use of confidential or inside information
or any use of such information for the advantage of himself or others. Any
inside information and any information which may potentially constitute inside
information is promptly identified, assessed and escalated to the Board and for
the Board to decide on the need for disclosure. Inside information and other
information which is required to be disclosed pursuant to the GEM Listing Rules
will be announced on the respective websites of GEM and the Company in due
course.

DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS INSURANCE

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Company has arranged
insurance cover in respect of legal action against its Directors and officers.

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY
IN RESPECT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Board is responsible for presenting a balanced, clear and understandable
assessment of annual, half-yearly and quarterly reports, other inside information
announcements and other financial disclosures required under the GEM Listing
Rules and other statutory requirements.

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities in preparing the consolidated
financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2020.
The Directors are responsible for overseeing the preparation of financial
statements of the Company with a view to ensure that such financial
statements reflect a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company.
The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern. Therefore, the Directors continue to adopt the
going concern approach in preparing the consolidated financial statements.

The auditors of the Company acknowledge their reporting responsibilities in the
independent auditors’ report on the consolidated financial statements for the
reporting period.
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AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 December 2020, BDO was engaged as the Group’s
independent auditors. Apart from the provision of annual audit services, BDO
also provided the non-audit services including interim review services to the
Company.

The remuneration paid/payable to BDO, the auditors, is set out below:

o
HK$
BIZIRH Audit services 600,000
IFEIZARTS Non-audit services
—BRZPEHRBEER - carrying out review on interim financial information 100,000
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

To safeguard shareholders’ interests and rights, a separate resolution is
proposed for each substantially separate issue at general meetings, including
the re-election of individual Directors. Save as provided under the GEM Listing
Rules, resolutions put to vote at the general meetings of the Company (other
than purely administrative and procedural matters) are taken by poll and poll
results are posted on the respective websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange after the general meetings. Notice of the general meetings, annual/
interim/quarterly reports and circulars have been sent to shareholders in
compliance with the requirements of the GEM Listing Rules.

Convening an extraordinary general meeting

Pursuant to Article 58 of the articles of association of the Company,
extraordinary general meetings of the Company shall be convened on the
requisition of any one or more shareholders holding at the date of deposit of
the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company
and carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the Company, and such
meeting shall be held within two months after the deposit of such requisition. If
within 21 days of such deposit the Company fails to proceed to convene such
meeting, the requisitionist(s) may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable
expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board
shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS (continued)

Putting enquiries to the Board

To ensure effective communication between the Board and the shareholders,
the Company has adopted a shareholders’ communication policy (the “Policy”)
whereby the Company’s information shall be communicated to shareholders
mainly through general meetings, including annual general meetings, the
Company’s financial reports (annual, interim and quarterly reports), and its
corporate communications and other corporate publications on the websites
of the Stock Exchange and the Company. Shareholders may at any time make
a request for the Company’s information to the extent that such information is
publicly available. Any such questions shall be first directed to the company
secretary at the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong at 31/F,
Tower Two, Times Square, 1 Matheson Street, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong. The
company secretary shall forward enquiries and concerns received to the Board
and/or its committee to, where appropriate, answer the same.

Putting forward proposals at general meetings

The number of shareholders necessary for putting forward a proposal at a
general meeting shall be any number of shareholders representing not less than
one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at
general meetings on the date of the request.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company believes that maintaining a high level of transparency is a key
to enhancing investor relations. It is committed to a policy of open and timely
disclosure of corporate information to its shareholders and investing public.
The Company updates its shareholders on its latest business developments
and financial performance through its annual, interim and quarterly reports. The
corporate website of the Company has provided an effective communication
platform to the public and the shareholders.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, there had been no significant
changes in the Company’s constitutional documents.
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The Company is pleased to present this report in accordance with the
Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide (the “ESG Guide”)
published by the Stock Exchange. The report describes the Company’s policies
in 2020 that were designed to fulfill the Company’s obligations with respect to
sustainable development and social responsibilities areas, as required by the
ESG Guide. Moreover, the ESG report is available at http://www.circutech.com.

ENVIRONMENT

Emissions

The Group is engaged in the businesses of design, marketing, repairs and other
service support of IT products. The operations of the Group by itself do not
have significant impact to the environment but the outsource manufacturing
and the IT products do generate hazardous waste and the Group is not subject
to any environmental laws and regulations that have a significant impact on
the Group. However, the Group takes steps to closely monitor and manage the
environmental effect of all operations.

The Group aims to reduce energy consumption and carbon emissions and
operate in less harmful ways to the environment. The Group constantly
incorporates green principles into each project, for example the environmental
harmfulness and the capacity of energy — saving of materials and equipment
used during the selection of suppliers. Furthermore, at the Group’s offices,
the indoor temperature and the running time of air-conditioning system are
controlled to reduce energy consumption and carbon emissions.

The main type of energy consumption of the Group is electricity, which was
indirect emissions resulting from generation of purchased electricity.

The Hong Kong Offices
Indirect emission of CO2: 22.02 tonnes
Use of Resources

Due to the Group’s business nature, the energy, power and water utilisation
of the Group’s offices do not rely heavily on energy consumption nor water
resources. The Group is committed to building an environmentally friendly
working atmosphere that conserves natural resources. The Group strives to
minimise environmental impact by saving electricity, encouraging recycling of
office supplies and using environmentally friendly equipment and tools in its
operations.
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ENVIRONMENT (continued)

Use of Resources (continued)

The air-conditioning system are maintaining at 25 degrees Celsius and also set
with timer so that they will be automatically switched off during non-office hour.
For office consumables consumption management, the Group encourages
its employees to handle documents electronically. When the use of paper is
required, only formal and confidential documents can use single-sided printing,
other documents are required to use double-sided printing. In addition, we
have installed video-conference system to reduce business travels and increase
communication efficiency.

The Hong Kong Offices

Indirect energy consumption: electricity 55,057 kWh

The water consumption in the Hong Kong Offices is minimal.
Environment and Natural Resources

The Group values environmentally friendly operation and minimises the impact
on the environment and natural resources. The Group sets out the environment
and resource management procedures and adopts the “reduce, reuse and
recycle” policy to reduce paper consumption.

Reduce: encourages staff to read electronic files instead of print out documents
or print on both sides to create a paperless office.

Reuse: installs boxes next to printers and photocopying machines to collect
used one-side printed papers, encourages employees to use these papers for
draft print out. Reuses paper boxes for storage purpose.

Recycle: used ink and toner cartridge of printers and photocopying machines
are collected for recycling. Other than saving paper measures, we also uses
KHAN-NA paper, a unique model of sustainable fiber, which mitigates global
warming.

Due to the nature of our business, the Group does not directly generate
industrial pollutants and is not aware of any significant generation of hazardous
waste. For the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group is not aware of
any material non-compliance issues in respect of any applicable laws and
regulations on environmental protection relating to air, greenhouse gas
emissions, discharges into water and land, generation of hazardous and non-
hazardous waste.
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SOCIAL

Employment and Labour Practices
Employment

Employees are regarded as the most important and valuable assets and
core competitive advantage of the Group. They also provide driving force for
the continuous innovation of the Group. The Group rewards and recognises
performing staff by providing a competitive remuneration package and
implementing a sound performance appraisal system with appropriate
incentives. The Group also promotes career development and progression
by appropriate training and provides opportunities for career advancement.
Also, in order to provide a good and fair working environment and safeguard
the well-being of the employees, the Group seriously considers all valuable
opinions from employees for enhancing workplace productivity and harmony
which can help the Group to build a united and harmonious professional team.

The Group places high regard to the compliance of relevant laws and
regulations in the jurisdictions in which it operates, and the relevant
administrative rules and measures are strictly enforced. These rules and
regulations specify the requirements relating to employment, labour relations,
employees’ remuneration and welfare to protect the rights of employees.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group is not aware of any non-
compliance with the laws, regulations and policies relating to employment
and labour practices that have a significant impact on the Group. The Group
contributes to social insurances, housing fund and mandatory provident fund in
a timely manner for all the staff.

As at 31 December 2020, the Group employed 31 full time staff in total, and
the combination of the gender and age group of the staff are as follows:
Category Number of Employees

Male: 25
Female: 6

Gender

Over 18-30: 5
31-40: 5
41-50: 11
51-60: 4
Over 61: 6

Age Group

Geographic location Hong Kong: 21

Overseas: 10
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SOCIAL (continued)

Employment and Labour Practices (continued)
Employment (continued)

The following table shows the employee turnover rate by gender and age
group:
Category Percentage of Employees

Male: 12%
Female: 33%

Gender

Over 18-30: 40%
31-40: 40%
41-50: 25%
51-60: —

Over 61: -

Age Group

Geographic location Hong Kong: 14%

Overseas: 20%
Health and Safety

The Group follows the guidelines from the Hong Kong Labour’s Department
to set up the occupational health and safety measures of the Hong Kong
offices. In addition, workshops and guidance are provided to staff to improve
their awareness on workplace safety. There were no work-related fatalities and
reported lost days due to work related injuries during the year. During the year
ended 31 December 2020, the Group is not aware of any non-compliance
with the relevant health and safety laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the Group.

Development and Training

The Group provides training programmes for staff professional development,
so that the employees are better equipped and increasing efficiency which are
favourable to the long-term development of the Group. Training programmes
are classified into two types according to the target and purpose: internal
training and external training. In the Hong Kong offices, the Company organises
team building activities and workshops. The Group also supports staff training
programmes by granting time and reimbursement.
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SOCIAL (continued)

Percentage of employees trained by gender and employee category
Category Percentage of Employees

Male: 81%
Female: 19%

Gender

General staff: 22%
Senior management: 9%

Employee Category

The number of training hours per employee by gender and employee category

Number of training hours per
Category Employee
Male: 13.8 hours
Female: 24 hours

Gender

General staff: 5.6 hours
Senior management: 19.9 hours

Employee Category

In daily operations, the Group provides induction training for new employees.
Experienced employees will act as mentors to guide the new comers on jobs.
Such arrangements can enhance the communication and team spirit, also
improve their technical skills and managerial capability and encourage the
learning and further development of the employees at all levels. The Group
arranges designated training courses according to the roles and responsibilities
of the employees, which mainly include human resource management,
managerial skills, legal affairs, risk management, project running, financial
and auditing, technical research and development, environmental protection,
occupational health and safety etc.. The Group also updates the latest
information of the industry and laws and regulations which are essential to the
Group’s operation and their job responsibilities from time to time.

Labour Standards

The Group’s recruitment management system measures clearly on the staff
requirement. Review and verification of applicant’s identity information are
required during the recruitment process, and recruitment of child labour
and forced labour is strictly prohibited. Applicant is also required to provide
document proofs of academic qualifications and working experience
for verifications and applicant who is suspected to have false academic
qualifications and working experience will not be employed. The Group
provides its staff a safe, healthy, comfortable working environment with labour
protection, reasonable remuneration and various welfare. The Group enters into
employment contracts with each of its employees in accordance with relevant
laws and regulations in the PRC and Hong Kong.
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SOCIAL (continued)

Operating Practices
Supply Chain Management

The Group values the partnership with suppliers and works together to promote
sustainable development of the industry. The Group has been continuously
optimising and improving the supplier management system, regulating the
access, supervision, evaluation and departure of suppliers, and constantly
increasing specialisation and transparency of supply chain management.
The evaluation of a supplier mainly includes background, qualification (for
example, holding necessary licenses to provide such services), quality control
of service, financial status, past performance in similar service, fulfiment of
contract, professionalism of project team, operation in good integrity and
social responsibility. Whether the supplier is qualified is determined based on
the evaluation results, and those suppliers who fail to meet the requirements
will ultimately be disqualified. The Group values communication with suppliers,
including continuous communication with suppliers in routine work and
establishing strategic cooperation with suppliers through technical support
and unique competitive advantage that can achieve a win-win situation and
strengthen the cooperation with each other. The largest supplier and the five
largest suppliers accounted for 42% and 98%, respectively of the Group’s total
purchases for the year. Over 95% of the purchases are from oversea suppliers.

Product Responsibility

The Group aims to achieve the highest possible standard with all the services
provided. The Group has established relevant policies which cover service
quality guarantee, safety, fair advertising and after-sale services in order to
ensure that relevant measures comply with the laws and regulations.

The Group pays close attention to the quality and safety of its products and
services. In 2020, the Group did not receive any complaints or requests to
terminate relationship due to poor quality and safety. If a complaint should
arise, the Group will immediately assess the complaint and conduct an internal
investigation into the matter to identify the source of the issue. The Group has
close connection with customers. If customers are not satisfied with the quality
and safety of the services, the Group will arrange sufficient channels and staff
to support customers’ communication and provide solutions to the problems as
soon as possible.
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SOCIAL (continued)

Operating Practices (continued)
Product Responsibility (continued)

The routine work of the Group always involves the intellectual property rights
of customers, suppliers and the Group, therefore protection of intellectual
property rights is extremely important. The Group adds protective clauses
to the contracts entered into with customers and suppliers to safeguard
intellectual property rights. The Group also reviews every operational contract
to ensure that the contract safeguards the intellectual property rights of the
parties. Furthermore, the Group also requests technical specialists to sign
confidentiality agreements. The Group also complies with relevant data privacy
legislations. All confidential data of customers can only be accessed by the
staff who are responsible the projects for of relevant clients.

With respect to fair advertising, the Group requires the employees of the
sales department to provide customers with accurate and true information on
the Group’s products and services. Hotline and e-mail are also available for
customers’ enquiries on service details in order to provide better before and
after sale services.

Anti-corruption

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group is not aware of any
non-compliance with local and national legislations on standards of conduct,
such as with the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance in Hong Kong and relevant
legislations on bribery extortion, fraud, money laundering in Hong Kong and in
other jurisdictions.

The Group requires employees to strictly conform to code of business ethics
as stipulated in the employment contracts. Cases of conflict of interest must
be reported to the Group’s management. Employees who engage in business
operations and represent the Company’s professional image are strictly
prohibited from using business opportunities for personal interest or benefit.

Public tendering will be made for any project in larger sum where at least
three suppliers are invited for tender. Service contracts in different amount are

required to be examined and approved by different management.

During the year, there is no legal case regarding corrupt practices brought
against the Group or its employees.

Annual Report 2020 fF#§ 51



RIB-HERERERS

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

HE e
HE
HEREREH

FEBBHERNAEEMELENEERNE T —
BEHRUHBHEFZIBHE  RHBERFHERM-

FEBBEAE—EEFTFINHERETR %
RitgHENZ2HE - BRETENTEEHENS
B R EBBEETAEEMEHENARFEERS
REATE-

REETTREBZEE T HEBMRE UERE
it BIATFRERERE TRESHERIRERM
B R AEREEEE.

RAEFE AEEOD-—BEHESSFLENR BX
AREEPNERERHEIREXR EREHNERE
B 2RESGUBRBZBRERBEESEMA EF)
AR BESFEEERE TEERHE KK

AZBZBE - MINCOVID- 19 HELRLEMN
P B LER AREENRRENN R ERE
ETTREE BORSTREBRBMBE

SOCIAL (continued)

Community
Community Investment and Involvement

The Group always seeks to be a positive force in the communities in which it
operates and maintains close ties with the communities in order to contribute
to local development.

The Group believes that the creation of a beautiful and peaceful community
depends on the cooperation of people, corporations and society as a whole.
By working together with various community partners, the Group believes
that it can bring a tremendous impact on the sustainable development of the
communities in which it operates.

The Group will also actively encourage staff to devote their time and skills to
benefit local communities. It gives employees the opportunities to find out more
about the issues of society and the environment and reinforce the Group's
corporate values.

During the year, the Group donated to a Dutch based foundation with an aim
to create sustainable sport opportunities to children in need. Through sport
games, skills and values such as respect, resilience, working together and
coping with loss are learned by the participants.

In 2020, due to the COVID-19 pandemic, schools in Hong Kong are closed and
switched to online classes. The Group has donated certain number of tablets to
children in need so they can learn at home and continue their studies.
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To the Shareholders of
CircuTech International Holdings Limited
(incorporated in Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of CircuTech
International Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together
the “Group”) set out on pages 60 to 155, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2020, and the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2020,
and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (‘HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the “Auditor’'s Responsibilities for the
Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements” section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s “Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants” (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of
the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key Audit Matter

Valuation of derivative financial instruments in relation to the
associate

Refer to Notes 3.3, 4(c) and 17 to the consolidated financial statements

On 19 July 2018, the Group acquired 21% equity interest of 4Square
Return GmbH ("4Square”) and the Group was entitled to a call option
to acquire the remaining equity interest of 4Square in 2023 and a buy-
back option that entitled the other shareholders of 4Square to buy-back
21% equity interest in 4Square from the Group if the Group does not
exercise the call option within three months after call option expires (the
“Acquisition”).

The total cost of the investment in 4Square was HK$14,508,000. In return,
the Group is entitled to 21% of equity interest in 4Square and a call option
and buy-back option at the date of the acquisition.

The Group recognised the investment in 4Square as an associate
amounted to HK$6,569,000 and the call option and buy-back option at
a fair value of HK$7,939,000 as derivative financial instruments in the
consolidated statement of financial position at the date of acquisition.

Management performed the assessment of the fair value of the call option
and buy-back option at year end based on an independent valuation report
prepared by an external valuer.

We identified this matter as a key audit matter because of the significance
management judgement used in the fair value of the options at year end
including the revenue growth rate of the associate and the discount rate.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Valuation of derivative financial instruments in relation to the
associate (continued)

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
Our response:

Our procedures in relation to valuation of derivative financial instruments for the
associate.

- We read the sale and purchase agreement of the Acquisition to
understand the details of the transaction, including the consideration, the
conditions of completion, the rights and obligations of the Group.

- We checked the terms of the call option and buy-back option in relation
to the investment in the associate to the relevant supporting documents,
including the sale and purchase agreement and shareholder agreement.

- We evaluated the competence, capabilities and objectivity of the
independent external valuer.

- We assessed the appropriateness of the valuation methodology and the
underlying assumptions adopted by management in determining the fair
value of the call option and buy-back option with the involvement of our
in house valuation expert.

- We evaluated the key assumptions used based on our understanding

of the business of the associate and by comparing the market available
data.

Annual Report 2020 fF#§ 55



BB EERS
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

FHRAVEMESR

EFAHEMEEEE -HMERSSE BRARFER
ANER > BFBEGEEHMBREREFMOZHMR

==
= °©

BRABGEMBERENERLETREEMER > KA
TAHZEEMESEXREMTANERER -

EeRMANESMHTRENES RANEETERE
HthER ElBRER ZEEMEERERGGH
BREAARMPESSBEPRTHENBREFEEKX
BENEUFEFEERERRANBER - EREME
PITHIE NRRMDAEMESFEERHERR
MmoEMAFERSZEE -EEE HMARBEM
HEe

EFEMGESMBRERARKENSE

EXZREERBEEBEAMAERMBNEBMFTR
SEAREBARDKRINKERERBEBEEMT S
NGRS BRE THARRREESHHREINOE
BAFEHNRFNERMERNERERRAFT
BHABEFRES-

EREFEVHERERF EFa5NE EEEFE
KENEN TEBRBER TREAFTEES AR
FE UAERAFBECESSHER KRIFEFAR
B BEEFHEIFLEECE AHEAEMERNER
sl

o

e

EFTRAEEEE SEENMBREBE -BZE
EEWMEFETILIENEE-

56

OTHER INFORMATION IN THE ANNUAL REPORT

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information
comprises the information included in the Company’s annual report, but does
not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal
control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible
for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis
of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are also responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting
process. The Audit Committee assists the directors in discharging their
responsibility in this regard.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with the terms of our engagement, and for no other purpose. We
do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for
the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error
individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

and are considered material if,

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

o identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

o obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control.

o evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by
the directors.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(continued)

o conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’'s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.

o evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

o obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during
our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to
communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably
be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken
to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(continued)

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those
matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our
report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

BDO Limited

Certified Public Accountants

Pak Tak Lun

Practising Certificate number: P06170

Hong Kong, 25 March 2021
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

BE+-A=+—HL=EE
For the year ended
31 December

—EZEHE —E-NEF
2020 2019
ok FET FET
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
A Revenue ) 372,959 332,884
THE AR Cost of sales (342,055) (309,201)
EH Gross profit 30,904 23,683
Hinlg A Other income 6 5,018 3,860
THE R DA A Selling and distribution costs (6,397) (6,079)
THER Administrative expenses (17,612) (17,047)
MERERSZEH Research and development expenditures (1,628) (1,589)
ERAEEEARZ EG Share of net profit of an associate accounted for
—REEE A B AR using the equity method 12 726 625
B 75 B A Finance costs 10 (46) (74)
bR P15 12 A i ) Profit before income tax 10,965 3,379
FTi8MEX< Income tax expenses 13 (1,968) (890)
EEEF Profit for the year 8,997 2,489
AEEHMEEUE - Other comprehensive income for the year:
HBEOEEN7EFZERZIEH Item that may be reclassified subsequently to
profit or loss
MBI EBEEZERERE Exchange differences on translation of
foreign operations 2,591 (697)
T EEN S EEEm 2B Item that will not be reclassified to profit or loss
FEHMEEmBREATE Changes in the fair value of equity investments at
FEZRGEEZ AT EE fair value through other comprehensive income (54) 19
2,537 678)
rEEEEUELEEE Total comprehensive income for the year 11,534 1,811
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FAEEEWER

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

HE+ZA=+—ALEE
For the year ended
31 December

- Jot <3~ —E-NF
2020 2019
bt FET FET
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
HTWATEGRFERF : Profit for the year attributable to:
- VACIEZZ= DN — Owners of the Company 8,997 2,489
—FE R - Non-controlling interests = =
8,997 2,489
BT ATEGEREE Total comprehensive income for the year
S EUWEAREE - attributable to:
—RRBEE A — Owners of the Company 11,512 1,815
—JFPER - Non-controlling interests 22 (4)
11,534 1,811
AABEE ANEHEREF] Earnings per share attributable to owners of
(A the Company (HK cents per share)
—EARKEE — Basic and diluted 14 38.39 10.62

bR 2 E W e P B B N I S — R AE o

The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income should be read in

conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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LEMBRRER
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

B+ZB=+—H
As at 31 December
—EZEHE —E-NEF
2020 2019
ok FET FET
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
BE Assets
ERBEE Non-current assets
ME--BEREZE Property, plant and equipment 15(a) 3,643 5,809
FREEE Right-of-use assets 15(b) 1,055 732
R—EHE B Z# Interest in an associate 12 7,378 6,741
TEERMIA Derivative financial instruments 17 9,917 8,247
ZREMEEWRDRATE Financial asset at fair value through
TEZERMEE other comprehensive income 18 1,457 1,511
23,450 23,040
RENEE Current assets
78 Inventories 20 32,256 30,849
JRE U B 7R B EL Ath FE WL =R Trade and other receivables 19 2,647 2,555
ZREIIRITER Restricted bank deposits 32 31,220 31,220
BEMIREEEY Cash and cash equivalents 21 104,695 63,021
________________________ 170,818 127,645
WEE Total assets 194,268 150,685
@ Equity
&N Share capital 22 4,687 4,687
HhEE Other reserves 23 198,015 195,621
REtE1E Accumulated losses 24 (57,451) (66,448)
NABEE ANELZER KRB Capital and reserves attributable to owners of
the Company 145,251 133,860
JEPERG e = Non-controlling interests - (495)
Wi Total equity 145,251 133,365
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mEMBIAR
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

®W+=ZB=+—8H
As at 31 December
—ECEF —E-hE
2020 2019
Hiat FET FET
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
af& Liabilities
mREAE Current liabilities
FET BR A R EL i FE 1T 7% Trade and other payables 26 46,142 16,347
HESR& Lease liabilities 27 721 758
aHEE Contract liabilities 24 26
FEIIRIB Tax payables 1,754 180
48,641 17,311
mEERREBAE Total assets less current liabilities 145,627 133,374
JEREEE Non-current liabilities
HESR& Lease liabilities 27 376 9
FER=R Total liabilities 49,017 17,320
EmkaBEERE Total equity and liabilities 194,268 150,685
AR S B RS AR T R FE S BB B B 5 — (R A o The above consolidated statement of financial position should be read in

conjunction with the accompanying notes.

FOE0EIS5BEZ M BRERELEETFN S —F The consolidated financial statements on pages 60 to 155 were approved by
SEZt+HEHZE THTIINEERRESGES the Board of Directors on 25 March 2021 and were signed on its behalf.

HIRFREE BERKE
Mr. Hong Sung-Tai Mr. Han Chun-Wei
BE EBE
Director Director
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
HEZZE+ZA=+—HILEE
For the year ended 31 December 2020

BAAFERAES
Attributable to owners of the Company
i Hitfk e BB By FERER R
Non-
Share Other Accumulated controlling
capital reserves losses Total interests Total
(Hizt22) (Hiz#23) (Wyzto4)
(Note 22) (Note 23) (Note 24)
FET FET FET FET FET FET
HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000
RZE—NE—B—H At 1 January 2019 4,687 196,295 (68,937) 132,045 (491) 131,554
KEERR Profit for the year = = 2,489 2,489 = 2,489
Hitzma - Other comprehensive income:
BERNEBEL  BERER Exchange differences on translation of
foreign operations - (693) - (693) (4) (697)
EREMEZARREATE Changes in the fair value of equity
FlEZERRBEZ ATEEEY investments at fair value through
other comprehensive income - 19 - 19 - 19
EEKELE Total comprehensive income - (674) 2,489 1,815 (4) 1,811
RIB-NE+-B=+t-Bk At 31 December 2019 and
“Z"F&F-F—-H 1 January 2020 4,687 195,621 (66,448) 133,860 (495) 133,365
KEERF Profit for the year - - 8,997 8,997 - 8,997
Et2mbs . Other comprehensive income:
HEBNEBELECERER Exchange differences on translation of
foreign operations - 2,569 - 2,569 22 2,591
FREMEZANERATE Changes in the fair value of equity
SlEz BRREZ ATEE investments at fair value through
other comprehensive income - (54) - (54) - (54)
_éiﬁ_ll&_ﬁ*ﬁ%?;%_i ___________ Total comprehensive income - 2,515 8,997 11,512 22 11,534
FHE-ERB AT Deregistration of a subsidiary £ (121) - (121) 473 352
RZEZFFE+ZA=1+—-H At 31 December 2020 4,687 198,015 (57,451) 145,251 - 145,251

iR SRR S B R PR BABERT MY SE — BFRE o The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read in

conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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CDNSDL|DFITED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

HE+ZA=+—ALEE
For the year ended
31 December

2020 2019
ok FET FET
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
REEBZEZRERE Cash flows from operating activities
KREEBES FTA) R Cash generated from/(used in) operations 30 42,793 (6,532)
BUlH & Interest received 378 635
BTSN Income taxes paid (568) (1,785)
REEBEE S TR 2 Net cash generated from/(used in)
 ReFw operating activities 42,603 (7,682)
REEBZZRERE Cash flows from investing activities
ME- BB REHEMLR Payments for property, plant and equipment (222) (23)
HEME -BEREZEZ Proceeds from sale of property, plant and
Frig =18 equipment 30 - 3
fﬁ_‘%%ﬁ‘%f}iﬁﬁ?_@_@_%_@ﬁ_ ______ Net cash used in investing activities (222) (20)
MEEBEZHERE Cash flows from financing activities
BEEHEaEZEAEEHY Repayment of principal portion of
the lease liabilities (1,068) (1,363)
EEREaGZHNEID Repayment of interest portion of
the lease liabilities (46) (74)
%E_‘%%ﬁ‘%fﬁ_ﬁﬁ_z_f_ﬁ_%_%_gﬁ_ ______ Net cash used in financing activities 31 (1,114) (1,437)
ReRRSSEYLM Net increase/(decrease) in cash and
CRiZb) #%58 cash equivalents 41,267 (9,139)
RENZRERREEEY Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 63,021 72,369
EXEHHIBE RIREE[EY) 2 Effects on exchange rates changes on cash and
mE cash equivalents 407 (209)
REXRZHERRSEEY Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 21 104,695 63,021
PR EIR TR E R AE LB M —HFRIE o The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction

with the accompanying notes.
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GENERAL INFORMATION

CircuTech International Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) is principally engaged in the sales
and distribution of IT products, and the provision of repairs and other
service support of IT products.

The Company is a limited liability company incorporated in the Cayman
Islands. The address of its registered office is Cricket Square, Hutchins
Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman Islands.

The Company has its primary listing on GEM of the Stock Exchange.

These consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars (“HK$"), unless otherwise stated.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

This note provides a list of the significant accounting policies adopted
in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements. These
policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless
otherwise stated. These consolidated financial statements are for the
Group consisting of CircuTech International Holdings Limited and its
subsidiaries.

2.1 Basis of preparation
(i) Statement of compliance

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with all Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”)
and Interpretations (hereinafter collectively referred to
as the “HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. In
addition, these consolidated financial statements include
applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

(i)

Basis of measurement

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on a historical cost basis, except for certain financial assets
(including derivative instruments and financial asset at fair
value through other comprehensive income) measured at fair
value.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
HKFRSs requires the use of certain critical accounting
estimates. It also requires management to exercise its
judgement in the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement
or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates
are significant to the consolidated financial statements, are
disclosed in Note 4.

2.2 Changes in accounting policies and disclosures

(a)

New and amended standards and interpretations as
adopted by the Group

The HKICPA has issued a number of new or amended
HKFRSs that are first effective for the current accounting
period of the Group:

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business

Amendments to HKFRS 7,
HKFRS 9 and HKAS 39

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform

Amendments to HKAS 1
and HKAS 8

Definition of Material

The adoption of the above amendments did not have any
significant impact on the Group’s results and financial
position for the current or prior periods. The Group has not
early applied any new or amended HKFRSs that is not yet
effective for the current accounting period.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies and disclosures (continued)

(b)

MESEBERAERALE  CircuTech International Holdings Limited

New or amended HKFRSs that have been issued but
are not yet effective

The following new or amended HKFRSs, potentially relevant
to the Group’s financial statements, have been issued, but
are not yet effective and have not been early adopted by
the Group. The Group’s current intention is to apply these
changes on the date they become effective.

Amendments to HKAS 1, Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and HK Interpretation 5 (2020),
Presentation of Financial Statements — Classification by the
Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains a Repayment on
Demand Clause*

Amendments to HKAS 16, Proceeds before Intended Use?

HKFRS 17 — Insurance Contracts®

Amendments to HKFRS 3, Reference to the Conceptual
Framework?®

Amendment to HKFRS 16, Covid-19-Related Rent
Concessions'

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28, Sale or
Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture®

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-20202

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 June 2020.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2022.
s Effective for business combinations for which the date of

acquisition is on or after the beginning of the first annual period
beginning on or after 1 January 2022.

¢ Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2023.
2 The amendments shall be applied prospectively to the sale or

contribution of assets occurring in annual periods beginning on
or after a date to be determined.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies and disclosures (continued)

(b)

New or amended HKFRSs that have been issued but
are not yet effective (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1, Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and HK Interpretation 5 (2020),
Presentation of Financial Statements — Classification by the
Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains a Repayment on
Demand Clause

The amendments clarify that the classification of liabilities as
current or non-current is based on rights that are in existence
at the end of the reporting period, specify that classification
is unaffected by expectations about whether an entity will
exercise its right to defer settlement of a liability and explain
that rights are in existence if covenants are complied with
at the end of the reporting period. The amendments also
introduce a definition of ‘settlement’ to make clear that
settlement refers to the transfer to the counterparty of cash,
equity instruments, other assets or services.

HK Int 5 (2020) was revised as a consequence of the
Amendments to HKAS 1 issued in August 2020. The revision
to HK Int 5 (2020) updates the wordings in the interpretation
to align with the Amendments to HKAS 1 with no change in
conclusion and do not change the existing requirements.

The directors of the Company do not anticipate that the
application of the amendments and revision in the future will
have an impact on the financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 16, Proceeds before Intended Use

The amendments prohibit deducting from the cost of an item
of property, plant and equipment any proceeds from selling
items produced while bringing that asset to the location and
condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the
manner intended by management. Instead, the proceeds
from selling such items, and the cost of producing those
items, is recognised in profit or loss.

The directors of the Company is currently assessing the

impact that the application of the amendments will have on
the Group’s consolidated financial statements.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies and disclosures (continued)

(b)

MESEBERAERALE  CircuTech International Holdings Limited

New or amended HKFRSs that have been issued but
are not yet effective (continued)

HKFRS 17, Insurance Contracts

The new standard establishes the principles for the
recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of
insurance contracts and supersedes HKFRS 4, Insurance
Contracts. The standard outlines a ‘General Model’, which
is modified for insurance contracts with direct participation
features, described as the ‘Variable Fee Approach’. The
General Model is simplified if certain criteria are met by
measuring the liability for remaining coverage using the
Premium Allocation Approach.

The directors of the Company do not anticipate that the
application of this standard in the future will have an impact
on the financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 3, Reference to the Conceptual
Framework

The amendments update HKFRS 3 so that it refers to the
revised Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting 2018
instead of the version issued in 2010. The amendments
add to HKFRS 3 a requirement that, for obligations within
the scope of HKAS 37, an acquirer applies HKAS 37
to determine whether at the acquisition date a present
obligation exists as a result of past events. For a levy that
would be within the scope of HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 Levies, the
acquirer applies HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 to determine whether the
obligating event that gives rise to a liability to pay the levy
has occurred by the acquisition date. The amendments also
add an explicit statement that an acquirer does not recognise
contingent assets acquired in a business combination.

The directors of the Company do not anticipate that the
application of the amendments in the future will have an
impact on the financial statements.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies and disclosures (continued)

(b)

New or amended HKFRSs that have been issued but
are not yet effective (continued)

Amendment to HKFRS 16, Covid-19-Related Rent
Concessions

HKFRS 16 was amended to provide a practical expedient
to lessees in accounting for rent concessions arising as a
result of the Covid-19 pandemic, by including an additional
practical expedient in HKFRS 16 that permits entities to
elect not to account for rent concessions as modifications.
The practical expedient applies only to rent concessions
occurring as a direct consequence of Covid-19 pandemic
and only if all of the following criteria are satisfied:

a) the change in lease payments results in revised
consideration for the lease that is substantially the
same as, or less than, the consideration for the lease
immediately preceding the change;

b) the reduction in lease payments affects only payments
originally due on or before 30 June 2021; and

c) there is no substantive change to other terms and
conditions of the lease.

Rent concessions that satisfy these criteria may be
accounted for in accordance with this practical expedient,
which means the lessee does not need to assess
whether the rent concession meets the definition of lease
modification. Lessees shall apply other requirements of
HKFRS 16 in accounting for the rent concession.

The directors of the Company do not anticipate that the

application of the amendments and revision in the future will
have an impact on the financial statements.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies and disclosures (continued)

(b)

MESEBERAERALE  CircuTech International Holdings Limited

New or amended HKFRSs that have been issued but
are not yet effective (continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28, Sale or
Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate
or Joint Venture

The amendments clarify with situations where there is a
sale or contribution of assets between an investor and its
associate or joint venture. When the transaction with an
associate or joint venture that is accounted for using the
equity method, any gains or losses resulting from the loss
of control of a subsidiary that does not contain a business
are recognised in the profit or loss only to the extent of
the unrelated investors’ interests in that associate or joint
venture. Similarly, any gains or losses resulting from the
remeasurement of retained interest in any former subsidiary
(that has become an associate or a joint venture) to fair value
are recognised in the profit or loss only to the extent of the
unrelated investors’ interests in the new associate or joint
venture.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application
of these amendments may have an impact on the financial
statements in future periods should such transaction arise.

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020

The annual improvements amends a number of standards,
including:

o HKFRS 1, First-time Adoption of Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards, which permit a subsidiary that
applies paragraph D16(a) of HKFRS 1 to measure
cumulative translation differences using the amounts
reported by its parent, based on the parent’s date of
transition to HKFRSs.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies and disclosures (continued)

New or amended HKFRSs that have been issued but
are not yet effective (continued)

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020 (continued)

o HKFRS 9, Financial Instruments, which clarify the fees
included in the ‘10 per cent’ test in paragraph B3.3.6
of HKFRS 9 in assessing whether to derecognise
a financial liability, explaining that only fees paid or
received between the entity and the lender, including
fees paid or received by either the entity or the lender
on other’s behalf are included.

o HKFRS 16, Leases, which amend lllustrative Example
13 to remove the illustration of reimbursement of
leasehold improvements by the lessor in order to
resolve any potential confusion regarding the treatment
of lease incentives that might arise because of how
lease incentives are illustrated in that example.

o HKAS 41, Agriculture, which remove the requirement
to exclude taxation cash flows when measuring the
fair value of a biological asset using a present value
technique.

The directors of the Company do not anticipate that the
application of the amendments in the future will have an
impact on the financial statements.

2.3 Principles of consolidation

2.3.1 Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over
which the Group has control. The Group controls an entity
when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable
returns from its involvement with the entity and has the
ability to affect those returns through its power to direct the
activities of the entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from
the date on which control is transferred to the Group. They
are deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.
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2.3 Principles of consolidation (continued)

2.3.1 Subsidiaries (continued)

Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains
on transactions between Group companies are eliminated.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction
provides evidence of an impairment of the transferred asset.
Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by
the Group.

Non-controlling interests in the results and equity of
subsidiaries are shown separately in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes
in equity and statement of financial position respectively.

2.3.2 Associate

Associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence but not control or joint control. This is generally
the case where the Group holds between 20% and 50% of
the voting rights. Investment in an associate is accounted
for using the equity method of accounting (see Note 2.3.3
below), after initially being recognised at cost.

2.3.3 Equity method

Under the equity method of accounting, the investment
is initially recognised at cost and adjusted thereafter to
recognise the Group’s share of the post-acquisition profits
or losses of the investee in profit or loss, and the Group’s
share of movements in other comprehensive income of the
investee in other comprehensive income. Dividends received
or receivable from an associate are recognised as a reduction
in the carrying amount of the investment.

When the Group’s share of losses in an equity-accounted
investment equals or exceeds its interest in the entity,
including any other unsecured long-term receivables, the
Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has
incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the other
entity.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.3

2.4

2.5

Principles of consolidation (continued)

2.3.3 Equity method (continued)

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its
associate are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest
in these entities. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless
the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the
asset transferred. Accounting policies of equity accounted
investees have been changed where necessary to ensure
consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

The carrying amount of equity-accounted investments
is tested for impairment in accordance with the policy
described in Note 2.9.

Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less
impairment. Cost includes direct attributable costs of investment.
The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on
the basis of dividend received and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is required
upon receiving a dividend from these investments if the dividend
exceeds the total comprehensive income of the subsidiary in
the period the dividend is declared or if the carrying amount of
the investment in the separate financial statements exceeds the
carrying amount in the consolidated financial statements of the
investee’s net assets including goodwill.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with
the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision-
maker. The chief operating decision-maker, who is responsible for
allocating resources and assessing performance of the operating
segments, has been identified as the Executive Directors who make
strategic decisions.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.6 Foreign currency translation

(a)

(b)

MESEBERAERALE  CircuTech International Holdings Limited

Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the consolidated financial statements of
each of the Group’s entities are measured using the currency
of the primary economic environment in which the entity
operates (the “functional currency”). The consolidated
financial statements are presented in HK$, which is the
Company'’s functional and presentation currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency using the exchange rates at the dates
of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses
resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from
the translation of monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies at year end exchange rates are generally
recognised in profit or loss. They are deferred in equity if
they are attributable to part of the net investment in a foreign
operation.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to borrowings
are presented in profit or loss, within “finance costs”. All
other foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in
profit or loss on a net basis within “administrative expenses”.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in a
foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at
the date when the fair value was determined. Translation
differences on assets and liabilities carried at fair value are
reported as part of the fair value gain or loss. For example,
translation differences on non-monetary assets and liabilities
such as derivative financial instruments are recognised
in profit or loss as part of the fair value gain or loss and
translation differences on non-monetary assets such as
financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income (“FVOCI”) are recognised in other comprehensive
income.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.6 Foreign currency translation (continued)

(c)

Group companies

The results and financial position of foreign operations
(none of which has the currency of a hyperinflationary
economy) that have a functional currency different from the
presentation currency are translated into the presentation
currency as follows:

(i) assets and liabilities for each statement of financial
position presented are translated at the closing rate at
the date of that statement of financial position;

(if) income and expenses for each statement of
comprehensive income are translated at average
exchange rates (unless this is not a reasonable
approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates
prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case
income and expenses are translated at the dates of the
transactions); and

(iiiy  all resulting exchange differences are recognised in
other comprehensive income.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the
translation of any net investment in foreign entities are
recognised in other comprehensive income. When a foreign
operation is sold or any borrowings forming part of the net
investment are repaid, the associated exchange differences
are reclassified to profit or loss, as part of the gain or loss on
sale.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.7 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less
depreciation. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly
attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or
recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item
will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. The carrying amount of any component accounted for as
a separate asset is derecognised when replaced. All other repairs
and maintenance are charged to profit or loss during the reporting
period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to
allocate their cost or revalued amounts, net of their residual
values, over their estimated useful lives or, in the case of leasehold
improvements, the shorter lease term as follows:

Leasehold improvements 3 to 5 years
Furniture and fixtures 5 years
Office equipment 3 to 5 years
Machinery 5 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and
adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than
its estimated recoverable amount (Note 2.9).

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing
proceeds with carrying amount. These are included in profit or loss.

MESEBERAERALE  CircuTech International Holdings Limited
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.8

Intangible assets

(a)

(b)

Capitalised development costs

Development costs that are directly attributable to the design
and testing of identifiable and unique IT products controlled
by the Group are recognised as intangible assets when the
following criteria are met:

o it is technically feasible to complete the software so
that it will be available for use;

o management intends to complete the software and use
or sell it;

o there is an ability to use or sell the software;

o it can be demonstrated how the software will generate

probable future economic benefits;

o adequate technical, financial and other resources
to complete the development and to use or sell the
software are available; and

o the expenditure attributable to the software during its
development can be reliably measured.

Directly attributable costs that are capitalised as part of the
capitalised development cost include employee costs and an
appropriate portion of relevant overheads.

Capitalised development costs are recorded as intangible
assets and amortised from the point at which the asset is
ready for use.

Research and development

Research expenditure and development expenditure that
do not meet the criteria in (a) above are recognised as
an expense as incurred. Development costs previously
recognised as an expense are not recognised as an asset in
a subsequent period.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.9

2.10

Impairment of non-financial assets

Other assets are tested for impairment whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount
may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for
the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of
an asset’s fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. For
the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at
the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash
inflows which are largely independent of the cash inflows from
other assets or groups of assets (“cash-generating units”). Non-
financial assets other than goodwill that suffered an impairment are
reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at the end of each
reporting period.

Investments and other financial assets

2.10.1 Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following
measurement categories:

o those to be measured subsequently at fair value
through profit or loss (see 2.12),

° those to be measured subsequently at FVOCI, and

o those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the Group’s business model
for managing the financial assets and the contractual terms
of the cash flows.
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2 FEEHHRHME @ 2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
210 REREMERMEE (& 2.10 Investments and other financial assets (continued)

2.10.1 34E (/& 2.10.1 Classification (continued)
MEBAFESEZEEMS » WaE For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses will be
REEF T AEMEEUE o FLIE recorded in OCI. For investments in equity instruments that
FFFEEZRm TAKREMS are not held for trading, this will depend on whether the
HEBNARAEERZRSN RIER Group has made an irrevocable election at the time of initial
FFITE RO BN aH IR IR =R recognition to account for the equity investment at FVOCI.
KREARAZBEMEZEWAEA
FEFE -
KEERKRENREEZSEEEZE The Group reclassifies debt investments when and only when
BEANER FEEMOEER its business model for managing those assets changes.
=

2.10.2 SR R AXIFFEST 2.10.2 Recognition and derecognition
BRBEARHENEREERRS Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
HEE (I XAEEREEEZREEY recognised on trade-date, the date on which the Group
BHE) PUER - HLESREEW commits to purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets are
RIBEREZEMEIBRAKLESE derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from
EOMAEEEREBREEZEX the financial assets have expired or have been transferred
B B R R B3R EEE > Bl @& 1E and the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and
WRERMEE- rewards of ownership.

2.10.3 5t &£ 2.10.3 Measurement
ROTHIBE > REBZBEBEM At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset at
2EBREEATFEIIEZCHEE FVOCI at its fair value plus transaction costs that are directly
ZAFENEEZEFBERNEESHE attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset.

EZRGMAGSTEZBTHEE -

PREEAERANMETEZEHME Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in
EZREREECEATNEAESR their entirety when determining whether their cash flows are
MER EXETHEEZERBET solely payment of principal and interest.

EEe
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

2.10.3 51 (&
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2.10 Investments and other financial assets (continued)

2.10.3 Measurement (continued)

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on
the Group’s business model for managing the asset and the
cash flow characteristics of the asset. The Group classifies
its debt instruments as follows:

Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection of
contractual cash flows where those cash flows represent
solely payments of principal and interest are measured at
amortised cost. Interest income from these financial assets
is included in finance income using the effective interest
rate method. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition is
recognised directly in profit or loss and presented in other
gains/(losses) together with foreign exchange gains and
losses. Impairment losses are presented as separate line
item in the statement of comprehensive income.

Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all equity investment at
fair value. Where the Group’s management has elected to
present fair value gains and losses on equity investment in
OCI, there is no subsequent reclassification of fair value gains
and losses to profit or loss following the derecognition of
the investment. Dividends from such investments continue
to be recognised in profit or loss as other income when the
Group’s right to receive payments is established. Impairment
losses (and reversal of impairment losses) on equity
investment measured at FVOCI are not reported separately
from other changes in fair value.
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2 FEEHHRHME @ 2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
210 REREMERMEE (& 2.10 Investments and other financial assets (continued)
2.10.4 #1E 2.10.4 Impairment
REE LA R B ST G SR Y The Group assesses on a forward looking basis the expected
MAFEREBEMEEREER credit losses associated with its debt instruments carried
TEINEZEHFTIAEBHMZERE at amortised cost and FVOCI. The impairment methodology
EEB -ERZRER EZBARE applied depends on whether there has been a significant
BERRES KIBIEG M- increase in credit risk.
MEBERMS AEBRBESE For trade receivables, the Group applies the simplified
MBI EENFIRASTNEIES approach permitted by HKFRS 9, which requires expected
FOHEBN S ERERRERER lifetime losses to be recognised from initial recognition of the
2 HATEIREE  E— P BRWH receivables, see Note 3.1(b) for further details.
3.1(b)
TETEVLIEIUREHEEN When determining whether the credit risk of a financial
EERRESBE RN &G TER asset has increased significantly since initial recognition
EEBER AEESETERETN and when estimating ECL, the Group considers reasonable
HBZ AR BNEENENEIE and supportable information that is relevant and available
REEBENERER - Ea8i5R1E without undue cost or effort, This includes both quantitative
AEBBELR MEMNEETE and qualitative information analysis, based on the Group's
EHENEEREEER S TE historical experience and informed credit assessment and
ERIREMER including forward-looking information.
HEmMEERRBEIOR  NEE The Group assumes that the credit risk on a financial asset
BEXZEHEENEERARERE has increased significantly if it is more than 90 days past
1N o due.
EEBATKUEERER L EE The Group considers a financial asset to be in default when
RERWESINIKR (WNFHB) $178 the debtor is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the
HNERTRASERXESZNHEEE Group in full, without recourse by the Group to action such
R, NEMBEERAPBIB120K as realising security (if any is held); or the financial asset is
KREBRAZTMEERIREL more than 120 days past due.

211 BFEEHMTH 2.11 Offsetting financial instruments
EXNEEBRIERETEHITERIIEHE Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount
ERARTE AR FREEELENR reported in the statement of financial position where the Group
HEREENEHAGER SHEENRS currently has a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised
BRI EABIESE > WM B RREREF amounts, and there is an intention to settle on a net basis or
B AE N MITEFN BRI RKEHM realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. The legally
EoME—MREBBEPRERSERRE enforceable right must not be contingent on future events and must
RRZHEHFEHREN  BEBEDIEE be enforceable in the normal course of business and in the event
B INBABAER of default, insolvency or bankruptcy of the Group companies or the

counterparty.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.12

2.13

2.14

Derivatives

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date
a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently
remeasured to their fair value at the end of each reporting period.
Changes in the fair value of any derivative instrument that does not
qualify for hedge accounting are recognised immediately in profit or
loss.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Cost comprises cost of purchase, cost of conversion and other
costs incurred to bringing the inventories to their present location
and condition. Costs are assigned to individual items of inventory
on the basis of first-in first-out (‘FIFO”). Net realisable value is the
estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the
estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary
to make the sale.

Trade receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for goods sold
or services performed in the ordinary course of business. Trade
receivables are generally due for settlement ranging from 15 to 45
days and therefore are all classified as current.

Trade receivables are recognised initially at fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method, less provision for impairment of trade receivables.
See Note 2.10 for further information about the Group’s accounting
for trade receivables and for a description of the Group’s
impairment policies.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.15

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement of
cash flows, cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand,
deposits held at call with financial institutions, other short-term,
highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months
or less that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and
which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and
bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings in
current liabilities in the consolidated statement of financial position.

Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares
or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the
proceeds.

Trade and other payables

These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided
to the Group prior to the end of financial year which are unpaid.
The amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days
of recognition. Trade and other payables are presented as current
liabilities unless payment is not due within 12 months after the
reporting period. They are recognised initially at their fair value
and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method.

Gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities
are derecognised as well as through the amortisation process.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.18 Current and deferred income tax

The income tax expense or credit for the period is the tax payable
on the current period’s taxable income based on the applicable
income tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by changes in
deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to temporary
differences and to unused tax losses.

(a)

(b)

MESEBERAERALE  CircuTech International Holdings Limited

Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis
of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the
end of the reporting period in the countries where the
Company’s subsidiaries operate and generate taxable
income. Management periodically evaluates positions taken
in tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable
tax regulation is subject to interpretation. It establishes
provisions where appropriate on the basis of amounts
expected to be paid to the tax authorities.

Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability
method, on temporary differences arising between the tax
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts
in the consolidated financial statements. However, deferred
tax liabilities are not recognised if they arise from the initial
recognition of goodwill. Deferred income tax is also not
accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset
or liability in a transaction other than a business combination
that at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting
nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined
using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or
substantially enacted by the end of the reporting period and
are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax
asset is realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognised only if it is probable
that future taxable amounts will be available to utilise those
temporary differences and losses.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised for
temporary differences between the carrying amount and
tax bases of investments in foreign operations where the
Company is able to control the timing of the reversal of the
temporary differences and it is probable that the differences
will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.18 Current and deferred income tax (continued)

(b)

Deferred income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is
a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets and
liabilities and when the deferred tax balances relate to the
same taxation authority. Current tax assets and tax liabilities
are offset where the entity has a legally enforceable right to
offset and intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise
the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss,
except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this
case, the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, respectively.

2.19 Employee benefits

(a)

(b)

Short-term obligations

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary
benefits and accumulating sick leave that are expected
to be settled wholly within 12 months after the end of the
period in which the employees render the related service
are recognised in respect of employees’ services up to
the end of the reporting period and are measured at the
amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are
settled. The liabilities are presented as current employee
benefit obligations in the consolidated statement of financial
position.

Pension obligations

A defined contribution plan is a pension plan under which
the Group pays fixed contributions into a separate entity. The
Group has no legal or constructive obligations to pay further
contributions if the fund does not hold sufficient assets to
pay all employees the benefits relating to employee service in
the current and prior periods.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.19 Employee benefits (continueq)

(b)

(c)

(d)
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Pension obligations (continued)

For defined contribution plans, the Group pays contributions
to publicly or privately administered pension insurance plans
on a mandatory, contractual or voluntary basis. The Group
has no further payment obligations once the contributions
have been paid. The contributions are recognised as
employee benefit expense when they are due. Prepaid
contributions are recognised as an asset to the extent
that a cash refund or a reduction in the future payments is
available.

Bonus plan

The Group recognises a liability and an expense for bonuses
based on a formula that takes into consideration the profit
attributable to the Company’s shareholders after certain
adjustments. The Group recognises a provision where
contractually obliged or where there is a past practice that
has created a constructive obligation.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are payable when employment is
terminated by the Group before the normal retirement
date, or when an employee accepts voluntary redundancy
in exchange for these benefits. The Group recognises
termination benefits at the earlier of the following dates:
(a) when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of
those benefits; and (b) when the Group recognises costs
for a restructuring that is within the scope of HKAS 37 and
involves the payment of termination benefits. In the case
of an offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy, the
termination benefits are measured based on the number of
employees expected to accept the offer. Benefits falling due
more than 12 months after the end of the reporting period
are discounted to present value.
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Share-based compensation benefits are provided to employees via
the “2016 Option Scheme”. Information relating to this scheme is
set out in Note 25.

Employee options

The fair value of options granted under the 2016 Option Scheme is
recognised as an employee benefits expense with a corresponding
increase in equity. The total amount to be expensed is determined
by reference to the fair value of the options granted:

including any market performance conditions (e.g. the
entity’s share price)

- excluding the impact of any service and non-market
performance vesting conditions (e.g. profitability, sales
growth targets and remaining an employee of the entity over
a specified time period), and

- including the impact of any non-vesting conditions (e.g. the
requirement for employees to save or holdings shares for a
specific period of time).

The total expense is recognised over the vesting period, which is
the period over which all of the specified vesting conditions are
to be satisfied. At the end of each period, the entity revises its
estimates of the number of options that are expected to vest based
on the non-market vesting and service conditions. It recognises the
impact of the revision to original estimates, if any, in profit or loss,
with a corresponding adjustment to equity.

Social security contributions payable in connection with an option
grant are considered an integral part of the grant itself and the
charges are treated as cash-settled transactions.

When the options are exercised, appropriate amount of shares

are transferred to the employee. The proceeds received net of any
directly attributable transaction costs are credited directly to equity.

Annual Report 2020 fF#§ 89



REMBHRRME
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2

90

FTEFHHREE @

2.21

BE

EXAEERBEEARKEER AR NMHE
EEME MAEARLERNFESE
BHES P A RHETEE  WER
RREDTHE DR -

MEBEZEBLUSE FEEERERHE
REVBIBEME DA E S ERETEBE
TE - BMERE—SEEENREINERN—
BEEmMERHE RN EEERM A
R

BEDPRERSHARREEEHFEER
BEEFRRXREGANREFSE-E
ERECAZMAERSRBHSERY
ERREEENTGERZETRERR
YR A ) 2 o [X] By 37 4 110 4 0 9 3 R e
BRF Bz

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.21 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or
constructive obligation as a result of past events, it is probable
that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation
and the amount can be reliably estimated. Provisions are not
recognised for future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood
that an outflow will be required in settlement is determined by
considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is
recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to any
one item included in the same class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of management’s
best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the present
obligation at the end of the reporting period. The discount rate
used to determine the present value is a pre-tax rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the liability. The increase in the provision due to the
passage of time is recognised as interest expense.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.22 Revenue recognition

(a)

(b)

Sales and distribution of IT products

Revenue from the sales and distribution of products is
recognised at a point in time when control of the products
has transferred, being at the point the products are delivered
to and have been accepted, and there is no unfulfilled
obligation that could affect the customer’s acceptance of
the products. There is only one performance obligation.
Delivery occurs when the products have been shipped to the
specified location, the risks of obsolescence and loss have
been transferred to the customer, and either the customer
has accepted the products in accordance with the sales
contract, the acceptance provisions have lapsed, or the
Group has objective evidence that all criteria for acceptance
have been satisfied.

Revenue from these sales is recognised based on the price
specified in the contract, net of discounts, returns and value
added taxes.

A receivable is recognised when the products are delivered
and the customers have accepted the products, as this is the
point in time that the consideration is unconditional because
only the passage of time is required before the payment is
due.

Rendering of repairs and service support

The Group provides repairs, maintenance and support
services for IT products. The Group has determined that for
contracts with customers under service support, there is only
one performance obligation. For the provision of services,
revenue is recognised over time in the accounting period in
which the services are rendered to customers as the Group
determined that the customer receives and uses the benefits
simultaneously.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.23

2.24

2.25

Contract liabilities

Upon entering into a contract with a customer, the Group obtains
right to receive consideration from the customer and assumes
performance obligations to transfer goods or provide services to
the customer. The combination of those rights and performance
obligations give rise to a net asset or a net liability depending on
the relationship between the remaining rights and the performance
obligations. Contract liabilities are recognised for services to be
provided to customers represented by the excess of consideration
received from the customers according to agreed customer billing
schedules over cumulative revenue recognised.

Interest income

Interest income is accrued on a time basis on the principal
outstanding at the applicable interest rate.

Leases

Accounting as a lessee

All leases are required to be capitalised in the statement of financial
position as right-of-use assets and lease liabilities, but accounting
policy choices exist for an entity to choose not to capitalise (i)
leases which are short-term leases and/or (i) leases for which
the underlying asset is of low-value. The Group has elected not
to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for low-value
assets and leases for which at the commencement date have a
lease term less than 12 months. The lease payments associated
with those leases have been expensed on straight-line basis over
the lease term.

Right-of-use asset

The right-of-use asset should be recognised at cost and would
comprise: (i) the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability (see below for the accounting policy to account for
lease liability); (i) any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives received; (i) any
initial direct costs incurred by the lessee and (iv) an estimate of
costs to be incurred by the lessee in dismantling and removing
the underlying asset to the condition required by the terms and
conditions of the lease, unless those costs are incurred to produce
inventories. The Group measures the right-of-use assets applying
a cost model. Under the cost model, the Group measures the
right-to-use at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and any
impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease
liability.
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Lease liability

The lease liability is recognised at the present value of the lease
payments that are not paid at the date of commencement of the
lease. The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate
implicit in the lease, if that rate can be readily determined. If that
rate cannot be readily determined, the Group uses the Group’s
incremental borrowing rate.

The following payments for the right-to-use on the underlying asset
during the lease term that are not paid at the commencement
date of the lease are considered to be lease payments: (i) fixed

payments less any lease incentives receivable; (ii) variable lease
payments that depend on an index or a rate, initially measured
using the index or rate as at commencement date; (i) amounts

expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value
guarantees; (iv) the exercise price of a purchase option if the lessee
is reasonably certain to exercise that option; and (v) payments of
penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the
lessee exercising an option to terminate the lease.

Subsequent to the commencement date, the Group measures the
lease liability by: (i) increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest
on the lease liability; (ii) reducing the carrying amount to reflect the
lease payments made; and (iii) remeasuring the carrying amount
to reflect any reassessment or lease modifications, or to reflect
revised in-substance fixed lease payments.

Accounting as a lessor

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the
lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of the leased assets to the lessee. All other leases are classified as
operating leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or loss
on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial
direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating
lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and
recognised as an expense on the straight-line basis over the lease
term.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.25 Leases (continued)

Accounting as a lessor (continued)

Any changes in the scope of the consideration for a lease that
was not part of the original terms and conditions of the lease are
accounted for as lease modifications. The Group accounts for a
modification to an operating lease as a new lease from the effective
date of the modification, recognising the remaining lease payments
as income on a either a straight-line basis or another systematic
basis over the remaining lease term.

2.26

(i)

(i)

Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit
attributable to owners of the Company, excluding any
costs of servicing equity other than ordinary shares by the
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding
during the financial year, adjusted for bonus elements in
ordinary shares issued during the year and excluding treasury
shares.

Diluted earnings per share

Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the
determination of basic earnings per share to take into
account:

° the after income tax effect of interest and other
financing costs associated with dilutive potential
ordinary shares, and

o the weighted average number of additional ordinary
shares that would have been outstanding assuming the
conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares.

2.27 Related parties

(a)

MESEBERAERALE  CircuTech International Holdings Limited

A person or a close member of that person’s family is related
to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(ii) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of key management personnel of the
Group or the Company’s parent.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.27 Related parties (continued)

(0)

An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions apply:

(i)

(i)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

The entity and the Group are members of the same
group (which means that each parent, subsidiary and
fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or an associate or joint venture of a member of a
group of which the other entity is a member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of the employees of the Group or an entity
related to the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a).

A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services to
the group or to the group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be
influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity and
include:

(i)

that person’s children and spouse or domestic partner;

children of that person’s spouse or domestic partner;
and

dependents of that person or that person’s spouse or
domestic partner.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

This note explains the Group’s exposure to financial risks and how these
risks could affect the Group’s future financial performance. Current
year profit and loss information has been included where relevant to
add further context. The Group’s risk management is carried out by a
central treasury department (“Group Treasury”) under policies approved
by the board of directors. Group Treasury identifies, evaluates and
mitigates financial risks in close co-operation with the Group’s operating
units. The Group’s overall risk management programme focuses on the
unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential
adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance.

3.1 Financial risk factors
(a) Market risk
0 Foreign exchange risk

Foreign exchange risk arises from future commercial
transactions, recognised assets and liabilities
denominated in a currency that is not a functional
currency of the relevant group entities. The Group
currently does not have a foreign currency hedging
policy and has not used any forward contracts,
currency borrowings or other means to hedge its
foreign currency exposure. The Group manages
its foreign currency risk by closely monitoring the
movement of the foreign currency rates.
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3 WMERRER @ 3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continueq)
3.1 HMBRAKER &) 3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(a) HHERE (#) (a) Market risk (continued)
() SrEREEE (B) () Foreign exchange risk (continued)
AEBRPBEHRZINER The Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk at the
Bl O LB TR T end of the reporting period, expressed in HK$, was as
follows:
=7 BT HEE
uUs$ EUR GBP
FET FET FET
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
RIE_THF As at 31 December 2020
+=ZA=+—
BE Assets
JE A BR R EL fih FE U R Trade and other receivables 330 14 50
ZRERITER Restricted bank deposits 31,220 - =
BERIBEEEY Cash and cash equivalents 46,423 111 204
af& Liabilities
FEAS BR AR R EL A A& 1T 70 Trade and other payables (619) - -
E7T BT HE
Us$ EUR GBP
FET FET FET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’'000
R-E—h%&F As at 31 December 2019
+=ZB=+—H
BE Assets
JE W BR 7R e ELAth AE UL 7R Trade and other receivables 283 - 1
ZIRHIERITFENR Restricted bank deposits 31,220 = =
HERREEEBY Cash and cash equivalents 22,404 533 799
af& Liabilities
JFE 1< BR 70 e ELAt FE - =% Trade and other payables (389) = =
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continuea)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(a) Market risk (continued)

()

Foreign exchange risk (continued)

Sensitivity

The Group is primarily exposed to changes in EUR/
HK$ exchange rates. The sensitivity of post-tax profit

EXEH o HRAEEZTERE or loss to changes in the exchange rates arises mainly
U R BT EZERT from EUR-HK$ denominated financial instruments.
Ho
ZEEE —2-NE
2020 2019
HNEE HigE
SNE HEEZIES SNE HEEZIE/
EXEE (B) e Exg =7
Positive/ Positive/
(negative) (negative)
Change effect on Change effect on
in foreign post-tax in foreign post-tax
exchange profit exchange profit
rate or loss rate or loss
FET FET FEm FET
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BioT,BITEZR— EF EUR/HKS exchange rate -
increase 7% 7 3% 13
BT, BTER—TE  EUR/MHKS$ exchange rate -
decrease (7%) (7) (3%) (13)

o _B_BFE+ R
=t—H - Fx&EE@HHS
EEREFESRREBITR
BTN AR BEHREERE
REHREMNBEARZER
&R #987,0008T (=%
— & | ETEE R #203,000
BIT) °
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In addition, as at 31 December 2020, the Group was
exposed to foreign exchange risk primarily with respect
to the potential negative effects of HK$987,000
(2019: potential positive effects of HK$203,000) on
consolidated post-tax profit or loss due to the potental
impacts from translation of intercompany balances
which are translated from HK$ to EUR.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continuea)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(a)

(b)

Market risk (continued)
(i) Foreign exchange risk (continued)
Sensitivity (continued)

The HK$ is pegged to US$ and thus foreign currency
exposure is considered as minimal and is not hedged.

Management believes that the appreciation/
depreciation of GBP against HK$ would not have
a material impact on the Group’s profit/(loss) after
income tax and other components of equity for the
year. Therefore, no sensitivity analysis is presented for
GBP against HK$.

(i) Cash flow interest rate risk

Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that the future
cash flows associated with a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates.
The Group’s income and operating cash flows are
substantially independent of changes in market interest
rates, except for interest income derived from bank
deposits. Apart from the bank deposits held at financial
institutions, the Group has no significant interest
bearing assets and liabilities.

Credit risk

The Group is exposed to credit risk in relation to its financial
assets at trade and other receivables, restricted bank
deposits and cash and cash equivalents. The carrying
amounts of trade and other receivables, restricted bank
deposits and cash and cash equivalents, represent the
Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to
financial assets.

The Group expects that there is no significant credit risk
associated with cash deposits at banks since they are
substantially deposited at medium or large-sized listed banks
with good reputation and credit rating.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continuea)

Financial risk factors (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

The Group applies the simplified approach to provide for
expected credit losses prescribed by HKFRS 9, which
permits the use of the lifetime expected credit loss provision
for impairment of all trade receivables. To measure the
expected credit losses, trade receivables have been grouped
based on shared credit risk characteristics. The Group has
performed historical analysis and identified the key economic
variables impacting credit risk and expected credit loss. It
considers available reasonable and supportive forwarding-
looking information.

Majority of the Group’s revenue is received from individual
customers in relation to IT products sold and are transacted
in cash or credit. The Group’s trade receivables arise from
sales of IT products to the customers.

As at 31 December 2020, the top three debtors and the
largest debtor accounted for approximately 62.9% and
27.7% (2019: 59.5% and 26.7%), of the Group’s trade
receivables balance. In view of the history of business
dealings with the debtors and the sound collection history
of the receivables due from them, management believes
that there is no material credit risk inherent in the Group’s
outstanding receivable balance due from these debtors
saved for the debtor related to the impaired trade receivable
disclosed in the below. Management makes periodic
assessment on the provision for impairment of the trade and
other receivables based on background and reputation of the
customers, historical payment records, past experience, the
length of overdue period, the financial strength of the debtors
and whether there are any disputes with the debtors. The
directors consider that the Group’s expected loss rate to be
low and no provision for impairment of trade receivables was
made as of 31 December 2020 and 2019.

Trade receivables are written off when there is no reasonable
expectation of recovery. Indicators that there is no
reasonable expectation of recovery include, amongst others,
the failure of a debtor to engage in a repayment plan with
the Group, and a failure to make contractual payments for a
period of greater than 120 days past due.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continuea)

3.1

Financial risk factors (continued)

(b)

(c)

Credit risk (continued)

As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, the Group has assessed
that the expected loss rate for other receivables was
immaterial. Thus no loss allowance for other receivables was
recognised.

Liquidity risk

The Group aims to finance its operations with its own capital
and earnings and did not have any significant borrowings
or credit facilities being utilised during the year, except for
a standby line of credit issued to a key supplier (Note 32).
The Group maintains its own treasury function to monitor
the current and expected liquidity requirements and aims
to maintain flexibility by keeping sufficient cash and cash
equivalents generated from operations. At the end of the
reporting period, the Group held cash and cash equivalents
and trade receivables, respectively, that are expected to
readily generate cash inflows for managing liquidity risk.

The table below analyses the Group’s non-derivative financial
liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the
remaining period at the consolidated balance sheet date to
the contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the
table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows. Balances
due within 12 months equal their carrying balances as the
impact of discounting is not significant.

—TTHE —E—NE
2020 2019
FET FAET
HK$°000 HK$'000

—FRN Less than 1 year
JFE 1< BR =k B EL A FE {5 =0 Trade and other payables 44,090 13,906
HE&E Lease liabilities 721 758
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continuea)

3.2 Capital management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to:—

o safeguard their ability to continue as a going concern, so that
they can continue to provide returns for shareholders and

benefits for other stakeholders; and

o maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of

capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may
adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return capital

to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

The capital structure of the Group consists of equity attributable
to owners of the Company only, comprising share capital and

reserves.

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group monitors capital
on the basis of the gearing ratio. This ratio is calculated as net
debt divided by total equity. Net debt is calculated as total debts
(including trade and other payables as shown in the consolidated
statement of financial position). The Group has a target gearing

ratio at a low level.

—EEHE —ET-NHEF

2020 2019

FET FET

HK$’000 HK$'000

HBIETS Total debts 49,017 17,320
4B Total equity 145,251 133,365
33.7% 13.0%

MESEBERAERALE  CircuTech International Holdings Limited



REMBERRME
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

7
3 WMERRER @ 3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continueq)
3.3 AFEMEs 3.3 Fair value estimation
(a) ETHEE (a) Financial assets
(0 NFEEAR () Fair value hierarchy
AEBEREERGEESTHER This section explains the judgements and estimates
RARAFERDKRSTEZ made in determining the fair values of the financial
EMITEZRFERES instruments that are recognised and measured at
st ARHEERF fair value in the consolidated financial statements. To
B ASEBENAIGEEE provide an indication about the reliability of the inputs
1618 AEERE G 2R used in determining fair value, the Group has classified
REEMIEDAR=ZE & its financial instruments into the three levels prescribed
Bz FRBBI TR under the accounting standards. An explanation of

each level follows underneath the table.

KEMERFESZ Recurring fair value measurements
Recurring fair value F1E 28 g st
BEMATEINE measurements Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
J/if=3 FET FET FET FET
Note HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000
RZEZEHF At 31 December 2020
+-B=+-H
ERMEE Financial assets
TEEMIA Derivative financial instruments 17 - - 9,917 9,917
BREAMZERSERAF  Financial asset at FVOCI
BIEZERHERE 18 - - 1,457 1,457
RE2SHiE At 31 December 2019
+ZA=+—-H
EREE Financial assets
TE€MIA Derivative financial instruments 17 - - 8,247 8,247
BRAMZAKERAT  Financial asset at FVOCI
BIEZeREE 18 - - 1,511 1,511
RAEFE > 8REHATFEE There were no transfers between levels 1, 2 and 3 for
E2H12HEIEB HHEE recurring fair value measurements during the year.
Bo
REBBRKXANRKRSHARRE The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers into and
RATEEBNBAREEY transfers out of fair value hierarchy levels as at the end
HEEo of the reporting period.
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HERREEIR @

3.3

AFEMGE (E

(a)

EHEE (B

()

(i)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continueq)

3.3 Fair value estimation (continued)

(a) Financial assets (continued)

QT EER (B () Fair value hierarchy (continued)

KREBUERTEE (&

Recurring fair value measurements (continued)

F1E . EERME WAHBEENTETI AR SHES) BEENEMITAN A TERRSHARNTIZRE
TR - AEEFENEREEMANDTEREAEREBB -ZEITAINARIE -

Level 1: The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets (such as publicly traded
derivatives, and trading securities) is based on quoted market prices at the end of the reporting
period. The quoted market price used for financial assets held by the Group is the current bid
price. These instruments are included in level 1.

B2 WIERIER™MIE WIBHNMTETE BEENSMIT AN A FERAGERMETS 25 HERMSE
BN AR SHEEMR MIBERNSEMs - Mt ELAATEMELMERBAMEN
RO ERYE IZT A AR2SE -

Level 2: The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market (for example, over-
the-counter derivatives) is determined using valuation techniques which maximise the use of
observable market data and rely as little as possible on entity-specific estimates. If all significant
inputs required to fair value an instrument are observable, the instrument is included in level 2.

$FafE M—ENZEEADABBLIFRETEEZRTSHEBEEL AT RIASEIE - IF L HERAE
FRIE LB

Level 3: If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on observable market data, the instrument is
included in level 3. This is the case for unlisted equity securities.

EE R FEAEGERT (i) Valuation techniques used to determine fair values

BEAFEMBGERMNS
EREMEEWRZZATE
JIEZEMEEZMBFRSE
MEONMETEERIAZ
BEMBEBIED M RIFEH
BRERFER EARNEKR
TREBVAEEAFERE
IEHBE -BBLFEREZ

The valuation technique used to determine fair value
is discounted cash flow analysis for the financial asset
at FVOCI and probability weighted scenario analysis
for the derivative financial instrument. Based on the
financial budgets and forecast, the determination of
fair value use post-tax cash flow projections covering
a five-year period. Cash flows beyond the five-year
period are extrapolated using terminal growth rate.

REREEARKERERE

%o
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3 BERAKEEw

3.3

ATEMLE (&
(a) E=HEE (&
(i) EHEAT A BN 25

(B3)B) 2 A F(EE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continuea)

3.3 Fair value estimation (continued)

(a) Financial assets (continued)

(i) Fair value measurements using significant unobservable
inputs (level 3)

ERBEE
Financial assets

ZEBHEMEZE

KR AFE

TTESmMTIA JEZERMEE

Derivative Financial

financial asset at

instruments FVOCI

FET FAET

HK$'000 HK$'000
RIZE—N\F Balance at 31 December 2018

+ZB=+—HZz4%&Ek 7,788 1,492

NEEED Change in fair value 706 19

BB 72 = &8 Exchange differences (247) =
RIE—h&E Balance at 31 December 2019

+-B=+—HZ#&&&% 8,247 1,511

N EES Change in fair value 1,045 (54)

bE 2 A= 5H Exchange differences 625 -
N_E_EF Balance at 31 December 2020

+ZB=+—HZ%&Ek 9,917 1,457

ZBEMEERZRATE
SIEZ ERMEERITEEZR
TEHZRAFETREEIRE
EREEREFAUHREHAY
B (BERARRERE RS
BAERE) EE

The fair value of the financial asset at FVOCI and
derivative financial instruments were determined based
on discounted cash flow with unobservable inputs
including revenue growth rates and risk adjusted
discount rate.
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3 HHERKEIRw 3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.3 AF{EMG & 3.3 Fair value estimation (continued)
(a) ETHEE (& (a) Financial assets (continued)
(iv) 1HEEBABIER AN TFEZ (iv)  Valuation inputs and relationships to fair value
Izl
R+ZR=+-HZ BAYE
B AEfE FOBZRARE (=) €& FORBRABRALTEZHE  HEE
Fair value at Unobservable Range of inputs Relationship of
Description 31 December inputs (probability-weighted) ~ unobservable inputs to fair value  Sensitivity
ZEIZFE CIZAF ZEIZE CZAF
2020 2019 2020 2019
FE7 TET
HK$'000  HK$ 000
BUR-BHEATERZ T 9,917 8247 FEWABRE 510%  0-125% MEEMAREEARRERELA EERABRELA/ (B(E)1.5% 8
£HMIR Annual revenue growth rate FERBERRERE AATERE ATEREEN/ (L) 42,568,000
Derivative financial instruments B BEEMASRERERRRIE Bt/ (2,063,00087) (CE-A%E:
in relation to the interest in an REGAREBHREXL BATHE 365000%7/ (516,00087)) o
associate BaEbo Increase/(decrease) in annual
If annual revenue growth rate or revenue growth rate by 1.5% will
terminal growth rate increases, or risk- increase/(decrease) the fair value
adjusted discount rate decreases, the by approximately HK$2,568,000/
fair value would increase; if annual (HK$2,063,000) (2019: HK$365,000/
revenue growth rate decreases or (HK$516,000)).
terminal growth rate or risk-adjusted
RRERZ 2% 2% discount rate increases, the far value BRERERE EH/ (BMF) 1% 3
Terminal growth rate would decrease. RYEREEN,/ (5D #3,669,000
%/ (3,064000%7) (CE-hE:
1,081,000%7,/ (1,534,000% 7)) ©
Increase/(decrease) in terminal growth
rate by 1% will increase/(decrease)
the fair value by approximately
HK$3,669,000/(HK$3,064,000) (2019:
HK$1,081,000/(HK$1,534,000)).
ERARERE 12.97% 14.5% ARBEERE L7/ (M) 0.5% 8
Risk-adjusted discount rate NTEZE (F2) /1804 (1,983,000
A7) /2,170,00087 (CB-NE:
(820,000%75) //889,000%7) °
Increase/(decrease) in risk-adjusted
discount rate by 0.5% will (decrease)/
increase the fair value by approximately
(HK$1,983,000)/HK$2,170,000 (2019:
(HKS820,000)/HK$889,000).
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3 HERAKBEIERw 3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.3 ATEME (&

(a)

EHEE (B

IEEBARBERELFEZ
B ()

3.3 Fair value estimation (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Valuation inputs and relationships to fair value
(continued)

R+ZB=+-BZ
it AT FOBRHAGE FOBZRABRALTEZHGE  HEE
Fair value at Unobservable Relationship of
Description 31 December inputs (probability-weighted) ~ unobservable inputs to fair value Sensitivity
ZZIZE CZ-NF
2020 2019
FET TET
HK$'000  HKS'000
FLEFRAES 1,457 16511 EERARRE HEERALRZARLERE LA FERAERELHA/ (BE)1.5%

Unlisted equity security

Annual revenue growth rate

BRERZ
Terminal growth rate

ERERERE
Risk-adjusted discount rate

Hiat -

(i) FRAIEREARE 2B
BEHATEBREAR
B ERBERMGF

(i) EEREEMNBHEZFS
WABEELR7.2% (ZF
— N 4%) o

IERERRRERD BIATERE
B HERRARRXGRMERE
RESARERERE LA AATE
BEE D

If annual revenue growth rate or
terminal growth rate increases, or risk-
adjusted discount rate decreases, the
fair value would increase; if annual
revenue growth rate or terminal growth
rate decreases, or risk-adjusted
discount rate increases, the fair value
would decrease.

Notes:

(i

BATEHEREM,/ (Ab) 273,000
B/ (236,00087) (CB-hE!
245,000 7%,/ (233,000%7)) ©
Increase/(decrease) in annual
revenue growth rate by 1.5% will
increase/(decrease) the fair value
by approximately HK$273,000/
(HK$236,000) (2019: HK$245,000/
(HK$233,000)).

BREEREX LA/ (A1) 1% A
NTERGEM/ (H:D) £105,000
%7/ (66,00087) (CE-NE:
59,0007,/ (52,000%87c)) ©
Increase/(decrease) in terminal growth
rate by 1% will increase/(decrease)
the fair value by approximately
HK$105,000/(HK$66,000) (2019:
HK$59,000/(HK$52,000)).

BRAZERE L7/ (K1) 0.5%
AATERE () /14 (50,000
#7) /81,0008 (ZE-h%E!
(47,000%7t) /50,000 78) ©
Increase/(decrease) in risk-adjusted
discount rate by 0.5% will (decrease)/
increase the fair value by approximately
(HK$50,000)/HK$81,000 (2019:
(HKS47,000)/HK$50,000).

There were no significant inter-relationship between
unobservable that materially affect fair value.

The average revenue growth rate covering the five-year
forecast period was 7.2% (2019: 4%).
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HERREEIR @

3.3 AF{EMG &

(a) ZHEE (&

v)

ZEEF

FEBZMHHEIFMER
BETHBHRRMBOMLE
(BESEIBATE) -HE
EREEEBER RN&TH
REERSHBPMGLERF
RERET R

FEBEAZ EBEIEHA
BRI TS B S R T
T

. ERMEEZEEXT
EREXAEEEEE
BEEUSERRE
BEBEBEZEMND
BB RZEEZR
EREZ AR -

. REHHZEERR
RE(BEAMEEE
WERZRR) HAKRE
EARBEERRERE
NEEEZEERR
ERISH -

. FEmRAERESZTZF
EBEABERRRR
BEXDRBEUAR
Bz HGERMEE -

BIBAFEZEHNEIRE
MAREEERMBBET
FF G E T DM
AR mz—8 0§
BE2IMEATFELZH
RAEZHE -

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continueq)

3.3 Fair value estimation (continued)

(a) Financial assets (continued)

v)

MESEBERAERALE  CircuTech International Holdings Limited

Valuation processes

The finance department of the Group performs
valuations of non-property items required for financial
reporting purposes, including level 3 fair values. They
report directly to the management. Discussions of
valuation processes and results are held at each
interim and annual reporting date.

The main level 3 inputs used by the Group are derived
and evaluated as follows:

. Discount rates for financial asset is determined
using a capital asset pricing model to calculate
a pre-tax rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the
risk specific to the asset.

o Risk adjustments specific to the counterparties
(including assumptions about credit default rates)
are derived from credit risk gradings determined
by the Group’s internal credit risk management
group.

o Annual revenue growth rate and terminal growth
rate for unlisted equity securities are estimated
based on market information for similar types of
companies.

Changes in level 3 fair values are analysed at the end
of each reporting period during the half-yearly valuation
discussion between the management and the finance
department. As part of this discussion, the finance
department presents a report that explains the reason
for the fair value movements.
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4  EEMEFRFIER

mEMBREACR GG REBER ZF
B ERLVENRERGR -BEEETRTHEAER
P& PR & ST BUR (R H I B o

At RFEEFEFE - HNBERELERK
HEMAZ BFEVEHTERSHYBEER
NRERBERTRRBEE ZRKEMH 2 fhste

(a)

(b)

EERE

FETLURFRTRRFENE ZHME

FEIRURIE] > B 77 B pl A fifUR = o] 3%
E-HZEFFEELCRER 28AHH
PREESVEE T L AlF Sl AR SEE AR
Bl fRifEEEZEAAEM AFE
PR A TR Rl BEE AW Al - U E R 2 S8R
WmEEZREEANSRFEZER E
RET7 & 1) 5 UR [0l B 28 1F HH BB K i o iR 1E
L TE I B By - A EET L (R aiE) B
BEELNREREZ FERIEE -

ME - -BERRBEZGHATERER R
BREEREE

FAEEETEYE BERRFEZESH
ERFEH MFEEREMATEER i
ST ARIRIE LIS B R INE 2 W% ~ BR B &
REZERERAFHZBELRFL -
WA EAFRORNBEGTZER K&
ERErEEENTEER BEREESE
HREHGES A ERFERER  MERR
HREETEHEGHARGEERR EHE
RS GENATE FHANGREESY
REH) > MARIBEZ TSR T ERAM
HIREE o

CRITICAL ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

The preparation of financial statements requires the use of accounting
estimates which, by definition, will seldom equal the actual results.
Management also needs to exercise judgement in applying the Group’s
accounting policies.

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated. They are based
on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of
future events that may have a financial impact on the Group and that are
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

(a)

(b)

Impairment of inventories

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
The cost of inventories is written down to net realisable value when
there is an objective evidence that the cost of inventories may not
be recoverable. The cost of inventories may not be recoverable
if those inventories are aged and damaged, if they have become
wholly or partially obsolete, or if their selling prices have declined.
The cost of inventories may also not be recoverable if the
estimated costs to be incurred to make the sales have increased.
The amount written off to profit or loss is the difference between
the carrying value and net realisable value of the inventories. In
determining whether the inventories can be recoverable, significant
judgement is required. In making this judgement, the Group
evaluates, among other factors, the duration and extent by all
means to which the amount will be recovered.

Estimated useful lives, residual value and impairment of
property, plant and equipment

The Group determines the estimated useful lives, residual values
and related depreciation charges for its property, plant and
equipment. This estimate is based on the historical experience of
the actual useful lives of property, plant and equipment of similar
nature and functions. The Group will increase the depreciation
charge prospectively where useful lives are less than previously
estimated lives. Actual economic lives may differ from estimated
useful lives; actual residual values may differ from estimated
residual values. Periodic review could result in a change in
depreciable lives and residual values and therefore depreciation
expense in the future periods.
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(b)

(c)

()

ME -BERRFEZGHHATEREHR R
BREEKRE (B

FEEERERSAMTAGRESEEM
PRETYE BMERRFHEZIREBHIER
BE-HEEEAAMSSR  FEEG
S BB KRR B 2 PIR Bl 2E - ZEL
ME-BERFREZIRAEBLETKED
SRR BB ) FERTRE RS 1E o P WK el = 3R 1R
ATEALENFTEERERZREE
BEE - EREEARUFECAYE K
EhRREREEZREMNEZHERE

REREHERBLEMSRE-

hEHERAEMEEKEEA
ETHEERTESMIAZA

AFEFEZ
AF{E

WIRERTHEEEZEMIAZAF
ENERAGERMEE AEBBEER
A EERBELHZLFHERERER
i%%ﬁfZﬁ%Zﬁ%Oﬁ%Igﬁﬂ

REBE}HZER FEZHABRME
3.3(a)°
FRiSH
BTSN B AR A E L EARH -

EXFBER XZAAENRE ﬁ?@
REERAE - HAEERBRHAFZHE
FIREE R ARMRB NN > A A5t &P
ENAERESEH WAARREBMERMASR
FISMaEe

fis B 12 JE 28 4 SR AR FE R AR s F) & 7T AR 1
ﬁﬁ?%%%ﬁ%ﬁjmﬁﬁﬁﬁ RllE: S
RAERETHHRERERKRREBSE
BYEIEPRISME E - ETRHIE R G5 T F
By > A B 22 BE R W 5T 2 B I AU SE PR
BREEKRFASNI HNREIERTE -

4 CRITICAL ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

(continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Estimated useful lives, residual value and impairment of
property, plant and equipment (continued)

The Group is required to evaluate at each reporting date whether
there is any indication that the carrying values of property, plant
and equipment may be impaired. If any such indication exists, the
Group should estimate the recoverable amount of the property,
plant and equipment. An impairment loss is recognised for the
excess of the carrying amount of the property, plant and equipment
over their recoverable amounts. The recoverable amount is
determined at the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and
value in use. The value in use is the present value of the cash
flows expected to arise from the continuing use of property, plant
and equipment and cash arising from its disposal at the end of its
useful life.

Estimation of fair value of financial assets at FVOCI and
derivative financial instruments

The fair values of financial instrument that are not traded in an
active market is determined using valuation techniques. The
Group uses its judgement to select a variety of methods and
make assumptions that are mainly based on market conditions
existing at the end of each reporting period. For details of the
key assumptions used and the impact of changes to these
assumptions see Note 3.3(a).

Income taxes

Significant judgement is required in determining the provision for
income taxes. There are transactions and calculations during the
ordinary course of business for which the ultimate tax treatment
is subject to judgement. If the Group considers it is probable that
these judgements will result in different tax positions, the most
likely amounts of the outcome will be estimated and adjustments
to the income tax expense and income tax liabilities will be made
accordingly.

Deferred income tax assets relating to certain deductible temporary
differences and tax losses are recognised when management
considers it is likely that future taxable profits will be available
against which the temporary differences or tax losses can be
utilised. When the expectations are different from the original
estimates, such differences will impact the recognition of deferred
income tax assets and income tax charges in the period in which
such estimates have been changed.
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4 CRITICAL ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

(continued)

(e)

Impairment of interest in an associate

Interest in an associate is reviewed for impairment whenever events
or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount
may not be recoverable. The recoverable amounts have been
determined based on value-in-use calculations or fair value less
costs to sell. These calculations require the use of judgements and
estimates.

Management judgement is required in the area of asset impairment
particularly in assessing: (i) whether an event has occurred that
may indicate that the related asset values may not be recoverable;
(i) whether the carrying value of asset can be supported by its
recoverable amount, being the higher of fair value less costs to sell
and the net present value of future cash flows which are estimated
based upon the continued use of the asset in the business; and (jii)
the appropriate key assumptions to be applied in preparing cash
flow projections including whether these cash flow projections are
discounted using an appropriate rate. Changing the assumptions
selected by management in assessing impairment, including the
discount rates or the growth rate assumptions in the cash flow
projections, could materially affect the net present value used in the
impairment test and as a result affect the Group’s reported financial
condition and results of operations. If there is a significant adverse
change in the projected performance and resulting future cash flow
projections, it may be necessary to take an impairment charge to
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.
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5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

AEBZWALERUWT - The Group derives the following types of revenue:
—EZTHE —E-NEF
2020 2019
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$'000
SHE KD HITE & Sales and distribution of IT products 372,643 332,522
HERRESE Repairs and service support 316 362
HUA Total revenue 372,959 332,884

FEBTERFHERDHITERUASRHIT
EmZEEREMREE -

EFEERRECENBEERERBDZATESR
(TRITEE) WTEZCRERSMERR
RIEHREREZERNEEEE DS -

HTEFENTERESZHEIMETZERD

BB

() HERDHETER '@ Rt HEREHE
BEERGAURDHEE=ZFITER ; &

(i) MERBRBZE: BEFERIMEE HE
B HAN AR5 52 4%

REEFAERTERDBFHEEREED

B o

HE_Z_ZERE-—NE+ZB=+—H
IEFE WESIMBEE KBNS HZ WA
DEREGEEEERRXRERZ AN E -

REBRTERZFHEWA-HEEEZFER
ARRXARDEESRDE > RE S I E S
TPHEERAERRS KRR Z PREERAEIM
o

The Group is principally engaged in the sales and distribution of IT
products, and the provision of repairs and other service support of IT
products.

The chief operating decision-makers have been identified as the
executive directors of the Company (the “Executive Directors”). The
Executive Directors have determined the operating segments based
on the information reviewed by them that are used to make strategic
decisions.

The Executive Directors have identified two reportable segments of the
Group’s business:

(i) Sales and distribution of IT products: designs, manufactures and
markets video surveillance systems and distributes third party IT
products; and

(ii) Repairs and service support: repairs, maintenance and other
service support for electronic products.

No operating segments have been aggregated in arriving at the
reportable segments of the Group.

No sales between segments are carried out during the years ended
31 December 2020 and 2019. The revenue from external parties
is measured in the same way as in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.

Interest income from bank deposits, interest on lease liabilities and
corporate expenses are not allocated to segments, as these types of
activities are driven by the central treasury function, which manages the
cash position of the Group.
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WABRDEHBER @

DMEETEZOFEYME BB KRERH - BURIRMR
REMBERRUKRGFE REAEETBED
BEE-DHEETECFERUERRKEMEN
HoHTBERMRNE-HEEERARERE.
RAEERBRERDEERNZ2RDE > RE
REDBRPAEENN A EEETEE

BE_E_ZFF+_A=+—HLEFERNZ
Hzo®BERWT :

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)

Segment assets consist primarily of property, plant and equipment,
trade and other receivables and inventories. Corporate assets are
excluded from segment assets. Segment liabilities primarily comprise
trade and other payables. They exclude tax payables, lease liabilities and
corporate liabilities. Corporate assets and liabilities are not allocated to
the reportable segments as they are managed on a central basis or at
corporate level.

The segment information for the year ended and as at 31 December
2020 is as follows:

HER HIER
DEEITESR PR 7% 2 & st
Sales and Repairs
distribution of and service
IT products support Total
FET FAET FET
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FEINEER ZWA Revenue from external customers 372,643 316 372,959
N S Timing of revenue recognition
—NE KRR, — At a point in time 372,643 21 372,664
—R—EEE - Over time - 295 295
Pan=ipiavil Segment profit 14,455 60 14,515
IRITERFE WA Interest income from bank deposits 378
FMERZ Interest expenses (46)
e~ TEREMEH Salaries, wages and other benefits (2,630)
RXPEATHEXZ (Hat) Unallocated corporate expenses (Note) (1,978)
KE RN Operating profit 10,239
ERAEEEARZ Share of net profit of an associate
P& — R B A Bl AL A accounted for using the equity
method 726
FRPETS AT R A Profit before income tax 10,965
FRiSTRBE s Income tax expenses (1,968)
2R B E A Profit for the year 8,997
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BE_TZ_TF+_A=+—HLEFERNZ

BzDEERMT : (&

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)

2020 is as follows: (continued)

The segment information for the year ended and as at 31 December

HE_Z_ZE+"F=+—HLEE
For the year ended 31 December 2020

HER HER
DEETER BR#% 2 & E i e
Sales and  Repairs and
distribution of service
IT products support  Unallocated Total
FET F#ET F#ET F#ET
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
SIADHEERBEZE ! Included in the measurement of
segment results and assets:
ME BB R EITE Depreciation of property,
plant and equipment 23 - 2,357 2,380
FRESENE Depreciation of right-of-use assets - - 1,073 1,073
FEEEREE Net provision for inventories 1,478 - - 1,478
WiEEE Write-off of inventories 133 - - 133
MERERE W Research and development
expenditures 1,628 - - 1,628
REERPEE Additions to non-current assets 155 67 1,394 1,616
HER HIER
DEITE R PR 75 18 “ast
Sales and Repairs
distribution of and service
IT products support Total
FAET FET FET
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
AERSHBEE Reportable segment assets 34,060 = 34,060
R—EMEAT z #m Interest in an associate 7,378
TEEMIA Derivative financial instruments 9,917
ZIREIIRITER Restricted bank deposits 31,220
HEMREEEY Cash and cash equivalents 104,695
APERBTEE Unallocated corporate assets 6,998
REMBERRRANZEEE Total assets per consolidated
statement of financial position 194,268
A2RSHEE Reportable segment liabilities 43,795 - 43,795
IR 1B Tax payables 1,754
E AN /NCIR=N Unallocated corporate liabilities 3,468
REMBRRRAZEESE Total liabilities per consolidated
statement of financial position 49,017
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5 WARSHENR @ 5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(continued)
HE_Z—NFT+A=+T—"HLEFERRZ The segment information for the year ended and as at 31 December
HzoHWERWT : 2019 is as follows:
HE & HIER
DEEITE R AR#5 sz % st
Sales and Repairs
distribution of and service
IT products support Total
FET FET FET
HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000
KB FE ZWA Revenue from external customers 332,522 362 332,884
A B SR B Timing of revenue recognition
—RE B - At a point in time 332,522 = 332,522
—R—EEE - Over time - 362 362
I EBEF Segment profit 8,705 56 8,761
IRITERFIEWA Interest income from bank deposits 635
MERZ Interest expense (74)
e TEREMET Salaries, wages and other benefits (2,746)
RXPEATEZ (Hat) Unallocated corporate expenses (Note) (3,822)
KE RN Operating profit 2,754
ERAEEEARZ BN Share of net profit of an associate
— BB E A B A A accounted for using the equity
method 625
FRET 212 A i A Profit before income tax 3,379
FRiStRBE s Income tax expenses (890)
2R E A Profit for the year 2,489
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5 WARDIBER @ 5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)

ﬁx—g—n¢+—ﬁi+—5¢¢§&ma
ZHBERMT : ()

The segment information for the year ended and as at 31 December
2019 is as follows: (continued)

BE_Z-NE+ZRA=+—HBLEE
For the year ended 31 December 2019

HER HER
DEHITE & R#% & bl it
Sales and Repairs and
distribution of service
IT products support Unallocated Total
FET FET FAET FAET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FFADEEEREEZSE ! Included in the measures of segment
results and assets:
ME-BEMRZEBITE Depreciation of property,
plant and equipment 105 - 2,263 2,368
EREEENE Depreciation of right-of-use assets - = 1,349 1,349
FHEERERED Net reversal of provision for inventories (51) = = (51)
MiEFE Write-off of inventories 3 - - 3
MERERZH Research and development
expenditures 1,589 - - 1,589
REERBEE Additions to non-current assets 97 - = 97
HERK K
DEEITE R AR# 2 1% 45t
Sales and Repairs
distribution of and service
IT products support Total
FET FET FAET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’ 000
_Jiiﬁﬁ"llﬁfé Reportable segment assets 33,099 S 33,099
R—EMEAT z #m Interest in an associate 6,741
T/IéEﬁmﬂIE Derivative financial instruments 8,247
ZIRHIRITER Restricted bank deposits 31,220
RERREEHEEY Cash and cash equivalents 63,021
APEERBEE Unallocated corporate assets 8,357
REMBRRRAZEEE Total assets per consolidated
statement of financial position 150,685
AE2RoHasE Reportable segment liabilities 14,867 - 14,867
EIRIE Tax payables - - 180
RAPEREEE Unallocated corporate liabilities 2,273
KEMBERRRAZEEE Total liabilities per consolidated
statement of financial position 17,320

st RNBABRXE—RABMZ MATAS
FERHEMAKDE—RRITEEAR

Note: Unallocated corporate expenses represent general corporate expenses
such as executive salaries and other unallocated general and administrative
expenses.
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WABRDEHBER @

AEBFTEZHEMMNIEE DN REBUNZERFH
REHLZH TRITRAEBRERUEDN
ZREIBERZBRAZERFERBEE (F
BREEREE HNOREAEBEREEMTE
BER D) °

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)

The Group’s business activities are conducted predominantly with
customers which are located in North America, Asia and Europe. The
amount of its revenue from external customers analysed by location
of the Group’s customers and non-current assets other than financial
assets, analysed based on countries in which the Group’s entities
operate, is shown in the table below.

REMBERZIRA FERBEE
Revenue from
external customers Non-current assets
—BEF 2-NF ZEZEHE —E2-NE
2020 2019 2020 2019
FET FErT FHAET FET
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
5% Hong Kong 146,107 74,167 4,566 5,890
EHE United States 113,753 136,437 12 3
far Netherlands 94,118 90,388 35 136
=0 Taiwan 16,551 26,953 85 -
Hth Others 2,430 4,939 - 512
372,959 332,884 4,698 6,541

EEBEEAERBRURES-

BUF S8R 25 = A8 Bl 4 2 52 B AB U A\ 2811 0% 52 T
RIS HH E Fe ) $HITEE dn 7 &6

Management determines that the Group is domiciled in Hong Kong.

The following external customers individually contributed over 10% of the
Group’s total revenue and are attributable to the sales and distribution of

IT products segment:

T F —T—NE

2020 2019

FAET FAET

HK$’000 HK$’'000

ZHA Customer A 75,978 89,764
ZFB Customer B 74,386 *
EZRC Customer C 43,251 43,008
ZFAD Customer D & 46,513

* IEF ARG K EFEPANETE10%Z A °

Representing revenue contributed less than 10% of the total revenue of the
Group during the year.
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5 WAKRSHBEER @

(@ &EH&afE

FEBERRTIERERENZE

.

I

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)

(a) Contract liabilities

contracts with customers:

The Group has recognised the following liabilities related to

BT —E-NEF
2020 2019
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$'000
BREERDHTERZANER Contract liabilities related to sales and
distribution of IT products 24 26

BNERERHAATERRANERR
ERWRENEMNRE- R 2 -FFRT
E-NE+RA=+—H aHEREE
BEREREARRUBE TERRE 5]
EREMEMNRIE s B ERRAS]
BEXRBERES —FREES/UEA -

(b) MENEBRBIBZBA

Contract liabilities represent advanced payments received from
customers for goods that have not yet been delivered to the
customers. As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, the contract
liabilities mainly included the advanced payments received from
individual customers for sales of IT products after the end of
respective reporting period. The contract liabilities are expected to

be recognised as revenue within one year from date of inception of

respective contracts.

(b) Revenue recognised in relation to contract liabilities

—EITR “E-NEF
2020 2019
FAET FET
HK$’000 HK$ 000
W—B—B 28 Balance as at 1 January 26 1,232
RFEERDBEVFTAEGHNEEZ Decrease in contract liabilities as a result of
WABHREHNEaBERD recognising revenue during the year that
was included in the contract liabilities at the
beginning of the year (26) (1,232)
WENFENRIBE RSB EEMN Increase in contract liabilities as a result of
advanced payments received 24 26
R+ZB=+—BZ#&e Balance as at 31 December 24 26
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6 HMIA 6 OTHER INCOME

- Jod <3~ —E-NF

2020 2019

FET FAET

HK$°000 HK$ 000

LW A Rental income 2,400 2,400
TEERMIAEZAFTERR Fair value gain on derivative financial instruments 1,045 706
B AT R AL (A 5E) Government subsidy (Note) 1,029 -
IRITERFIE WA Interest income from bank deposits 378 635
Hi Others 166 119
5,018 3,860

e RBEE_T-_ZTFE+_-_B=+—HLEE"
FAEBEEARINTHREBUNEH ZBEN
BESTHNIMEREI BRI BTES L E
1,029,000 T R _BE_ZE+_F=+—
B AE@ETEAMZFEMZERBITE T

7 BRxX (EEEER) 7

Note: During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group received government
funding support of HK$1,029,000 from the Employment Support Scheme
under the Anti-epidemic Fund launched by the Hong Kong SAR Government.
The Group does not have unfulfilled obligation related to this subsidy as at 31
December 2020.

EXPENSES BY NATURE

St <4 —E-NF
2020 2019
FET FAET
HK$’000 HK$'000
1% 2L EM Bl <& Auditors’ remuneration
—BIZIRTS — Audit services 600 600
—IEB RS — Non-audit services 100 100
FMEEERAE Cost of inventories sold 339,734 308,575
WEER (W15) Depreciation charge (Note 15)
S/ EN Y — Property, plant and equipment 2,380 2,368
—FRAEEESA — Right-of-use-assets included within:
—HE Tt R ERY - Leasehold land and buildings 949 1,200
—_E - Motor vehicles 124 149
BEEHNBX (BEFEEEMS) (A7:28) Employee benefits expenses,
including directors’ emoluments (Note 8) 13,719 13,384
A ERE Short-term leases expenses 287 50
WSS 2~ R R o Written off of property,
plant and equipment 13 -
FEREIRFEE Net foreign exchange loss 478 261
R—EBERE 2w 2 HEEE Impairment loss on interest in an associate 628 603
FEERE GFrEEEEHRER) Net provision/(net reversal of provision) for
(BFIASHE R A) (Hf5#20) inventories (included in cost of sales) (Note 20) 1,478 (51)
WIEFE (H20) Write-off of inventories (Note 20) 133 3
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EERIKX (BIEEEME) 8 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES, INCLUDING

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

—EZTHE —E-NEF

2020 2019

FET FET

HK$’000 HK$’'000

e TERHEMBER Salaries, wages and other benefits 13,019 12,734
BRERA—FRER-RTE Pension costs - defined contribution plans 700 650
13,719 13,384

(a) EBHRE-FREMEREE (a) Pensions - defined contribution plans
FAMESHARBER (T2 —HLF: No forfeited contributions were utilised during the year (2019: Nil).
) o
RERFEROZEBAREIAHR (T No contributions were payable to the pension fund at the year-end
—NE: &\ o (2019: Nil).

(b) HfUMEREZAL (b) Five highest paid individuals
HE_ZEF+“A=1+—HILEFE" Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the Group,
AEBRUMERSZ ATHTE (= none of them (2019: None) was director of the Company whose
Z—NEF UE ARBDESF ZEAT emoluments are included in the disclosure in Note 9 for the year
BRI FOZ IR BN N AFE » B ended 31 December 2020. The emoluments of the five (2019: five)
(CE—NEF: AW ATZBEWT : for the year are as follows:

ZEZEHE —T—-hHF
2020 2019
FET FAET
HK$’000 HK$’000

EAXfrE EEEM HaEh K Basic salaries, housing allowances,
EYEF other allowances and benefits in kind 5,785 5,517
BIRERA—FRERREE Pension costs — defined contribution plans 381 3083
6,166 5,820
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8 EEEHMEZ (BEEFME) 8 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES, INCLUDING

# D|RECTORS, EMOLUMENTS (continued)
(b) HUIMERSZAL (& (b) Five highest paid individuals (continued)
MEsmEWT : The emoluments fell within the following bands:
BT —E-hHF
2020 2019
A# A
No. of No. of
individuals individuals
s E Bx) Emolument bands (in HK$)
2% 1,000,000 7T Nil to HK$1,000,000 2 2
1,000,001 7T £ 1,500,000 75 HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 & &
5 5
FroERAEUMERS 2 A T2 During the year, no emoluments have been paid to the five highest
BIEAMAZE B FEE - paid individuals as an inducement to join or as compensation for

loss of office.
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EEMESMENT

122

HE_T-ZT

=T —=

9 DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

F+HA=+—HLEFE

Directors’ emoluments are disclosed as follows:

For the year ended 31 December 2020

EEmBk
2HRK R
ik o BRTEA BNEH  EHZHF at
Employer’s
contribution
toa
Allowance retirement
Discretionary  and benefits benefit
Fees Salary bonuses in kind scheme Total
FET FET FET FET FET FET
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000
BTEE Executive directors
EINREE (2F) Mr. Hong Sung-Tai (chairman) - 420 - = o 420
REALL Ms. Chen Ching-Hsuan - - . - - -
BERRKE Mr. Han Chun-Wei o - - - - -
S P Mr. Tsai Biing-Hann > - - - - -
FRTES Non-executive director
BRERE Mr. Kao Chao Yang o o - - - -
BIFRTES Independent non-executive directors
BEELE Mr. Yeung Wai Hung Peter 120 - - - - 120
S L Mr. Li Robin Kit Ling 120 - - - - 120
BEALE Mr. Miao Benny Hua-ben 120 - = o o 120
360 420 - - - 780
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9 EFEMEw 9

BE_ZE-NF+_A=+—HLEE

DI RECTORS, EMOLUMENTS (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2019

BImERHR
ZHR BHEE
ik o KB BYEN Rz ER st
Employer's
contribution
toa
Allowance retirement
Discretionary  and benefits benefit
Fees Salary bonuses in kind scheme Total

TE7T TE7T TE7T TE7T TE7T TE7T
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BTES Executive directors
HRREE (ZE) (W) Mr. Hong Sung-Tai (chairman) (Note (j) - 105 105 = = 210
ERYTE (W) Mr. Tsai Biing-Hann (Note (i) = = = = - =
REALT Ms. Chen Ching-Hsuan = = = = = =
BERLE W) Mr. Han Chun-Wei (Note (i) - = = = - =
MEEE L (Hi) Dr. Woo Kwok Fai Louis (Note (i) - 175 - - = 175
BRriE W) Mr. Cheng Michael lchiang (Note (i) - 563 - - = 563
FHTES Non-executive director
BRERE W) Mr. Kao Chao Yang (Note (i) = = = - - -
BIFdTES Independent non-executive directors
BRELE Mr. Yeung Wai Hung Peter 120 - - - - 120
SRELE M. Li Robin Kt Ling 120 4 g - il 120
BERLE Mr. Miao Benny Hua-ben 120 - - - - 120
360 843 105 - - 1,308
Mzt : Notes:

() RIZ—HERA=+—HRATLPITES
(ii) RIZ—NFRB=1t—HEZE
iy MZZE—hERB=+—HEE

BE_SE_TER_FE—NE+-_B=+—H
LFE UREBEREEMME -

LERFATHTESZME D ZERRFRMA
FAEERARDRAEBSEHEZRBEMEL -
KEAMIFHTESTZME D ZERBEUETR
BARHENBARESENREERBMEL -
KM BYFATESTZME D EEMREFLN
FRBEEHNIRERFMEL -

(i) Re-designated as Executive Director on 31 May 2019
(ii) Appointed on 31 May 2019
(iii) Resigned on 31 May 2019

No directors waived any emoluments during the years ended 31
December 2020 and 2019.

The Executive Directors’ emoluments shown above were mainly for
their services in connection with the management of the affairs of the
Company and the Group. The non-executive directors’ emoluments
shown above were mainly for their services as directors of the Company
or its subsidiaries. The independent non-executive directors’ emoluments
shown above were mainly for their services as directors of the Company.
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FAES 7S

10 FINANCE COSTS

—EEHE —E-NEF

2020 2019

FET FET

HK$’000 HK$’'000

HEaBZHE Interest on lease liabilities 46 74
MIE A E) 11 SUBSIDIARIES

REBR T _2F+__B=+—HZEXEMH
BABEINNMT BRIFSBEFIE TRIEERE
BRAEEEERAZEEBRZRAEKRPIFTE
EREREISERAEEFTAEZREE M

The Group’s principal subsidiaries at 31 December 2020 are set out
below. Unless otherwise stated, they have share capital consisting solely
of ordinary shares that are held directly by the Group, and the proportion
of ownership interests held equals the voting rights held by the Group.

BRI MR A H T EE AL The place of incorporation or registration is also their principal place of
business.
S B 33 B R TEEBR Pi¥-3c]
BRLE EANBRRER EIE BERTREAHE HAEZEAEEX
Place of Principal Particulars of
incorporation and activities and issued share Ownership interest
Name of the entity kind of legal entity place of operation capital held by the Group
—BIEF “ZT-NE
2020 2019
% %
GircuTech Investment EBERETEE REER ABEULHEE 1£7 100 100
Holdings (BVI) Limited (EBEREE)) Investment holding, BV US$1
BRAF
British Virgin Islands (‘BVI"),
limited liability company
Signal Communications EBRUBEE BRAS RERR RBELES 15,000,000 75 100 100
Holdings Limited BV, limited liability company  Investment holding, BVI HK$15,000,000
HEERERRAA BB BRAH REER TERZHERDH HER 18T 100 100
CircuTech Investment Limited Hong Kong, limited liability HitR% L E &5 HK$1

HEBEZE () ERAT
CircuTech Enterprises (HK) Limited

company

B BRRAH
Hong Kong, limited liability
company

Investment holdings, sales and
distribution together with repairs
and other service support of IT
products, Hong Kong

TERZHERDH HER 1,000 7T 100 100
BB IR &8 HK$1,000

Sales and distribution together with
repairs and other service support of
IT products, Hong Kong
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5 1A B 3 3t B K
EABRRER
Place of
incorporation and

SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

TEEBR
EEMEY
Principal
activities and

BETRAHE
Particulars of
issued share

&
RAEZEAERER

Ownership interest

Name of the entity kind of legal entity place of operation capital held by the Group
ZZZZE ZT-AF
2020 2019
% %
CircuTech Holdings Alliances T BRRAT TERZHERDH TH 0.01B17T 100 100
(Netherlands) B.V. Netherlands, Limited liability Sales and distribution of IT products, EUR0.01
company Netherlands
CircuTech Inc. 28 BRAT TERZHERDH EE 1,000% 7T 100 100
USA, limited liability company  Sales and distribution of IT products, US$1,000
USA
CircuTech Australia Pty. Ltd. B BRRAR TERZEBRRHEZE EM 1R 100 =
Australia, limited liability Repairs and service support of AUD1
company IT products, Australia
AEERERE (R BRAT  HEHELE TERZEBRERBZE HE 5,000,000 7t 100 100
Circutech Technology Services PRC, wholly-owned foreign Repairs and service support of HK$5,000,000
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd enterprise IT products, PRC
TERBKEERAT EE BRAT BREZEZRZMERBEER 1,000 7T 100 100
Signal Communications Limited Hong Kong, limited liability HERMGEE &8 HK$1,000
company Research and development and
sales and marketing of video
surveillance systems, Hong Kong
R—EBEARZzE= 12 INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE
—E-x —B—NE
2020 2019
FAET FAET
HK$’000 HK$'000
w—B—H As at 1 January 6,741 6,958
fEh—EEE R B EE Share of results of an associate 726 625
AEEE Impairment loss (628) (603)
SNEMBERZZE Effects of foreign exchange translation differences 539 (239)
7,378 6,741
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R—EBMEATZ#TE @

TXHEIAERR T _2F+ "B =+—H
ZEBBMEQRT - TXPAINEBRZRAEHE
ARIEEFAEZ ZRERAEMN o 5% M pl 1L 3 EE M
BERTAEZTEEXME BEMSTAZERE
R bE ) SR A LEPIAE R o

12

INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (continuea)

Set out below is the principal associate of the Group as at 31 December
2020. The entity listed below has share capital consisting solely of
ordinary shares, which are held indirectly by the Company. The country
of incorporation or registration is also its principal place of business, and
the proportion of ownership interest is the same as the proportion of
voting rights held.

EEME FrismEaERS
BiRAE 11 PR 3L B R REEE HERE BEELLA
Place of % of
Name of business/country of  Nature of Measurement ownership interest/
the entity incorporation relationship method voting rights held
—BIEf “ENE
2020 2019
4Square Return GmbH = A =UNS| Wk 21% 21%
Germany Associate Equity method
ZHERDEFE (LHEEEEM BAKET The associate is principally engaged in compliance consulting, the

TE)NREEREH RENHEREHRE K

%&@Hﬁlﬁﬁ‘“ EEBEHRSE LW BmRE

%)ﬂz,\% REEFEESRREFERFRE UK
BBl R R o

W EEGE

RIE—NEXRBOB AEBEILEEH
&% MBI AT UWEE4Square Return GmbH
(T4Square ) BT AZ21%#E@m RE
K1E&%41,600,000Bk 7t (FHE 414,508,000
BIT) ofFALDR AEERINEHHEREE
15()4Squarez21%f& 1 > B 2~ %6,569,00078

TR\ —HRERENELSEE ATELNS
7,939,000t ZBEBREN_E—N\FtAH

awR=ECl

provision of sales and marketing services, collecting and take back
services, asset remarketing services, recycling, commodities aggregation
and trading, certified waste electrical and electronic equipment
disassembly, and metals separation and concentration, in particular,
in the information technology, telecommunications and electronics
industries.

Summary of acquisition

On 4 June 2018, the Group entered into a sale and purchase agreement
to acquire 21% of the issued share capital of 4Square Return GmbH
(“4Square”) from independent parties by cash consideration of
EUR1,600,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$14,508,000). In return,
the Group is entitled to (i) 21% of equity interest in 4Square at a cost
of HK$6,569,000 and (ii) a call option and buy-back option at fair value
of approximately HK$7,939,000 at the date of the acquisition. The
transaction was completed on 19 July 2018.
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R—RBE AT 2R ®
WEEERE (4

REARRSCAEMRITEHRRNRIRERER
EFTERAREE 21T BUWIE4SquareZ FT B
BR TR o 1T AT  A4Square R EEEH E —
T F—RB=+t—HLEFEZREREKSH
BERXEMOPEEEERNEBREZEXH
20 (MREAEER) - HMAEENRRERR
FEHATE M AT M R (TSR BE HA#E > Bl4SquareHE
HMIRERRERERREBEER=EAURN
O A E @A F4SquareIFrBERID  REBA
1,600,0008R 7T « IR IE B B 3R S 2E R F 958
REAELELAEREERERIRATET
BzB—EBaiTEE€mIA-

BB R A B A S B U B B AR (5 4Square
FIHAEEKRBEN QT EFEMNED TSR
ABEE UWFAR-—EBREAT 2R ZRE
EE

RBEE_E_ZFE+_HA=+—HLEEHT
A #9726,00078 70 (ZF— AL £ 625,000 7T)
BPAEEEGEBE QAT ER) o

LTRRABDZHMBRERLAREBULGEERSE G5
EEHBAARARNNEEAME AT EZ-

RIEBE_EFEE+_H=+—H>4Squarezd]
WEIEEEARBESREFERAEBESEL
T2EEGEEETHEBARABET EE
HEMETE ZotEEAUBS A EEEH#
EREMFR (CE2E—NF  =F8H NWHBEE
BAERNRESREEN - MEH (T2 —AN
F =FHUEENRETECEABEEREE2%
(ZZ2—NF 5%) HEHE > MZIBEXTHRE
MERETEERESYH BUEBHBEE AL
EMEEBNTHRRIERE -FEREAN
MATARIREA12.97% (ZB—NF : 14.5%) ©

RIEBE_ZE+_A=+—H18E LT
&> 4SquareZ BREIE (AR AERT) SR ET
WBl£58 - At RERR — BB E AT 2 #
7R 18 23 T 58 7 B R (B B $8628,0008 7t (ZF
—LE : 603,000 %) ©

12

INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (continuea)

Summary of acquisition (continued)

The call option allows the Group to acquire all the remaining shares
of 4Square in the exercise period at an exercise price determined in
accordance with the terms set out in shareholders’ agreement. The
exercise period is from the date that the audited consolidated financial
statements of 4Square for year ending 31 January 2023 are filed in
Germany until the Business Day that falls six months thereafter (“Call
Option Period”). If the Group does not exercise the call option before
the expiry of Call Option Period, the other 4Square existing shareholders
may buy-back all of the shares in the 4Square held by the Group
within three months from the expiry of the Call Option Period for the
consideration of EUR1,600,000. The call option and buy-back option
were treated as a single component derivative financial instrument at fair
value through profit and loss under HKFRS 9.

The excess of the cost of investment over the Group’s share of the net
fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of 4Square at the date
of acquisition was recognised as goodwill and included in the carrying
amount of the interest in the associate.

A profit of approximately HK$726,000 representing the Group’s share of
results of the associate was recorded for the year ended 31 December
2020 (2019: HK$625,000).

The financial statements of the above company is not audited by BDO
Limited or any of its member firms.

At 31 December 2020, the recoverable amount of 4Square was
determined by the directors of the Company based on value-in-use
calculations with reference to a professional valuation performed by
Flagship Appraisals and Consulting Limited. The calculation used cash
flow projection based on the financial budget approved by management
of associate covering a two-year period (2019: three-year period). The
cash flows beyond the two-year period (2019: three-year period) are
extrapolated using a steady growth rate of 2% (2019: 5%), which is
based on the relevant industry growth rate and does not exceed the
average long-term growth rate for the business in which the associates
operate. The pre-tax discount rate adopted in the calculation is 12.97%
(2019: 14.5%).

As at 31 December 2020, the carrying amount of 4Square, before
impairment, is higher than its recoverable amount based on the above
assessment. Accordingly, an impairment loss on goodwill for interests
in an associate of HK$628,000 (2019: HK$603,000) was recognised in
profit or loss during the year.
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12 R—EBEXT 2R @ 12 INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (continued)
BMEATZHBERBE Summarised financial information for an associate

TREINBERD 2 BENMEZ -FIIREZ
BRRBARBE AR ZEGGMBRRMEY!
WEER MRS SERERARASELN

The tables below provide summarised financial information for the
associate. The information disclosed reflects the amounts presented
in the consolidated financial statements of the relevant associate and
BRERE -ZESEETB URMAEEREE not CircuTech International Holdings Limited’s share of those amounts.
AR EANMEZARE SENGTHREE They have been amended to reflect adjustments made by the Group
Fr{EZ1E5T ° when using the equity method, including modifications for differences in
accounting policy.

—EZEHE —E-NEF
2020 2019
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$'000
HERREEEBY Cash and cash equivalents 16,409 7,896
HtRs&EE Other current assets 29,522 29,548
WREMEE Total current assets 45,931 37,444
EREBEE Non-current assets 35,907 36,218
mEAaR Current liabilities (41,815) (37,296)
EmREEIR Non-current liabilities (11,978) (13,665)
BEEFE Net assets 28,045 22,701
BARMEE 2 HER - Reconciliation to carrying amount:
RENZ2EEZE Net assets at beginning of the year 22,701 20,439
KEE & Profit for the year 3,457 2,976
HMEELE Translation differences 1,887 (714)
RERZEEZFE Net assets at end of the year 28,045 22,701
KEBDGZEDL Group’s share in % 21% 21%
KEBDEZBER Group’s share in net assets of associate 5,889 4,767
mE Goodwill 1,487 2,115
MEELR Translation differences 2 (141)
R+-B=+—HZEEE Carrying amount at 31 December 7,378 6,741
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12 R—EBEQRZERE @ 12 INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (continueq)
MEATZHMBEREE (& Summarised financial information for an associate (continued)
BE BH=E
- Jod <3~ —E-NF
+-—BA=+—H +=ZA=+—H
IHEFE IEFE
For the year For the year
ended ended
31 December 31 December
2020 2019
FET FAET
HK$°000 HK$'000
A Revenue 96,052 102,936
T8 Rt 8 Depreciation and amortisation (3,682) (3,593)
FMERZ Interest expense (1,026) (1,093)
RIBREXZ Tax expenses (1,107) (1,388)
KEE @A Profit for the year 3,457 2,976
RIEIZF+ZTA=+—H #EBRHLAE There is no contingent liability in relation to the Group’s interest in an
ER—REBMEAAREHAREE (ZTE—N associate as at 31 December 2020 (2019: Nil).
F ) o
RIZBEZZFE+-B=1+—H HxEELEE As at 31 December 2020, the Group has no share of capital
H—EBMEARZERKE(CE—NE 8 - commitments of an associate (2019: Nil).
13 FAfEMHAX 13 INCOME TAX EXPENSES
mA 2 NBEL A EE Gt ERRGF A E Taxation on profit has been calculated on the estimated assessable profit
BEEMERR MEzERRETE- for the year at the rates of taxation prevailing in the countries/places in
which the Group operates.
BT —T-hEF
2020 2019
FET FAET
HK$’000 HK$’'000
EHRE Current tax
—ARFEERE — Tax for the year 1,968 810
—BEFERBETR — Under provision in respect of prior year - 80
1,968 890
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130

FriEii> @

REEBZE—N\/ —hEEFREERERZH
MERMES HE_SSF+A=+—
ELtEF* *%%U’Emmrﬁ@%%ﬁmm&
16.5% (CE—NE 1 16.5%) st B S BRE
BEFERRIN M) 2 2,000,000 70328.25% (—
T— N4 8.25%) st &R o

~EE E?tﬁﬁmu ) B AN 2 IR BB IR A K S
DR EERERRNEMNBERZERRE16.5%
(== 71& 16.56%) BEMNIEmESRE 58

13 INCOME TAX EXPENSES (continued)

In accordance with the new two-tiered profits tax rates regime with
effect from the year of assessment 2018/19, Hong Kong profits tax
is calculated at 16.5% on the estimated assessable profits for the
year ended 31 December 2020 (2019: 16.5%), except for the first
HK$2,000,000 of the qualified entity’s assessable profit which is
calculated at 8.25% (2019: 8.25%).

The tax on the Group’s profit before tax differs from the theoretical
amount that would arise using the primary tax rate of 16.5% (2019:
16.5%) applicable to assessable profits of the majority of the

W consolidated entities as follows:
—EZEHE —E-NEF
2020 2019
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$'000
FRETSIRATRF] Profit before income tax 10,965 3,379
BEBRE16.5% Tax at the Hong Kong tax rate of 16.5%
(ZZE—NF . 16. 5%) rEZRIE (2019: 16.5%) 1,809 558
UTFEBBZRBEEE ! Tax effects of:
—HBRMRZ A - Income not subject to tax (232) (105)
—ENE2WES (NRRIE) - Associate’s result reported net of tax (120) (103)
—RElREx - Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 743 1,122
—BINRER EEE - Difference in overseas tax rates 485 659
— R RREE - Effect of special tax exemption (165) (165)
—RKER G EERBEE - Tax effect of temporary differences not
recognised - (970)
—RKERNEBEBZRIBELE - Tax effect of tax losses not recognised 394 1,178
— B RAAFARERRIELIE — Utilisation of previously unrecognised tax
losses (946) (1,428)
—BEFERETE — Under provision in respect of prior year - 80
—H - Others - 64
FRiEMBX Income tax expenses 1,968 890
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14 SkEF

14 EARNINGS PER SHARE

EREABHDERABESR A LG BRI Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable
RABBFEZTEINSBER Z INEFTHEE to owners of the Company by the weighted average number of ordinary
g shares outstanding during the financial year:
ZEIEHE —E-hE
2020 2019
FET FET
HK$°000 HK$'000
AHESREABAMFBAZ Profit attributable to the ordinary
KpeElE@EEmEa ARERET equity holders of the Company used in
calculating basic earnings per share 8,997 2,489
SEERERABIKRESESZ Weighted average number of ordinary
EimR TS (FR) shares used as the denominator in
calculating basic earnings per share ("000) 23,434 23,434
KpElE@EEmEAE ARG Basic earnings per share
BRELXRF (FEM attributable to the ordinary equity holders
of the Company (HK cents per share) 38.39 10.62
HRAFELERBTENBERDG  WERE Diluted earnings per share is equal to basic earnings per share as there
BRIENERELRBH (CTE—HAE HR) ° was no potential share outstanding during the year (2019: same).
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15 ME - -BERRFEREAERE

132

15

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND
RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

(a) YME- -BEKRRE (a) Property, plant and equipment
HEME Rt R WAE
£ RE B e st
Leasehold Furniture Office
improvements  and fixtures equipment Machinery Total
FET FET FET FET FET
HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000
HE-Z-NE Year ended 31 December 2019
+ZA=+—-HLEE
FREFE Opening net book value 97 34 106 7,921 8,158
ERESR Exchange differences - - () - ()
RE Additions - - 23 - 23
WEER (Wit7) Depreciation charge (Note 7) 37) (13) (55) (2,263) (2,368)
HE Disposals - = 3) = 3)
EREEFE Closing net book value 60 21 70 5,658 5,809
RZE-NE At 31 December 2019
+ZB=+-H
A Cost 113 172 1,058 11,315 12,658
REtiE Accumulated depreciation (53) (151) (988) (5,657) (6,849)
REVFE Net book value 60 21 70 5,658 5,809
HE-_Z-TE Year ended 31 December 2020
+ZB=+—HLEE
FMREFE Opening net book value 60 21 70 5,658 5,809
ERER Exchange differences - - 5 - 5
RE Additions - 14 208 - 222
WEER (Wit7) Depreciation charge (Note 7) (38) (12) (67) (2,263) (2,380)
34 Written off - - (19) - (19)
FREMFE Closing net book value 22 23 203 3,395 3,643
RZEZEF At 31 December 2020
+ZA=+—H
%N Cost 113 186 1,235 11,315 12,849
RitinE Accumulated depreciation 91) (163) (1,032) (7,920) (9,206)
REZE Net book value 22 23 203 3,395 3,643

AEER-Z_EF+ZHA=+—H
Fr 5 A BRI 48 (E 493,395,000 7t (Z &
— £ : 5,658,0008 7T) 2 1#ds B R
EYRRMBAR BRE—FTHEFXS

A MIEE33(c) ©

The machinery held by the Group with total carrying amount of
approximately HK$3,395,000 as at 31 December 2020 (2019:
HK$5,658,000) was temporarily leased to fellow subsidiaries,
further summary details of which are included in Note 33(c).
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156 ME - -BERREREHREEZE 15 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND

# RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continueq)
(b) FEREEE (b) Right-of-use assets
T RIEF HE et
Land and Motor
FHEEE Right-of-use assets buildings vehicles Total
FET FET FET
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BRMEFE - Net book value:
N_Z—hF—HF—H At 1 January 2019 1,736 277 2,013
wE Additions 74 . 74
WeEER (Wat7) Depreciation charge (Note 7) (1,200) (149) (1,349)
PE 2 = &8 Exchange differences - (6) (6)
RIZZ—h%E At 31 December 2019 and
+=ZB=+—HER 1 January 2020
—E-EF—HF—H 610 122 %382
=1 Additions 1,394 - 1,394
WEER Bat7) Depreciation charge (Note 7) (949) (124) (1,073)
b T A= 5H Exchange differences — 2 2
N_Z"ZF+"H=+—H At 31 December 2020 1,055 - 1,055
ME - BEAREREREEEZR Depreciation expense of HK$3,453,000 (2019: HK$3,717,000) for
E B $3,453,0008 T (ZE—NF: property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets has been
3,717,000 7t) Bt ATTE R © charged in “administrative expenses”.
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16 &R T A (IERE5) 16 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY
AEBFBEUTEMIA The Group holds the following financial instruments:
—EZEHE —E-NEF
2020 2019
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$'000
BE Assets
TEEMI A Derivative financial instruments 9,917 8,247
ZRAEMEEWRREATFENEZ Financial asset at fair value through other
THMEE comprehensive income 1,457 1,511
REER AT EZ EMEE Financial assets at amortised cost
FEE ST R R e L A1 FE WK Trade and other receivables (excluding
(FEEEMRIE) prepayments) 1,527 1,493
ZIREIIRITER Restricted bank deposits 31,220 31,220
RERREEBY Cash and cash equivalents 104,695 63,021
afE Liabilities
BEHEA A EzEMER Financial liabilities at amortised cost
FEAT BR T R EL L FE 19 7R Trade and other payables (excluding other tax
(FEEEMENRE - BIREIER payables, receipts in advance and accrued
fEst iR B EF)) employee benefits) 44,090 13,906
HESRE Lease liabilities 1,097 767
AEEBBRMNEFIMEESMTAERTENSIE The Group’s exposure to various risks associated with the financial
R -NREHAEHRENEAEERRBHOAS instruments is discussed in Note 3. The maximum exposure to credit risk
PR EEREEZIRMEE at the end of the reporting period is the carrying amount of each class of

financial assets mentioned above.
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17

18

TTEEMTIA 17 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
el 3:- 3 —FE-NEF
2020 2019
FET FET
HK$°000 HK$ 000
R —REBE AT R Derivative financial instruments in relation to the
THESMIA (Hat12) interest in an associate (Note 12) 9,917 8,247

() ATEHE

EREEMETIREATEMABZEER
BRzEk F2REMEES.30

(i) HREZARIEZEE

LY EES. 3(a)(iil)
TTEEMTI AT ETEE.

EREMEEmKERATET
BZEMmEE

ERHENEEKNERATEINEZEMEE

18

(i) Fair value measurement

For information about the methods and assumptions used in
determining the fair value of derivatives please refer to Note 3.3.

(i) Amounts recognised in profit or loss

The change in the fair value of derivative financial instruments
during the year is set out in Note 3.3(a)(iii).

The derivative financial instruments are denominated in EUR.

FINANCIAL ASSET AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Financial asset at fair value through other comprehensive
income

ZEIEE —E-hE
2020 2019
FAET FET
HK$’000 HK$'000
JE LM RAE S Unlisted equity security
—RERMTTHREROBRAE — Investment in iMT Co., Ltd 1,457 1,511

ERREAEEZHME2AKEAAREDRAFEE
E53854,000%8 7T (ZE— A5 : & 19,0004
7T) (Ht523.3(a)iii)) °

FERZRBREEAREFTHRERMNAR
NEFEAIDED HANRARAR L EERERE
HEESHEEFEMERSBAEKERMBR
RWMZ AR EIR T AR

HRAEERAZSREARBEE  EER
EfNTHEMEERBEBHMEAWER AT
BolE-

During the year, a fair value loss of HK$54,000 (2019: gain of HK$19,000)
was recognised in other comprehensive income of the Group (Note 3.3(a)

(i)

The Group’s strategic investments is a 9% interest in iMT Co., Ltd. This
company is not accounted for on an equity method as the Group does
not have the power to participate in its operating and financial policies,
evidenced by the lack of any direct or indirect involvement at board level.

The equity investments were irrevocably designated at FVTOCI as the
Group considers these investments to be strategic in nature.
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=% =
19 FE YR ER Fr B H fth FE UL =R 19 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

—EZTHE —E-NEF

2020 2019

FET FET

HK$’000 HK$'000

FE U AR =X Trade receivables 824 992

¥4 <5 K ELAFE UK Deposits and other receivables 703 501

RBMERAINEZ EMEE Financial assets at amortised cost 1,527 1,493

FE{TFRIE Prepayments 1,120 1,062

FE IS BR Fh R EL i FE UL FR 48 %8B Total trade and other receivables 2,647 2,555
KREBABOHEDUREET FNREEE The majority of the Group’s sales are on cash basis. The remaining
HZEERBENTI15E45H - RIEEF amounts are with credit terms generally ranging from 15 to 45 days.
EZE—NAE+ZB=+—H EBWRERXREE At 31 December 2020 and 2019, the ageing analysis of the trade

EHHRZRESTUWT - receivables based on invoice date were as follows:

—EITR “E-NEF

2020 2019

FET FET

HK$’000 HK$'000

1ER A Within 1 month 455 735

2E3MEAH 2 to 3 months 316 255

3EAB UL Over 3 months 53 2

824 992
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19

20

PR LSt Bl R B EL Ath FE UK )
(a) ERMERKER

AR 7 R W B MY ME B FE W RUB 1B B 1%
1 B T (B o

o REBKAE B H RS ERE9
SR A EStETRMEERE AR
WERRE A2 MRRAGEEE -AREW
BRRURER M  BUIRTUS BB BEEE L
RAERRHZEERABRKRIINERRKRZ
ERHRERMIEESA o

MERERERWE LA EMEZRE
LR A B E W@ R AR
FIREE tESR 2 28R

RAFE > BN IR DR RTURE
BENBERR (CE—NE |-

(b) FEWIRARZEMEWRZATE

MR RB ERRBIE AT E > HIREER
RIFRE R FEMEF -

19 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continueq)

(a) Impaired trade receivables

Individual receivables which are considered to be uncollectible are
written off by reducing the carrying amount directly.

In addition, the Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach
to measure expected credit losses which uses a lifetime expected
loss allowance for all trade receivables. Information about the
provision for impairment of trade receivables, movement of
provision for impairment of trade receivables and the Group’s
exposure to credit risk and foreign exchange risk is disclosed in
Note 3.1.

Impairment losses and subsequent recoveries of amounts
previously written off are recognised in consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.

Amounts recognised in profit or loss

During the year, no provision or reversal of provision for impairment
of trade receivables was recognised in the profit or loss (2019: Nil).

(b) Fair value of trade and other receivables

Due to the short-term nature of the current receivables, their
carrying amount is considered to be the same as their fair value.

=8 20 INVENTORIES
—ECTE —E—hFE
2020 2019
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEEEZE & Goods held for resale 32,256 30,849

BHE_Z_ZEE+"A=+—HILEE F
EHFEMA339,734,0008 7w (Z2—H & :
308,575,00078 70) ~ F 5 ##1,478,000% 7T
(Z2E—AF: FEEFERES,00087T) &
5 £ §133,00058 T (ZE— N4 : 3,0008
70) WP USRI A BHER A c R 2B
FE+ZHA=+—8 FE##% 43,878,000 7T
(Z=E—N4 : 2,301,000587T) ©

Cost of inventories sold of HK$339,734,000 (2019: HK$308,575,000),
inventory provision of HK$1,478,000 (2019: reversal of inventory
provision of HK$51,000) and write off of inventories amounted to
HK$133,000 (2019: HK$3,000) were recognised and included in “cost
of sales” during the year ended 31 December 2020. As at 31 December
2020, the provision for inventories amounted to HK$3,878,000 (2019:
HK$2,301,000).
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21 WERREEEY

21 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

—EZEHE “Z—-hF

2020 2019

FET FET

HK$’000 HK$'000

FERE Cash on hand 15 6
R1THRE Cash at bank 104,680 52,965
FEHBIRTTER Short-term bank deposits - 10,050
104,695 63,021

RN _E_EE+_HB=+—H > TELHRET

e

TR IB—NEFEF+ZA=+—H EHIRT

R R A F1.00%E2.76%5 2> /5 H
BELOMEN=ZEAN KIARLRRS

As at 31 December 2020, there was no short-term bank deposits. As at
31 December 2019, the short-term bank deposits bear interest ranging
from 1.90% to 2.76% per annum with maturity date within three months
from origination date, and were therefore included in cash and cash

LEY - equivalents.
22 g7 22 SHARE CAPITAL
R &E [
Number of shares Share capital
ZEZ% —E-NEF - “E-hHF
2020 2019 2020 2019
Fie FR FET FEr
‘000 ‘000 HK$’000 HK$'000
BETRARE Issued and fully paid

R—B—HK+ZHE=+—H At 1 January and 31 December 23,434 23,434 4,687 4,687

138

(a)

(b)

HEk
EERZEER0 0BT - EEFHEA

BANBERKRERZFAFROBE KR
TR DMERABBFBRZFASRIE

KRAB)ZEERRAB R %80,000,0007
7t B ¥5400,000,0000% & 8 % o
g

BRI EERESS ZENER
Fi5E25 ©

(a) Ordinary shares

Ordinary shares have a par value of HK$0.20. They entitle the
holder to participate in dividends, and to share in the proceeds
of winding up the Company in proportion to the number of and
amounts paid on the shares held.

The Company has a limited amount of authorised capital of
HK$80,000,000, comprising 400,000,000 ordinary shares.

(b) Options

Information relating to the 2016 Option Scheme is set out in Note
260
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23 Hith{#E 23 OTHER RESERVES
TRIREBRALEREBEE THMtEE ZBAK The following table shows a breakdown of the statement of financial
ZERERNAEE2EF BHEEZMERD position line item “other reserves” and the movements in these reserves
RIME N TR during the year. A description of the nature and purpose of each reserve

is provided below the table.

BB
2ENE
BATESIE
2EREE
RipEE ERf#E RRRE fifE hy
Financial
asset at
Share  Translation Special FVOCI
premium reserve reserve reserve Total
izt FE1 FE7m FET FEz FET
Note HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$ 000

“Z-hE-F-H At 1 January 2019 183,006 (1,731) 14,990 30 196,295
ZKEEE%%EWM Other comprehensive income for the year
BHEENEBELZERER Exchange differences on translation of
foreign operations - (693) - - (693)
FaHEM2 &mﬁﬁ’&?ﬁﬁ‘ iz Changes in the fair value of equity investments at
4&&& NFEER) fair value through other comprehensive income 78 - - - 19 19
RIB-NE+ZR=+—HK At 31 December 2019 and 1 January 2020
“Zf-fA—H 183,006 (2,424) 14,990 49 195,621
AEEHMEEW R Other comprehensive income for the year
BEBNEBELZERER Exchange differences on translation of
foreign operations - 2,569 - - 2,569
BpHEM2AKGRATETEZ Changes in the fair value of equity investments at
&mhﬁzﬂ EEH fair value through other comprehensive income 18 - - - (54) (54)
FHE-BINEAR Deregistration of a subsidiary - (121) - - (121)
WIE-EE+-ASt-A At 31 December 2020 183,006 24 14,990 6 198,015
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23 Hth{#EH @

24

140

HittfEmZHERAR
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ETEREERERAZRBAT G ZKRE
EERAADETRA FARBEREBZEEM
BZERE

SEBREFE

MEBIZEEBEAMEADELENEREZE
REMPEW D QN 2.6 it
NEBREBERS RFZBENLEREFER
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ZBAMEENRGZHATFESEZEZMEER
&
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BHREENFIOREECEBEEMEZERREA
FEINEZERREZAFERZFE-

23 OTHER RESERVES (continued)

Nature and purpose of other reserves

Special reserve

The special reserve of the Group represents the difference between
the aggregate of the nominal value of share capital of the subsidiaries
acquired pursuant to a group reorganisation in April 2001 and
the nominal value of the share capital issued by the Company as
consideration for the acquisition.

Foreign currency translation reserve

Exchange differences arising on translation of the foreign controlled
entity and associate are recognised in other comprehensive income
as described in Note 2.6 and accumulated in a separate reserve
within equity. The cumulative amount is reclassified to statement of
comprehensive income when the net investment is disposed of.

Financial asset at FVOCI reserve

The fair value reserve comprises the cumulative net change in the fair

value of equity investments designated at FVOCI under HKFRS 9 that are
held at the end of the reporting period.

REtEE 24 ACCUMULATED LOSSES
RETBIEZEHUWT - Movements in accumulated losses were as follows:
—EZTHE “_E-NEF
2020 2019
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHEEER Beginning balance (66,448) (68,889)
BREREBHBREENF165 Initial application of HKFRS 16 - (48)
KNBEB ANEIEEREEHF Profit for the year attributable to owners
of the Company 8,997 2,489
FRAEER Ending balance (57,451) (66,448)
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25

WU B E R TR

RIZB-—ARE+—A+—BRMKZBERES
(TZE—REBEREE)

BRERZF-—R"E+—-—B+—BBBRZRAE
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25 SHARE-BASED PAYMENT

Share Option Scheme adopted on 11 November 2016 (the “2016
Option Scheme”)

Pursuant to a resolution passed on 11 November 2016, the 2016 Option
Scheme was adopted to recognise and motivate the contribution of the
eligible participants and to provide incentives and help the Company in
retaining its existing employees and recruiting additional employees for
a term of ten years. The Board of the Company may at its discretion
grant options to any employees, including Executive and Non-executive
Directors, consultants, advisers, substantial shareholders, distributors,
agents, contractors, suppliers, customers, business partners and service
providers of the Group to subscribe for shares in the Company.

The total number of shares in respect of which options may be granted
under the 2016 Option Scheme is not permitted to exceed 10% of the
shares of the Company in issue at any point in time. The number of
shares issued and to be issued in respect of which options granted
and may be granted to any individual in any one year is not permitted
to exceed 1% of the shares of the Company in issue at any point in
time, without prior approval from the Company’s shareholders. Options
granted to substantial shareholders or independent non-executive
directors in excess of 0.1% of the Company’s share capital or with a
value in excess of HK$5,000,000 must be approved in advance by the
Company’s shareholders.

Option may be granted at a consideration of HK$1 and should be
accepted within seven days from the date of grant. Options may be
exercised at any time during the period as the Board may determine
which shall not exceed ten years from the date of grant. The subscription
price is determined by the Board and shall not be less than the highest
of (i) the closing price of the shares of the Company as stated in the Daily
Quotation Sheet on the date of grant, which must be a trading day; (ii)
the average closing price of the shares of the Company as stated in the
Daily Quotation Sheets for the five trading days immediately preceding
the date of grant; or (iii) the nominal value of the Company’s share.

No share options were granted since the date of adoption of the 2016
Option Scheme.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

26 FE{TERTN B H th FE < Fh 26 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
—EZTHE —E-NEF
2020 2019
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET AR R Trade payables 42,229 11,796
Bz E Deposit received 600 600
HihENIRIE Other tax payables 393 902
HRERREMENL R Accruals and other payables 2,920 3,049
46,142 16,347
HRNEBREPEMTE BRI REMESRZ The carrying amounts of trade and other payables are considered to be
REERRAEEATEER -NHREHAF & the same as their fair values, due to their short-term nature. At the end
JIRFIZEZ[IAZIRER O T ¢ of reporting period, the ageing analysis of the trade payables based on

invoice date were as follows:

—ZEEE —E-NEF

2020 2019

FET FET

HK$’000 HK$’000

BB A Within 1 month 41,805 11,796

2E3EH 2 to 3 months 424 -

42,229 11,796

1=
27 HE 27 LEASES
AEESZEE URBAZEMD) Nature of leasing activities (in the capacity as lessee)

AEBNRERKREmES 2REREETHRER The Group leases a number of properties and vehicles with fixed periodic
NETECHHEENMERARE-SEHEESR rent over the lease terms in the jurisdictions from which it operates.

ERBRZEELR Leases of vehicles comprise only fixed payments over the lease terms.
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27 A& w 27 LEASES (continuea)
HESYN IREE
Lease Carrying
contracts amount
2H FET
—EEF+_"R=+—H 31 December 2020 Number HK$’000
BEMMzYERE Property leases with fixed payments 3 1,097
HESH EREE
Lease Carrying
contracts amount
L g=] FAET
—E—-hE+-HB=+—H 31 December 2019 Number HK$ 000
BEENRZERE Property leases with fixed payments 3 639
AEEE Motor vehicle lease 1 128
EHEEE Right-of-use assets
REMEERNE D2 ERAEEERAED N The analysis of the carrying amount of right-of-use assets by class of
wmF underlying asset is as follows:
- Jat 3~ 3 —E-NE
+=-ZA=+—H +ZA=+—H
31 December 31 December
2020 2019
FAET FAET
HK$’000 HK$'000
BREEYE  RITERAIIE Properties leased for own use,
carried at depreciated cost 1,055 610
A RITER AT E Motor vehicles, carried at depreciated cost - 122
1,055 732
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27 HE »

27 LEASES (continued)

HEaE Lease liabilities
THIRIETF HE st
Land and Motor
buildings vehicles Total
FET FET FAET
—EZEHF+-"A=+—H 31 December 2020 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000
RE Additions 1,394 - 1,394
FERE Interest expenses 42 4 46
EEN Lease payments 980 134 1,114
BE 2 = &8 Exchange differences 2 2 4
T R BT AE st
Land and Motor
buildings vehicles Total
FAET FAET FET
“E-hE+-HA=+—H 31 December 2019 HK$’000 HK$’'000 HK$ 000
NE Additions 74 - 74
FERX Interest expenses 63 11 74
HEMR Lease payments 1,276 161 1,437
BE 7 A= %8 Exchange differences 1 (6) (5)
ARBEMNTNIBBERAOT : Future lease payments are due as follows:
RIEEEA™ e RE
Minimum
lease Present
payments Interest value
—EZE —EZF —EEE
+-B=+—H +=ZB=+—H +=ZH=+—H
31 December 31 December 31 December
2020 2020 2020
FAET FHET FHET
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000
—&R Not later than one year 760 39 721
—FRERFBBARE Later than one year and
not later than two years 382 6 376
1,142 45 1,097
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27 HE »

HE&E (&

SOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

27 LEASES (continued)

Lease liabilities (continued)

REEENR B RE
Minimum
lease Present
payments Interest value
—E-nEF —ZE—hnF —ZE—nF
+=—B=+—H8B +ZB=+—H +IZBA=+—4H
31 December 31 December 31 December
2019 2019 2019
FET FET FET
HK$’'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
—FR Not later than one year 772 14 758
—FREFNBBAME Later than one year and
not later than two years 9 - 9
781 14 767
-S> - 3 —F-NEF
2020 2019
FET FAET
HK$’000 HK$’000
MENBE Current liabilities 721 758
ERBEE Non-current liabilities 376 9
1,097 767
=g 3= 3 2%
2020 2019
FET FAET
HK$’000 HK$ 000
BREABEZHEMEN : Other information in relation to leases:
DHATAER Short term lease expenses 287 50
RELIRFEHATE BEARIE 4R %E Aggregate undiscounted commitments
for short term leases 86 31

AREERERNZE—

TR B MIEE31 o
Note 31.
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28 IRIMEFFISHR 28 DEFERRED INCOME TAX
BERMBEERELERBEE Rt kB —1K The analysis of deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities, without
BE e 2 ARRIEH) 2omuT taking into consideration the offsetting of balances within the same tax

jurisdiction, is as follows:

—EEHE —E-NEF

2020 2019

FET FET

HK$’000 HK$'000

FRIEIRIBE &= Deferred tax assets 181 406

RIERIBE B Deferred tax liabilities (181) (406)

BEFR TE R B Deferred tax, net = -

28.1 IRERIBEE 28.1 Deferred tax assets

EREENTSERG G AESE ! The balance comprises temporary differences attributable to:

ZECTHE —ET—-hEF

2020 2019

FET FET

HK$’000 HK$'000

RIBEE Tax losses 181 406
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28 RIEFRIEMR @ 28 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (continued)
281 EEREEE (& 28.1 Deferred tax assets (continued)
Z5 Movements
RIERS1E
Tax losses
FAET
HK$'000
RZIE2E—NF+IZA=+—H At 31 December 2018 1,056
e iRl Charged to profit or loss (650)
RIZ2—hHF+ZA=+—H At 31 December 2019 406
R8N kF Charged to profit or loss (225)
R_E_EH+”°"H=+—H At 31 December 2020 181
28.2 IRERIBAE 28.2 Deferred tax liabilities
EHROEUTSEEG ERMEEL . The balance comprises temporary differences attributable to:
—EEH —ZT-NF
2020 2019
FET FAET
HK$’000 HK$ 000
MR IBITE Accelerated tax depreciation 181 406
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28 IRIEFRIEIR @

148

28.2 IRERIBBEE (&

25

28 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (continueq)

28.2 Deferred tax liabilities (continued)

Movements

28.3 MIAKSIE

IERRIEFE
Accelerated
tax
depreciation
FET
HK$'000
RZE2E—NF+IZHA=+—H At 31 December 2018 1,056
T AE@ Credited to profit or loss (650)
RIZZ2—hhE+ZHA=+—H At 31 December 2019 406
T AB I Credited to profit or loss (225)
R-_E_EH+”"HA=+—H At 31 December 2020 181
28.3 Tax losses
—ECTE —E2—hHF
2020 2019
FET FAET
HK$’000 HK$'000
RERIEIERIBEE Y Unused tax losses for which no deferred tax
REBMIERE asset has been recognised 42,604 43,208
BAERBEREEMEIERNZ Potential tax benefit at domestic tax rate for
MEAEZBERBEMN = which the Group's entities operate 7,053 7,401
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IEMEFRISIR @ 28 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (continued)
28.3 TRIERSIE (&) 28.3 Tax losses (continued)
FEBARIERBBILRAER TR RER The unused tax losses were incurred by the Group companies that
BELEFRVBNAZEAERRRAEE -H are not likely to generate taxable income in the foreseeable future.
ERRRESEBZENRMMERME See Note 28.1 for information about recognised tax losses and
H2ZE AP E B M 5281 R M 5E4(d) o 1 Note 4(d) for significant judgements made in relation to income tax.
TECEFF+A=+—B XBARE As at 31 December 2020, the unused tax losses are as follows:
BB -
2020 2019
FET FAET
HK$°000 HK$'000
KU EMEIER - Expiry date in:
B —F 2021 - 338
= — 2022 - 280
:g: =% 2023 - 219
“Z2TF 2024 - 273
“EZhaF 2025 - 270
_v_/\ﬂE 2026 133 126
= 2027 730 2,281
_7_/\35 2028 1,242 1,172
“ETAHE 2029 1,524 1,438
TE=FF 2030 771 -
MmEIHA R No expiry date 38,204 36,811
42,604 43,208
Bk bt o > i £ A 58 EL th B 370 )8 B B 2= Other than above, no other deductible temporary differences have
RH o been recognised.
29 IR 29 DIVIDENDS
EEEABRKNEE _S_SE+_HA=+— The Board does not recommend the payment of a dividend for the year
HIEFEZRE CE—NAF:H) o ended 31 December 2020 (2019: Nil).
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REREEN

REEBEL (A ZHE

30 CASH FLOW INFORMATION

Cash generated from/(used in) operations

—EEE —Z-NE
2020 2019
FET FAET
HK$’000 HK$’000
bR PRS0 A& F Profit before income tax 10,965 3,379
MTFIEEEHAEE Adjustments for:
ME -BEAXBZINE Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 2,380 2,368
FREEEZINE Depreciation of right-of-use assets 1,073 1,349
FUEEEE CFrEEEERR) Net provision/(net reversal of provision)
for inventories 1,478 (51)
WiEHTFE Write off of inventories 133 3
R I0%:N Finance costs 46 74
MESMITAZAFEENKSA Fair value gain on derivative
financial instruments (1,045) (706)
R—EBER B 2R 2 BERE Impairment loss on interest in an associate 628 603
IRITFERF B WA Interest income from bank deposits (378) (635)
HiE—EN B AR ZEE Loss on deregistration of a subsidiary 473 =
W BB K& Written off of property,
plant and equipment 13 =
AR EARZEMS Share of net profit of an associate accounted
— R R B A for using the equity method (726) (625)
PE RS 1R/3%E Exchange losses, net 890 -
EEESEHFCKERSRE Operating cash flows before
working capital changes 15,930 5,759
REBEERABZEE Change in operating assets and liabilities
FZE®N Increase in inventories (3,018) (18,474)
e Uit BR R R EL B Wk (38 00) b (Increase)/decrease in trade and
other receivables 88 5,045
& 1 BR R e L 0 FE {3 R4 0 Increase in trade and other payables 29,795 2,344
sSHaRERD Decrease in contract liabilities 2) (1,206)
KEEBESY FTR) 2RE Cash generated from/(used in) operations 42,793 (6,532)

RGERERERN HEVE - BRERRKEZ In the consolidated statement of cash flows, proceeds from sale of
Frig I8 a8 iE property, plant and equipment comprise:
—EEE —Z2—NF
2020 2019
FHET FAET
HK$’000 HK$’000
EREEE (HE15(a) Net book amount (Note 15(a)) 13 3
WEEY = BB A& (BHaE7) Written off of property,
plant and equipment (Note 7) (13) -
HEY X BEREREZFRERE Proceeds from sale of property,
plant and equipment - 3
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RERBRMEE

31 NOTES SUPPORTING CASH FLOW

STATEMENT
MEXBEEZ2BBHER: Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities:
HEaE
Lease
liabilities
Hiato7
Note 27
FET
HK$ 000
R-ZZE—h&—HF—H At 1 January 2019 2,061
REREEH . Changes from cash flow:
BEREaEZAEHD Repayment of principal portion of the lease liabilities (1,363)
EEREaGZHNEIY Repayment of interest portion of the lease liabilities (74)
MERETNESEBNEE . Total changes from financing cash flows: (1,437)
PE R HEE . Exchange adjustments: 5)
Hfh e Other changes:
hE Additions 74
HEF S Lease interests 74
H{th & B 48 %8 Total other changes 148
R-BE—hE+-"A=+—8Bx% At 31 December 2019 and 1 January 2020
“E"2H—HF—H 767
WREmEEs) . Changes from cash flow:
BERSEaEZAEHD Repayment of principal portion of the lease liabilities (1,068)
EBEREaEZFERD Repayment of interest portion of the lease liabilities (46)
MERENESEBNEE . Total changes from financing cash flows: (1,114)
bE R EEE . Exchange adjustments: 4
H fh&Ae) : Other changes:
AE Additions 1,394
HEF S Lease interests 46
Hith B g5 Total other changes 1,440
R_EZEF+"HF=+—H At 31 December 2020 1,097
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32

33

152

ZRFERITER 32 RESTRICTED BANK DEPOSITS
—EZEHE “Z—-hF
2020 2019
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$'000
ZIREIIRITER Restricted bank deposits 31,220 31,220

RIE_EE+_A=Z+—H ®MEFE
E®RITRES,000,000E T (BER
#4762,440,0008 70) IR ZRITERALY
4,000,000% 7t (HHE 7 431,220,000 7t) (=
B—AF A - AEEBRBEEZSZHE
+ZA=+—HILEMBREERRIETRENUR
AEBZIEHEFEHERESHE 2R
RITHEREIETATHHER 230,940,000 7T
(Z=E—A% 30,600, ooo%ﬁ) 7&%1 B

As at 31 December 2020, a bank deposit of approximately
US$4,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$31,220,000) (2019:
same) was pledged for bank facility amounting to US$8,000,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$62,440,000) granted to the Group. Such
bank facility was drawn by the Group to issue a standby letter of credit
to the key supplier of the Group in the financial year ended 31 December
2020. Included in restricted bank balance is HK$30,940,000 (2019:
HK$30,600,000) placed as fixed deposit at an interest rate of 0.2% per
annum (2019: 1.9% per annum) with maturity in March 2021 (2019:

02% (ZE—NEF 8F1.9%) NIEZ—%F January 2020).
=B (CE—AF . ZZ2ZZFF—A) 2.
REEZZZEF+ZA=1+—HLEE & The Group has complied with the financial covenants of its banking
EECEETHRTREZMELZYS (ZTE—AN facilities during the year ended 31 December 2020 (2019: same).
F MR
FEALTRS 33 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(a) B2AH (a) Parent entities
REBRUTERES : The Group is controlled by the following entities:
EEATBEET
BE GEERZ 1% =
RERETHE 513 BB (8 49)
Percentage of
the issued share
Number of capital of
Name of shares held/ the Company
Shareholders Capacity interested (approximate)
Foxconn (Far East) Limited BEZERAR 11,853,524 50.58%
Immediate holding company
BEEETLERMDERRE BRI AT 11,853,524 50.58%

Hon Hai Precision Industry Co., Ltd.

Mt . Foxconn (Far East) Limited 2R /81E%3 T
ERNERABD Z2EMBAR

Ultimate holding company

Note: Foxconn (Far East) Limited is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Hon Hai
Precision Industry Co., Ltd.
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33 FAEALTRSZ @

33 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continueq)

(b) FEEBEABZHE (b) Key management personnel compensation
FTEEEBEEES (T FERTRE Key management comprises directors (executive, non-executive
TIERIT) o MEFENHAECSETEEE and independent non-executive). The compensation paid or
BZz@ENRNT payable to key management for directors is shown below:

2020 2019
FET FET
HK$°000 HK$ 000
e RAMEHAEERN Salaries and other short-term
employee benefits 780 1,308
(c) HEAEALETZRS (c) Transactions with related parties
BAREANTETZRZ0T ! The following transactions occurred with related parties:
SR “E-hHF
2020 2019
FAET FET
HK$’000 HK$'000
BEEEEFEHZHE Sales to Hon Hai Group 21 —
MMAZEBRRMNERE Operating lease charges paid to fellow
TR EHEER subsidiaries in respect of an office 292 528
M EAEWARIBSE Operating lease charges received
WEN AR S E & from Hon Hai in respect of
machineries rental income 2,400 2,400

ERZ BB ZE S ER 2 BRET -

(d) RITHE

RNZEZEF+-_A=+—H Ft&£E&
ERm—2EEREHNEREASEN
$R17B1E8,000,000E T (ZBE— N :
8,000,000%7T) AR K EK BA
FRMEMNATER(CE—NE  BR) 1E
L o

(d)

The above transactions were conducted at negotiated prices
between transacting parties.

Banking facility
As at 31 December 2020, the bank facility of the Group in relation
to a standby letter of credit to a vendor of US$8,000,000 (2019:

US$8,000,000) were supported by corporate guarantees given by
the Company and its subsidiaries (2019: same).
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34 FATIZHBRARKRHEE 34 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND
5| RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY

ERAFRZHBRAR Statement of financial position of the Company
W+ZBA=+—H
As at 31 December
—EZEHE —ZT-NEF
2020 2019
FHET FET
HK$’000 HK$'000
BE Assets
ERBEE Non-current assets
RHEBABZKRE Investment in subsidiaries 10 10
N ENGIE e Amounts due from subsidiaries 116,026 119,711
______________________________ 116,036 119,721
TEEE Current assets
AN RIERZE Prepayments and deposits 382 382
HWERREEEBY Cash and cash equivalents 136 112
_______________________________ 518 494
WmEE Total assets 116,554 120,215
i Equity
ERBEE AELER Equity attributable to owners
of the Company
B A Share capital 4,687 4,687
AR =B Share premium 183,006 183,006
ES k! Accumulated losses (71,743) (68,571)
Y Total equity 115,950 119,122
=R Liabilities
Gk =N} Current liabilities
FHEEHR Accruals 604 1,093
wEmREE Total equity and liabilities 116,554 120,215
KRB ZHBFRRARKEFTEN _E_—F= The statement of financial position of the Company was approved by the
AZ+HBEZETHTIIEEAREEGEE Board of Directors on 25 March 2021 and was signed on its behalf
HIRREE BEREE
Mr. Hong Sung-Tai Mr. Han Chun-Wei
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34 AT ZHBERARR#HEE 34 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND

E e RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY
(continued)
ERBZHEHEE Reserve movement of the Company
& E REtEsia st
Share Accumulated
premium losses Total
FHET FHET FHET
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
RZE—h&H—EF—H At 1 January 2019 183,006 (64,050) 118,956
KEEEE Loss for the year = (4,521) (4,521)
RIZE2—hEF+ZHA=+—H At 31 December 2019 183,006 (68,571) 114,435
RWZE-ZHF—HF—H At 1 January 2020 183,006 (68,571) 114,435
KEEEE Loss for the year = (3,172) (3,172)
RZIZEZEHE+-"H=+—8 At 31 December 2020 183,006 (71,743) 111,263
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FINANCIAL. SUMMARY

£ RESULTS
HE
+—HA
=+—HiIt
~ME A
For the
Six months HE+-BA=1+—BHLEE
ended 31
December For the Year ended 31 December
IE-RF IE2—tF ZIZ-N\F ZEZE-AFE ZTIEHE
2016 2017 2018 2019 2020
FAET FET FAET FAET FAET
HK$’'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
WA Revenue 9,530 98,966 299,109 332,884 372,959
PR ATEA . (B518) Profit/(Loss) before income tax (7,535) (12,892) (18,772) 3,379 10,965
FTi8MB< Income tax expenses - (322) (834) (890) (1,968)
KEE /HBER, (Fi8) Profit/(Loss) for the year/period (7,535) (13,214) (14,606) 2,489 8,997
HTIWATEGEREE Profit/(Loss) for the year/period
HAEEH S (B518) - attributable to:
—XRBEEA - Owners of the Company (7,517) (13,210) (14,601) 2,489 8,997
—JEER - Non-controlling interests (18) (4) (5) - -
(7,535)  (13,214)  (14,606) 2,489 8,097
BERAR ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
“+ZHA=+—H
As at 31 December
TE-RE T2t ZZB—N\F ZE-NEFE ZTEHF
2016 2017 2018 2019 2020
FET FET FET FET FHET
HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$’000
MEE Total assets 65,862 218,188 147,912 150,685 194,268
e E Total liabilities (2,994)  (70,047)  (16,310)  (17,320)  (49,017)
62,868 148,141 131,602 133,365 145,251
BT ALTEEZEARRFE : Capital and reserves
attributable to:
—XREEEA — Owners of the Company 63,330 148,645 132,093 133,860 145,251
—JEERER — Non-controlling interests (462) (504) (491) (495) -
62,868 148,141 131,602 133,365 145,251
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